Introduction

Leon Silverman

The Constitution provides that the Supreme
Court is an equal partner in government, part of a
triad made up of the executive, the legislature, and
the judiciary. The Constitution does not say that
the judicial power of the United States shall be
lodged in the Court only in peacetime, yet we
know that during war, the normal relations
among the branches can often be subjected to
great strain. This accounts for the old axiom
that inter arma silent leges—during war the law
is silent.

During the Civil War and World War I the
courts mainly delayed ruling on critical issues
until after the fighting had stopped. But as the
articles in this issue so clearly show, this was
definitely not the case during the Second World
War. Itis true, however, that some questions were
deferred, questions dealing primarily with eco-
nomic issues such as price controls and govern-
ment regulation of industry.

Although the reasons for this refusal to put
off the hard cases until war’s end are speculative,
it has been theorized that the Court was deter-
mined to make manifest the difference between
the tyrannous regimes of the Axis powers and the
democratic safeguards of our own legal system.
The Court clearly also felt compelled to enlist in

the fight by giving constitutional sanction to the
measures Congress and the President adopted to
ensure military victory.

However, the Court’s decisions in the Japa-
nese relocation cases do raise questions as to the
desirability of deciding inflammatory issues dur-
ing a war of national survival. These opinions are
astainon the Court’s record on humanrights. But
in general the Court’s war record is one to which
its members could point with pride. Moreover, the
nation could congratulate itself that its demo-
cratic underpinnings had grown strong enough
forits leaders to choose to abide by the rule of law,
even at a time when war had made much of the
world lawless.

Articles such as these may and should ques-
tion some of the actions and decisions of the
Court and its members, but in doing so they also
show how well the Courtupheld its constitutional
obligations during a very difficult time. Itis a
lesson that we as citizens of a democracy should
alwaysremember.

Please note that with this issue the Journal
becomes a semi-annual publication. The articles
in this single-subject volume are adapted from a
lecture series on World War II that the Society
sponsored at the Supreme Court during 1995.



The Court at War, and
the War at the Court

Melvin I. Urofsky

Oliver Wendell Holmes, Jr., once commented
about the alleged calmness of life on the Supreme
Court: “We are very quiet there, but it is the quiet
of a storm centre.”! Had Holmes been on the
Court during World War II, he might well have
reconsidered his well-known aphorism. There
was indeed a great storm blowing not only out-
side the Court but around the world in the form
of the most destructive war ever fought in hu-
man history. Such turmoil could hardly leave
the Supreme Court unscathed, and the Court af-
fected and was in turn affected by that great
storm.

Moreover, the Court could hardly be consid-
ered a calm refuge as personal feuds and jealou-
sies poisoned the well of collegiality. If the storm
that blew within these walls lacked violence and
bloodshed, it nonetheless made the Court a sort
of battleground. Thus the title of this article,
“The Court at War, and the War at the Court.”

The day after Pearl Harbor Felix Frankfurter
told his law clerk, Philip Elman, “Everything
has changed and I am going to war”? It was a
sentiment the other Justices shared; some wanted
to resign from the Court in order to provide
greater service to their country. Robert H. Jack-

son later recalled that while there were “occa-
sional cases of importance involving the war
power,” such cases were “peaks of interest in a
rather dreary sea of briefs and arguments, many
of which seemed to have little relationship to the
realities of what was going on about us.” In the
end, however, only James F. Byrnes, Jr., stepped
down to assume a key role in the Roosevelt ad-
ministration. Byrnes felt isolated from the great
events happening around him. The Court’s slow
and deliberative pace frustrated him, and he de-
clared that “I don’t think I can stand the abstrac-
tions of jurisprudence at a time like this.” When
Roosevelt intimated that he needed Byrnes off
the Bench, the South Carolinian jumped at the
chance. William O. Douglas, Frank Murphy,
and Robert H. Jackson also yearned to go back
to the executive branch, but Roosevelt, although
sorely tempted at times to take them, had gone
through too much effort to get them on the Court.*
Furthermore, if any wartime measures actually
came before the judiciary, the President wanted
to have men in sympathy with his programs hear-
ing those cases.

This did not, of course, mean that the Court
and the Justices played no role in wartime af-
fairs. Sometimes the Court received a specific
war-related request from the administration, such
as one to change the rules of admiralty to allow
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admiralty courts to impound documents that
might be of aid to the enemy and to conduct hear-
ings in secret.’” The Court also had to decide
critical issues that affected both the conduct of
the war as well as domestic matters. The old
Latin phrase—inter arma silent leges—during
war law is silent, does not really apply to this
war. While the Court has been criticized for its
decisions in the Japanese-American relocation
cases, in many areas the Court continued devel-
opments in the protection of civil rights and civil
liberties begun earlier, and in the accompanying
articles that record is examined.

The Court is, of course, both an institution
as well as a collection of individuals, and the
men who sat on this Bench at that time wanted
to do all they could to assist their nation in a

time of travail. Even before Pearl Harbor, Dou-
glas, Murphy, Jackson, and Frankfurter helped
out in many ways, from drafting speeches and
legislation to suggesting names for key roles.
When the President had to replace the isolation-
ist Harry Woodring as Secretary of War in 1940,
it had been Frankfurter who arranged matters to
bring Henry L. Stimson back to the War De-
partment. Frankfurter also helped draft the
Lend-Lease Act, made key recommendations on
industrial policy, and would later advise the ad-
ministration on its plans to try the captured Nazi
saboteurs.®

Frank Murphy especially wanted to leave the
Bench, and in the year after he took his seat made
it quite clear to Roosevelt that he would gladly
resign to take up a more active wartime role.

HE'S A RESTLESS BOY. f |

! GENERAL . HE'S WILLING BUT
IT'S HARD TO MAKE HIM STAY
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Having served as governor of Michigan, governor-general of the Philippines, and Attorney General, Justice Frank
Murphy was frustrated by the remoteness of the Bench and eager to get involved in active service after Pearl Harbor
roused his sense of patriotism. Army Chief of Staff George C. Marshall suggested that the Justice be commissioned a
lieutenant colonel in the infantry and placed on duty in an inactive status during Court recess. Contrary to the light-
hearted tone of this cartoon, Chief Justice Stone, who read about Murphy taking on this extra assignment in the newspa-

per, was furious about the commission.
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Frankfurter wanted Murphy off the Court, and
evidently with Roosevelt’s blessing offered
Murphy other positions, including the ambassa-
dorship to Mexico. Murphy would not bite, and
said he would resign only for the War Depart-
ment; but Henry L. Stimson had that position,
and the President was not about to get rid of the
highly respected Republican. Roosevelt did of-
fer Murphy his old post as governor-general of
the Philippines, with the hint that he would even-
tually be Stimson’s successor, but the Justice
showed no interest.” When the President wanted
to extend aid to the Soviet Union and feared that

American Catholics would react negatively,
the administration asked the Catholic Murphy
if he would present the case for aid at the annual
convention of the Knights of Columbus. Murphy
did so, and, according to his biographer, made
a most effective presentation of the admin-
istration’s case.

Following Pearl Harbor, Murphy grew even
more restless, and tried unsuccessfully to secure
a commission in the army. But legislation pro-
hibited him from going on active status unless
he resigned from the Court. Army Chief of Staff
George C. Marshall, probably to get Murphy off
his back, suggested that the Justice be commis-
sioned a lieutenant colonel in the infantry and
placed on duty in an inactive status during Court
recess. Moreover, Marshall advised Murphy he
could begin his training by attending officers’
school at Fort Benning, Georgia. Two days af-
ter Court recessed on June 8, 1942, Frank
Murphy accepted a commission as lieutenant
colonel.

Popular approval greeted Murphy’s histri-
onic gesture, but Chief Justice Harlan Fiske
Stone was furious. When Congressman
Emmanuel Celler of New York wrote to Stone
questioning whether Murphy could be both a
Justice and a member of the armed forces, the
Chief Justice had to admit that Murphy had not
discussed the matter with him, and in fact his
first knowledge of what Murphy had done came
to him in the newspapers.’

Stone could not very well stop his “wild
horses,” as he called them, from yearning for a
more active role; after all, with a nation at war
and patriotism running so high, he could hardly
tell them they were wrong. But he firmly be-
lieved that the Justices had a job to do on the
Bench, and that the doctrine of separation of

powers ought to be as rigidly enforced in war-
time as in peace. He fumed quietly when Owen
J. Roberts accepted a presidential commission
to head the investigation into what had gone
wrong at Pearl Harbor,'® but when Roosevelt
asked Stone himself to head an investigation of
the rubber situation, the Chief Justice firmly de-
clined. “Personal and patriotic considerations
alike afford powerful incentives for my wish to
comply with your request,” Stone wrote to the
President, but “I cannot rightly yield to my de-
sire to render for you a service which as a pri-
vate citizen I should not only feel bound to do
but one which I should undertake with great zeal
and enthusiasm.”" When Congress proposed a
War Ballot Commission to be chaired by the
Chief Justice, Stone objected that it was an im-
proper role for a Justice to administer the law,
an executive function; in deference to his wishes,
Congress altered the statute to lodge the respon-
sibility elsewhere.!?

The wisdom of Stone’s decision would be-
come clearer a few years later when Robert H.
Jackson accepted Harry S Truman’s invitation
to be chief American prosecutor at the
Nuremberg war crimes trial. A generation after
that many people also believed Earl Warren and
the Court would have been better off if the Chief
Justice had not headed the commission investi-
gating John F. Kennedy’s assassination.

Following the constitutional revolution of
1937, it should hardly be surprising that the
Court would defer to the political branches re-
garding wartime economic policies, and that
matter is covered in the article by my colleague
Jim Ely. Civil liberties, however, raised differ-
ent problems. Mary L. Dudziak discusses those
cases more fully in her article, but I would like
to look at one issue in particular, because I think
it shows how the war affected the Justices’ emo-
tions about some matters.

The members of the wartime Court all re-
membered quite vividly the excesses of the Wil-
son Administration during World War I and
some, such as Frank Murphy and Robert H. Jack-
son had, in their terms as Attorneys General,
taken steps to make sure that such practices
would not be repeated should the United States
enter this conflict.”> Nonetheless, the Justices
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still recognized the need for the government to
protect itself.

Under this rationale, the Justice Department
sought to revoke the citizenship of naturalized
citizens of German and Italian origin who ei-
ther displayed disloyal behavior or who had se-
cured their citizenship illegally or under false
pretenses. Within a year after American entry
into the war, the government had initiated over
2,000 investigations and had secured the denatu-
ralization of forty-two people. The case testing
this campaign, however, did not involve a Nazi
or a Fascist sympathizer, but a Communist, Wil-
liam Schneiderman.

Born in Russia in 1905, Schneiderman had
come with his parents to the United States in
1908; he applied for citizenship in 1927, and by
then had already joined several Communist
groups. In 1932, he ran for governor of Minne-
sota as the Communist Party candidate. In 1939,
the government moved to strip Schneiderman of
his citizenship, on the grounds that his Commu-
nist activities in the five years prior to the natu-
ralization process showed that he had not been
truly “attached” to the principles of the United
States Constitution. Schneiderman, in turn, ar-
gued that he did not believe in using force or
violence and that, in fact, he had been a good
citizen; he had never been arrested and had used
his rights as a citizen to advocate change and
greater social justice.

Schneiderman’s case came before the Court
in early 1942, by which time the United States
had entered the war and had publicly acknowl-
edged the Soviet Union as an ally. Wendell L.
Willkie, the Republican candidate for President
in 1940, represented Schneiderman and elo-
quently pleaded with the Court not to establish a
legal rule that a person could be punished for
alleged adherence to abstract principles. The
government, recognizing how embarrassing a
victory might be, privately suggested to Chief
Justice Stone that the Court delay its decision.
Although Stone understood the Justice
Department’s quandary, he believed more im-
portant issues were at stake, namely that the po-
litical branches should not interfere in the busi-
ness of the Court. Moreover, Stone personally
believed that people like Schneiderman, who did
not support American institutions, ought not to
avail themselves of American citizenship. At
the conference on December 5, 1942, Stone led

off discussion of the case with a forceful state-
ment that the government ought to have the
power to rid the nation of agitators who not only
did not believe in the Constitution, but worked
actively to overthrow the government.'*

Given his idolization of Holmes and
Brandeis, Frankfurter might have been expected
to speak in defense of Schneiderman, as Holmes
had done so eloquently in defense of Rosika
Schwimmer, another immigrant who held un-
popular views. A Quaker, Schwimmer had been
denied citizenship because she had refused to
bear arms. “If there is any principle of the Con-
stitution that more imperatively calls for attach-
ment than any other,” Holmes had written in a
dissent joined by Brandeis, “it is the principle of
free thought—not free thought for those who
agree with us but freedom for the thought we
hate.”®

But Frankfurter supported Stone’s view, and
he explained his position in conference at length
and with great emotion. This case, he began,
“arouses in me feelings that could not be enter-
tained by anyone else around this table. It is
well-known that a convert is more zealous than
one born to the faith. None of you has had the
experience that I have had with reference to
American citizenship.” He had been in college
when his father received his naturalization pa-
pers, “and I can assure you that for months pre-
ceding, it was a matter of moment in our family
life.” For Frankfurter, “American citizenship
implies entering upon a fellowship which binds
people together by devotion to certain feelings
and ideas and ideals summarized as a require-
ment that they be attached to the principles of
the Constitution.” While mere membership in the
Communist Party did not constitute grounds for
either denying or revoking citizenship, Frank-
furter believed that Schneiderman’s actions went
far beyond paying dues. Schneiderman had com-
mitted himself to the “holy cause,” and “no man
can serve two masters when two masters repre-
sent not only different, but in this case, mutually
exclusive ideas.”'® Frankfurter voted to affirm
the conviction, but only he, Roberts, and Stone
did so. Douglas evidently believed at first that
Schneiderman’s petition ought to be dismissed,
on the grounds that there was sufficient evidence
he had sworn allegiance falsely at the time of
naturalization. During the conference, however,
he changed his mind."”
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After several delays, the Court finally handed
down its decision in the spring of 1943. Frank
Murphy’s opinion for the majority conceded
that naturalization constituted a privilege
granted by Congress, but once that privilege
had been granted, a person became a citizen
and enjoyed all the rights guaranteed by the
Constitution, including freedom of thought and
expression. Membership in the Communist
Party had not been illegal at the time
Schneiderman had taken out his papers, and the
government had not proven current member-
ship “absolutely incompatible” with loyalty to
the Constitution. '

Frankfurter gave Murphy a hard time dur-
ing circulation of the majority opinion. One day
he suggested that Murphy might want to add to
his opinion the statement that “Uncle Joe Stalin
was at least a spiritual co-author with Jefferson
of the Virginia Statute for Religious Freedom.”"”
A few days later Frankfurter sent a note, signed
“EF. Knaebel,” offering Murphy the following
as a headnote for the decision:

The American Constitution ain’t got
no principles. The Communist Party
don't stand for nuthin’. The Soopreme
Court don’t mean nuthin’, and ter Hell
with the U.S.A so long as a guy is at-
tached to the principles of the
U.S.S.R®

Murphy wrote back in the same vein, “My dear
EF.: Many thanks for your original and revised
headnotes in the Schneiderman case. Not only
do they reveal long and arduous preparation, but
best of all, they are done with commendable
English understatement and characteristic New
England reserve.”?

Stone, joined by Frankfurter and Roberts,
entered a vigorous dissent that seemed strange
coming from the man who had stood alone in
the first flag salute case. “My brethren of the
majority,” he said, “do not deny that there are
principles of the Constitution . . . civil rights
and . . . life, liberty and property, the principle
of representative government, and the principle
that constitutional laws are not to be broken down
by planned disobedience. I assume also that all
the principles of the Constitution are hostile to
dictatorship and minority rule.”*

But if citizenship could be cancelled because

of strong—or weak—beliefs held by an indi-
vidual, then no naturalized citizen could be se-
cure in his or her rights. As a naturalized citi-
zen himself, Frankfurter believed he owed full
and complete loyalty to the United States, and
so did every other naturalized citizen—and with
no less passion. A Communist could not share
that love of country that true patriots had, and
therefore could be stripped of his citizenship. The
notion of full freedom of belief, it would seem,
did not apply in this case.

Conservative critics attacked the decision on
the same ground. N.S. Timasheff charged that
the Court had ruled one could be a loyal Com-
munist and a loyal American simultaneously, and
he believed that was not possible.” As if in re-
sponse to such comments, Douglas scribbled a
memorandum in May 1944 in which he said that
Schneiderman

was not merely a decision of an iso-
lated case. It was a formulation by a
majority of the Court as a rule of law
governing denaturalization proceed-
ings. That rule of law is equally appli-
cable whether the citizen against
whom the proceeding is brought is a
communist or nazi or a follower of any
other poalitical faith.

In a letter to the Chief Justice offering sug-
gestions for the dissent, Frankfurter said that it
was “plain as a pikestaff” that political consid-
erations—the need not to antagonize Russia—
had been the “driving force behind the result in
this case.” Had the record come up with refer-
ence to a Bundist rather than a Communist, the
opposite result would have been reached. In fact,
such a situation came up a year later, when the
Court unanimously reversed the denaturalization
order of a German-American citizen the Justice
Department had accused of endorsing Nazi ra-
cial doctrines. Frankfurter voted to reverse be-
cause he believed the government had failed to
carry the necessary burden of proof.

In his draft opinion, however, Frankfurter did
not mention the earlier decision in Schneiderman.
At Stone’s suggestion, Frankfurter added a sen-
tence distinguishing Baumgartner from
Schneiderman, but the original omission led
Murphy, joined by Black, Douglas, and Rutledge,
to file a concurrence that ringingly endorsed
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freedom of expression for all citizens, native born
as well as naturalized, that included the right to
criticize their country.? Not until 1946 did the
Court uphold the denaturalization order. In that
case, Knauer v. United States (1946),” the
government presented conclusive evidence
that at the time Knauer had sought American
citizenship, he had been seeking to promote
Nazism in the United States.

When William O. Douglas heard the news
that President Roosevelt had named Harlan Fiske
Stone to replace Charles Evans Hughes as Chief
Justice, he wrote to his close friend and ally on
the Court, Hugo L. Black, and confided his
doubts about the appointment, predicting that “it
will not be a particularly happy or congenial at-
mosphere in which to work.” ?® Stone’s person-
ality, he believed, was ill-suited to controlling
the strong personalities of the Brethren. Stone
himself recognized this, and as he told his pre-
decessor, he would have to bear “some burdens
which John Marshall did not know.”? Roosevelt
named nine men to the Bench, more than any
other President except George Washington, and
all of them possessed sharp intellects and strong
wills. That they agreed on the government’s ex-
tensive commerce powers actually mattered very
little; that battle had been won before Stone be-
came Chief Justice. The Court’s agenda had al-
ready begun a massive shift away from questions
of property rights to issues of individual liber-
ties, and the Roosevelt appointees were far from
united in their views on these matters. Stone
presided over one of the most fractious courts in
American history, and his “wild horses” proved
beyond his capacity for control.

During the war years it often seemed that the
Court itself was at war, as both personality and
jurisprudential battles disturbed the normal pla-
cidity of the “storm centre.”

Charles Evans Hughes had kept a tight rein
on the Brethren, and ran the weekly conferences
strictly and efficiently, much to Douglas’s de-
light.*®* One of Douglas’s colleagues, however,
did not appreciate the Chief Justice’s efficiency.
Stone, according to Douglas “first, last and al-
ways a professor,” wanted to “search out every
point and unravel every skein.” So Stone started
having rump conferences where he, Frankfurter,

Roberts, Douglas, and occasionally Murphy
would spend hours debating the fine points of
cases before the Court.>!

When he became Chief Justice, Stone imme-
diately abandoned the tight control Hughes had
exercised over the conference; even had he
wanted to continue, it is unlikely that he had the
temperament to do so. Stone liked discussion,
but unfortunately this gave way to endless de-
bates. Often the Brethren had to meet at least
once during the week for several hours to fin-
ish up business left over from lengthy Satur-
day conferences.

Perhaps Stone’s style might have yielded bet-
ter results had he not had Felix Frankfurter as a
colleague. Much of the blame for the interper-
sonal bickering on the Stone Court must be at-
tributed to Frankfurter. The Chief Justice’s will-
ingness to entertain discussion led the former
Harvard professor into seemingly endless lec-
tures, and he poisoned the well of collegiality
with his frustration at being unable to exercise
the leadership over the Court that he thought be-
longed to him. Even had Frankfurter not been
on the Bench at the time, Stone would still have
had to deal with other strong-willed men like
Black, Douglas, and Jackson, none of whom con-
sidered Stone an effective administrator. Even
the genial Stanley F. Reed had to admit that Stone
“may not have been as good an administrator as
Chief Justice Hughes.”*? Jackson also noted
that “there was a strong feeling about Stone
among some of the New Dealers,” which may
have contributed to the tensions. *

Frankfurter believed that he knew more about
the Court’s inner workings than anyone who had
never sat on the Court, and he took his seat more
with the confidence of an insider than as a jun-
ior justice. He estimated that his career as an
academic gave him greater understanding of the
Court and its processes than even some of its
members could have:

Not even as powerful and agile a mind
as that of Charles Evans Hughes
could, with the pressures which pro-
duced adjudication and opinion writ-
ing, gain that thorough and disinter-
ested grasp of the problem [of judi-
cial review] which twenty-five years of
academic preoccupation with the
problems should have left in one.®*
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Just as he had taught a generation of Harvard
law students to see the proper role of the Court
and the limits of its jurisdiction, so Frankfurter
now proposed to instruct his Brethren. The
teacher-student relationship, however, could not
work with men who saw themselves as his equals
and who were not beholden to him for their po-
sitions on the nation’s highest court. Frankfurter
took the refusal of the Brethren to follow his lead
as a personal affront, and unfortunately allowed
full play to his considerable talent for invective.

Frankfurter loved to argue, and stood ever
ready to dispute almost anything for the sake of
intellectual sport. At oral argument, he treated
lawyers before the bar as students, heckling them
as he had done in class. Frankfurter also carried
the professorial air into the Conference, where
he tended to treat his colleagues in an abrasive
manner, constantly quoting Holmes and Brandeis
at them to build up his position. “We would [have
been] inclined to agree with Felix more often in
conference,” Justice William J. Brennan, Jr., later

said, “if he quoted Holmes less frequently to
us.”® Frankfurter’s keen political insights were
often lost on his fellow Justices, who refused to
be treated as inferiors. Seeking to gain Stanley
Reed’s vote in one case, Frankfurter took a con-
descending approach and told Reed: “It is the
lot of professors to be often not understood by
pupils. . . . So let me try again.” In another case
he told Reed that he had taught students at
Harvard that in order to construe a statute cor-
rectly, they should read it not once but thrice,
and advised Reed to do the same.* If Felix were
really interested in a case, Potter Stewart recalled,
he “would speak for fifty minutes, no more or
less, because that was the length of the lecture at
the Harvard Law School.™’

Frankfurter’s rage at the failure of the Breth-
ren to follow his lead often turned splenetic. Al-
though he considered Frank Murphy a man of
principle, he did not see him as qualified to sit
on the high court, and constantly attacked
Murphy’s desire to do justice and to write com-

™y

12

Although Felix Frankfurter appeared to be on cordial terms with Hugo L. Black at this dinner (circa 1945), in reality he
was irritated by his colleague’s jurisprudence. He once told Judge Learned Hand that the Alabama Justice was ‘“violent,
vehement, indifferent to the use he was making of cases, utterly disregardful of what they stood for, and quite reckless.”
William O. Douglas and Frank Murphy were also subject to Frankfurter’s scorn, making for an unharmonious Court.
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passion into the law. He compared this results-
oriented philosophy to what had happened in
Germany, and charged Murphy with being “too
subservient” to his “idea of doing ‘the right
thing.”” Frankfurter sometimes addressed
Murphy as “Dear God,” and in a note regarding
one case said even a god ought to read the record
before deciding. In another note he passed to
Murphy during the 1944 Term, he listed as
among Murphy’s “clients” Reds, whores, crooks,
Indians and all other colored people, long-
shoremen, mortgagors and other debtors, paci-
fists, traitors, Japs, women, children and most
men. “Must I become a Negro rapist before you
give me due process?”*® He called Black “vio-
lent, vehement, indifferent to the use he was
making of cases, utterly disregardful of what they
stood for, and quite reckless.” “Hugo,” he told
Judge Learned Hand, “is a self-righteous, self-
deluded part fanatic, part demagogue, who re-
ally disbelieves in law, thinks it essentially
manipulative of language.”*® Both Black and
Douglas, in his view, were not men of principle.

The antagonism toward Douglas stemmed in
part from the fact that prior to 1939 Frankfurter
had seen Douglas, then a professor at Yale Law
School, as a junior colleague and disciple, a feel-
ing that in truth was often justified by Douglas
himself.* Beginning in the early 1940s, how-
ever, Douglas began carving out his own doctri-
nal views, which were far different than those
espoused by his one-time mentor.

But even before doctrinal differences sepa-
rated them, Douglas’s short temper reacted an-
grily to Frankfurter’s patronizing efforts to show
him what road to follow. Douglas, Potter Stewart
noted, could be “absolutely devastating” after
one of Frankfurter’s lectures in conference. On
one occasion Douglas announced that “when 1
came into this conference . . . I agreed with the
conclusion Felix has just announced. But he’s
just talked me out of it.” When particularly bored
by Frankfurter’s disquisitions, Douglas resorted
to James C. McReynolds’ infuriating habit of
leaving the conference table, stretching out on
the couch and ignoring the conversation.*! Dou-
glas took every opportunity to puncture
Frankfurter’s pretensions. He claimed that when-
ever some incompetent attorney was making a
mess of oral argument, he would send a note over
saying he understood “this chap led your class
at Harvard Law School,” and “Felix would be

ignited, just like a match.”** Once when Dou-
glas suspected Frankfurter of using a clerk to
draft an opinion-—a practice Douglas never fol-
lowed since he wrote so quickiy—he said, “Felix,
this opinion doesn’t have your footprints,” and
Frankfurter turned livid.#*

If Douglas provided the temperamental spark
that ignited Frankfurter, Black’s constitutional
views absolutely infuriated him. It took Black
the better part of a decade to reach the position
that he would articulate in his famous dissent in
Adamson v. California in 1946.4 By the time
Black took his seat on the Bench a majority of
the Court had agreed that the Due Process Clause
of the Fourteenth Amendment “incorporated” at
least some of the guarantees in the Bill of Rights
and applied them to the states. In Palko v. Con-
necticut, Justice Benjamin N. Cardozo had ar-
ticulated a philosophy of limited or “selective”
incorporation, in which only the most important
rights would be enforced against the states. Black
originally accepted the Palko doctrine, but gradu-
ally came to believe that all of the rights enu-
merated in the first eight amendments should be
incorporated; moreover, he believed that the First
Amendment, protecting freedom of expression,
held a “preferred” position.

Black objected to the Cardozo position, which
Frankfurter championed, because it smacked of
natural law and relied too much on the Justices’
sense of fairness and decency. In criminal cases
Frankfurter would ask whether the police con-
duct “shocked the conscience.” Black wanted to
know “whose conscience?” and charged that
Frankfurter’s approach left too much discretion
in the hands of the courts to expand or contract
rights belonging to the people. Frankfurter, on
the other hand, objected to Black’s position as
historically as well as logically flawed. Much of
the language in the Bill of Rights could not be
interpreted in a strictly objective manner. What,
for example, constituted an “unreasonable”
search? Judges had to interpret these words,
and such interpretation was a proper judicial
function.*s

Black and Douglas also began developing a
new jurisprudence that put First Amendment
rights in a “preferred” position, and argued for
an “absolutist” interpretation of the prohibition
against the abridgment of speech. The First
Amendment, in their view, barred all forms of
governmental restriction on speech; any other
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interpretation, they claimed, “can be used to jus-
tify the punishment of advocacy.” Frankfurter
believed that individual liberty and social order
had to be balanced in First Amendment cases,
and the yardstick would be the Holmes rule of
“clear and present danger.” Black, on the other
hand, saw that doctrine as “the most dangerous
of the tests developed by the Justices of the
Court.”

For Frankfurter, the evaluation and balanc-
ing implicit in the clear and present danger
test fit perfectly with his conception of the ju-
dicial function. By rigorously applying the
tools of logical analysis, judges would be able
to determine when such a danger existed and
thus justified state intervention, and when it
did not. In this view, explicating First Amend-
ment issues differed not at all from any other
constitutional question. In a letter to Stanley
F. Reed, Frankfurter asked:

When one talks about “preferred,” or
“preferred position,” one means pref-
erence of one thing over another.
Please tell me what kind of sense it
makes that one provision of the Con-
stitution is to be “preferred” over an-
other. . . . The correlative of “prefer-
ence” is “subordination,” and | know
of no calculus to determine when one
provision of the Constitution must
yield to another, nor do | know of any
reason for doing so.%®

These debates, between selective and total in-
corporation and between a preferred and non-
preferred reading of the First Amendment, would
split the Bench throughout the 1940s and 1950s.
It was an important debate, and worthy of being
discussed in the nation’s highest court. Un-
fortunately, the personalities of the discussants

difficulty herding my collection of fleas.” From left to right: (sitting) Stanley F. Reed, Owen J. Roberts, Harlan Fiske
Stone, Hugo L. Black, Felix Frankfurter; (standing) Robert H. Jackson, William O. Douglas, Frank Murphy, Wiley B.
Rutledge.
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complicated the matter greatly. We can see
the disastrous effects wrought by Frankfurter’s
personalizing issues in the disintegration of the
Court, during the war years. Frankfurter, of
course, does not bear the full blame, and even
had he been a saint, the strong personalities, the
philosophic factionalization of the Court and the
failure of Chief Justice Stone to exercise leader-
ship would have led to deep divisions.

w

By the beginning of the October 1942 Term,
the philosophical differences within the Court
widened and Stone’s disinclination to keep a tight
rein on the Saturday Conference meant that the
discussions often degenerated into lengthy and
inconclusive debates. Frankfurter, whose fifty-
minute lectures contributed greatly to the prob-
lem, began complaining about the “easy-going,
almost heedless way in which views on Consti-
tutional issues touching the whole future direc-
tion of this country were floated” at the Confer-
ences, and he circulated memoranda urging the
Brethren to limit the meetings to no more than
four hours.* A few months later Frankfurter
noted in his diary: “We were . . . in Conference
for almost eight hours, a perfectly indefensible
way of deliberating on the kind of stiff issues
with which we were concerned.”™ Similarly,
Douglas complained that “we have [conferences)
all the time these days and they seem eternally
long—and often dull.”®' Frankfurter later
claimed that Stone’s personal defects greatly ex-
acerbated the tedium. “He was fundamentally a
petty character, self-aggrandizing and ungener-
ous. . . . Hardly anybody was any good, hardly
any lawyer was any good, hardly any argument
was adequate, hardly anybody ever saw the real
point of a case, etc., etc.”™?

The divisiveness in the Conference could be
seen in the rising rate of nonunanimous opin-
ions. In the 1941 Term nonunanimous opinions
had constituted thirty-six percent of the total, the
highest in Court history to that time, but the
number jumped to forty-four percent in the 1942
Term.>® “I have had much difficulty herding my
collection of fleas,” the Chief Justice confided to
a friend, and complained that he himself had had
to write an excessive number of opinions since
the Brethren were “so busy disagreeing with each
other.”>*

THE COURT AT WAR

By now even outsiders could see the split in
the Court. The Wall Street Journal remarked
that the Justices tended “to fall into clamorous
argument even on the rare occasions when they
agreed on the end result.”® Within the Court,
Frankfurter’s temper grew shorter and his in-
vective more vitriolic. He began to talk about
“enemies” on the Bench, especially Douglas, and
once yelled at the clerk, “Don’t you get the idea
that this is a war we are fighting.”*¢ He referred
derisively to Black, Douglas, and Murphy as
“the Axis.”

\'

The divisions in the Court widened percepti-
bly in the October 1943 Term, when for the first
time in history a majority of the Court’s deci-
sions—fifty-eight percent—came down with di-
vided opinions.” “The Justices,” as Sidney Fine
noted, “not only continued to disagree but to be
disagreeable on occasion in doing s0.”%® Court
watchers had been aware of the growing divi-
siveness; now even those who did not follow the
Court closely could hardly fail to see that inter-
nal strife burdened the nation’s highest tribu-
nal. On Monday, January 3, 1944, the Court
handed down decisions in fourteen cases, but the
Justices agreed unanimously only in three. The
other eleven elicited twenty-eight full majority
or dissenting opinions, and four shorter nota-
tions of partial disagreement or concurrence. In
one case in particular, Douglas wrote the major-
ity opinion, Roberts and Reed concurred, Jack-
son and Frankfurter dissented in separate opin-
ions, and Black, joined by Murphy, entered a
concurrence that was in effect a “dissent from
the dissent,” in which he lambasted Jackson and
Frankfurter.”®

As the Justices presented their opinions,
Black and Murphy admonished Frankfurter that
“for judges to rest their interpretation of statutes
on nothing but their own conceptions of ‘mor-
als’ and ‘ethics’ is, to say the least, dangerous
business.”® In another case they commented on
“what is patently a wholly gratuitous assertion
as to constitutional law in the dissent of Mr. Jus-
tice Frankfurter.”¢' Then Justice Jackson
weighed in with a claim that the minority judges
would apparently enforce the Full Faith and
Credit Clause “only if the outcome pleases”
them.® Murphy charged the majority with “re-
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writing” a criminal statute,5® Jackson labeled as
“reckless” a decision to bring insurance within
the reach of the Sherman Antitrust Act,% while
Roberts fumed about the Court’s tendency to
override precedent and assume “that knowledge
and wisdom reside in us which was denied to
our predecessors.”%

This chaotic decision day brought forth a
chorus of protest. Charles C. Burlingham, a pil-
lar of the New York bar, lashed out at the “un-
happy state of the Court” in a letter to the New
York Herald-Tribune. While one could not ex-
pect total agreement on all issues, “there seems
to be a growing tendency to disagree, and if this
is not checked the effect on the public will be
unfortunate, making for doubt and uncertainty
and a lack of respect and a loss of confidence in
the Court.” The multitude of opinions left the
law uncertain, and in particular he condemned
the “turnabout” of Douglas and others in the flag
salute cases. “One would think that in cases in-
volving the Bill of Rights a judge would know
his own mind in 1940 as well as in 1943.”
Burlingham also chastised the Justices for air-
ing their personal differences, which “should be
confined within the council chamber and not
proclaimed from the [Blench.” On the same page
the newspaper editorially reminded the Court of
its obligation “to provide a coherent doctrine,”
and in the interests of the people who must know
the law to abide by it, prayed the Justices would
stop their fighting and resume their work in a
clear manner.> One might as well have tried to
whistle up the wind. Thomas Reed Powell, then
a friend of William O. Douglas as well as Frank-
furter, gently chided him that “it is a very
nerve-racking enterprise to run a class [on
constitutional law] Monday afternoon . . .
without knowing whether what I was saying is
still s0.”9’

Whether or not one agreed with the rulings
in these cases, the multiplicity of opinions did
introduce an element of instability.®® “Those
bozos,” complained the eminent circuit court
judge Learned Hand, referring to the high court,
“don’t seem to comprehend the very basic char-
acteristic of the job, which is to keep some kind
of coherence and simplicity in the body of
rules which must be applied by a vastly com-
plicated society.”® Hand, who shared much
of Frankfurter’s frustration and anger at the
“Axis,” protested:”

they are sowing the wind, those re-
forming colleagues of yours. As soon
as they convince the people that they
can do what they want, the people will
demand of them that they do what the
people want. | wonder whether in
times of bad reaction—[and] they are
coming—Hillbilly Hugo, Good Old Bill
and Jesus lover of my Soul [Murphy]
will like that.

The 1944 Term saw more of the same, with
three out of every five decisions eliciting mul-
tiple opinions. Frankfurter complained to
Rutledge near the end of the Term about “an in-
creasing tendency on the part of members of this
Court to behave like little schoolboys and throw
spitballs at one another.”””! It is unclear whether
he included himself in that description. When
the Southern Conference for Human Welfare
awarded Hugo L. Black its Jefferson Award in
April 1945, Douglas, Murphy, Rutledge, and
Reed attended the ceremony; Frankfurter, Rob-
erts, Jackson, and the Chief Justice did not—a
clear example of the demarcation within the

Court.
vi

The most shameful dispute came when Owen
J. Roberts, weary of the continuous infighting
on the Bench, resigned at the end of the 1944
Term. Although he and Frankfurter disagreed
on certain issues of law, they had found them-
selves united in their dislike of Douglas and
Black and what they viewed as the disastrous
tendency of the “Axis” to overthrow the law.”
In his last full Term, Roberts dissented fifty-
three times, or in almost one-third of the
nonunanimous cases.

Following Court custom, Chief Justice Stone
drafted a farewell letter that, in light of the
Court’s rancorous division, sounded a relatively
neutral tone. Stone sent the letter to the senior
Justice, now Black, asking him to sign it and
pass it on to the next most senior member of the
Court. But Black objected to two phrases, one
of which expressed the regret that the remain-
ing Brethren supposedly felt at Roberts’ depar-
ture, and the other of which read: “You have
made fidelity to principle your guide to decision.”
Black wanted to delete both phrases. Stone re-
luctantly agreed to the deletions, but Frankfurter
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did not and protested. In the end, only Douglas
agreed fully with Black’s draft.”> Murphy, Reed,
and Rutledge were willing to sign either version
in order to secure agreement, while Frankfurter
and Jackson took an uncompromising stand and
insisted on retaining the sentence on “fidelity to
principle.”” As usual, Frankfurter had to quote
authority: “I know that that was Justice Brandeis’
view of Roberts, whose character he held in the
highest esteem.”” Neither side would budge, and
as Alpheus Mason noted, “Emily Post would have
disposed of the Justices’ problem in a paragraph,
. . . but etiquette was not the real issue.” This
“Lilliputian campaign, fought in dead earnest,”
mirrored the pettiness and personal animosities
that marred the Court under Stone’s steward-
ship.”® The Court, on the basis of its written de-
cisions, had survived the great storm outside
fairly well; it would take several years before it
would recover from the storms that had raged
inside.

vil

We began with a quote from Oliver Wendell
Holmes, Jr.; indeed, judges and scholars have
been mining Holmes’s writings for pithy and
apposite quotes for more than sixty years. As a
coda, let me recall what Holmes said about his
experience and those of his comrades who had
fought in the Civil War, that they had been
“touched by fire.” The men who sat on this
Bench between 1941 and 1945 did not, with the
rather singular exception of Frank Murphy, wear
their country’s uniform during that time, but oth-
ers who would later join the Court did.

Colonel John Marshall Harlan served as
chief of the Operational Analysis Section for the
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Eighth Air Force, and in 1943 snuck out of his
desk job to sit as a waist gunner in a B-29 in a
daring daylight bombing raid.

Colonel William J. Brennan served on the
general staff of the U.S. Army, and helped keep
American war production rolling along to meet
military needs.

Potter Stewart joined the Navy shortly after
Pearl Harbor, and saw continuous sea duty in
the Atlantic and Mediterranean zones for the
next four years.

Byron R. White tried to join the Marines af-
ter Pearl Harbor, but was rejected for color-blind-
ness. He successfully managed to get past the
Navy doctors, and became an intelligence of-
ficer in the Pacific, where he rose to the rank of
lieutenant commander.

Major Arthur J. Goldberg joined the Office
of Strategic Services, the predecessor of the CIA,
and supervised espionage of labor groups in Eu-
rope for the purpose of sabotaging Nazi war pro-
duction.

Lewis E. Powell, Jr., also failed his Navy
physical because of poor eyesight, but then man-
aged to enlist in the Air Force’s intelligence unit.
During the last half of the war Powell was chief
of operational intelligence for General Carl
Spaatz, who commanded the U.S. bomber
force in Europe, and Colonel Powell was one
of the leading figures in the ULTRA project,
in which the Allies broke the main German
military code.

John Paul Stevens joined the Navy, and as a
member of a communications intelligence unit
was assigned to a code-breaking team.

Sergeant William H. Rehnquist of the Army
Air Corps saw service in North Africa as a
weather observer.
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Although his two daughters made him
exempt from service, Lewis F. Powell,
Jr., enlisted anyway. A failed eye
examination barred him from the
Navy, so he joined the Army Air
Corps’ intelligence unit. Lieutenant
Powell is pictured at left in 1942 eating
in a field with messmates a few days
after the invasion of North Africa.

Major Powell is shown above at National Airport in early 1944, returning to England with top secret information from
General Eisenhower. Powell was chief of operational intelligence on the staff of General Carl Spaatz, commander of U.S.
bomber forces in Europe, and a leading figure in the ULTRA project that successfully cracked German coded military
messages. He blended ULTRA intelligence with other information to conceal the source so as not to tip off the enemy.
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Campagnes pour la libération de la France
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John Marshall Harlan (seated at center, below)
served as chief of the Operational Analysis
Section of the Eighth Air Force, a section
comprised of mathematicians, physicists,
electricians, architects, and lawyers that
provided technical advice on bombing
missions. Based in London, he volunteered for
a daylight bombing raid in 1943 in which he
sat as a waist gunner. Harlan was awarded the
Legion of Merit as well as the Croix de Guerre
of France (left) and Belgium. He is pictured
below at Princeton University in 1946 at a
Welcome Home party for alumni veterans.
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Although too old to command troops,
Frank Murphy badly wanted to join
the war effort. He begged Roosevelt
for an assignment in the Philippines,
where he had earlier served as
governor-general. Eventually, he
settled for a commission as
lieutenant on inactive status and
participated in training (left) at Fort
Benning, Georgia, during the Court’s
1942 recess. Murphy also became
chairman of the National Committee
against Nazi Persecutions and
Extermination of the Jews and of the
Philippine Relief Fund.
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William H. Rehnquist served in the Army Air Corps during World War II as a weather observer in North Africa.
Sergeant Rehnquist is pictured above on the far right in Cairo, Egypt, at the Corgulas pyramids in 1945,
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A Japanese kamikaze plane
(left) zoomed toward the
U.S.S. Enterprise just before
S it hit the aircraft carrier
(below). On board was
Lieutenant Byron R. White,
who had been rejected from
the Marines for color
blindness but had enlisted in
the Navy and become an
intelligence officer in the
Pacific Theater. White was
awarded the Bronze Star and
discharged as a lieutenant
commander.
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This article is adapted from Melvin I. Urofsky, The Court in
Transition: The Chief Justiceships of Harlan Fiske Stone
and Fred M. Vinson, 1941-1953, to be published by the Uni-

versity of South Carolina Press.
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Property Rights and the
Supreme Court in World War 11

James W. Ely, Jr.

“Any long war,” Alexis de Tocqueville ob-
served, “entails great hazards to liberty in a
democracy. ... War ... must invariably and
immeasurably increase the powers of civil gov-
ernment; it must almost automatically concen-
trate the direction of all men and the control of
all things in the hands of the government.” The
experience of the United States during World War
II demonstrated the acuity of de Tocqueville’s
insight. The perceived exigencies of conduct-
ing global warfare impelled both Congress and
the executive branch to exert unprecedented
control over domestic economic life. This ex-
ercise of governmental power profoundly af-
fected all sectors of the economy and inevita-
bly encroached upon the traditional rights of
property owners.

In contrast to the political branches of gov-
ernment, the Supreme Court did not cut a high
profile during World War II. Standard ac-
counts of the home front give only passing
attention to the work of the Court, and devote
more space to the impact of wartime films and
diversions.?

All commentators agree that a docile Su-
preme Court did little to check the sweeping re-
strictions on the enjoyment of property rights that
occurred during World War I1.3 In a line of de-
cisions the Justices sustained broad governmen-
tal authority over the economy and the rights of

property owners. This paper seeks to assess the
Supreme Court’s handling of economic issues
arising from World War II, and to analyze the
rationale for its hands-off approach to property
rights during the wartime period.

Price Controls and Rationing

Property ownership encompasses the right to
use and dispose of property.* In particular, the
right of property owners to sell their goods and
products for value at a negotiated price has long
been regarded as an essential attribute of owner-
ship. Yet wartime congressional legislation sub-
stantially abridged this right.

Anxious torein in inflation, Congress in early
1942 enacted the far-reaching Emergency Price
Control Act. This measure, which created the
machinery for comprehensive regulation of maxi-
mum prices, established the Office of Price Ad-
ministration (OPA) under the supervision of
a Price Administrator to be appointed by the
President.’ The Administrator was empowered
to promulgate orders fixing the maximum prices
of commodities “as in his judgment will be gen-
erally fair and equitable and will effectuate the
purposes” of the Act. Congress set forth seven
purposes to guide the Administrator’s exercise
of his authority. These included the following
broad directives:
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1) “to stabilize prices and to pre-
vent speculative, unwarranted, and
abnormal increases in prices and
rents;”

2) “to eliminate and prevent profi-
teering, hoarding, manipulation,
speculation, and other disruptive
prices resulting from abnormal mar-
ket conditions . . . ;”

3) “to assure that defense appro-
priations are not dissipated by exces-
sive prices;”

4) “to protect persons with relatively
fixed and limited incomes, consum-
ers, wage earners, investors . . . from
undue impairment of their standard of
living.”

Although the Administrator was directed to
consult “representative members of the industry
as far as practicable” before setting maximum
prices, there was no right to a hearing before
price regulations were issued. Moreover, the
Act required that in establishing prices the
Administrator should “give due consideration
to the prices prevailing between October 1 and
October 15, 1941,” which constituted a base
period.

Congress also adopted novel procedures that
narrowed the avenues available for parties to
challenge the validity of the Administrator’s
price regulations. Aggrieved persons were re-
quired to file a protest within sixty days. After
exhausting administrative procedures, a party
could seek judicial review by the Emergency
Court of Appeals. Congress conferred on this
special court the exclusive jurisdiction to de-
termine the validity of price orders, and with-
drew such jurisdiction from all other federal
and state courts. By establishing such cen-
tralized procedures for reviewing the
Administrator’s regulations, Congress hoped
to avoid the delays of litigation in separate
district courts and to enhance the effective-
ness of the national price regulation scheme.

The Emergency Price Control Act broke
ground in several respects. First, it imposed the
most extensive price control scheme in Ameri-
can history.® The price-fixing features of the leg-
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islation went well beyond those contained in the
Lever Food and Fuel Control Act of 1917. The
World War I Lever Act was primarily designed
to regulate the production and price of foodstuffs
and fuel.” In 1921, moreover, the Supreme Court
struck down a price-fixing section of the Lever
Act on grounds that the statute did not establish
any standards for what constituted an unjust
price.? Under the Emergency Price Control Act,
in contrast, the Administrator could in effect
decide whether and when the price of any com-
modity should be controlled. “The OPA,” histo-
rian Alan Brinkley concluded, “may have been
the most intrusive federal bureaucracy ever cre-
ated in America.” Second, by any standard the
Act represented a massive delegation of law-
making authority to the Administrator. One
noted scholar aptly observed that the powers of
the OPA exceeded “any previous pattern of del-
egated legislation touching private rights di-
rectly.”1°

The constitutionality of the Emergency Price
Control Act was resolved by the Supreme Court
in Yakus v. United States (1944).!' The defen-
dant, Albert Yakus, was convicted of selling cuts
of beef at wholesale prices above the maximum
prices prescribed by the price regulations. He
had not followed the statutory procedures to test
the fixed price, but contended that the price or-
der compelled him to conduct his wholesale meat
business at a loss. The defendant argued that
the Act was unconstitutional on grounds that
1) it constituted an improper delegation of leg-
islative power over prices to the Administra-
tor, and 2) it violated the Sixth Amendment by
preventing an individual from raising the va-
lidity of the regulation as a defense in a crimi-
nal prosecution.

Writing for a majority of six, Chief Justice
Harlan Fiske Stone sustained both the substan-
tive and procedural features of the Act. Without
any analysis of the point, Stone flatly asserted
that “Congress has constitutional authority to
prescribe commodity prices as a war emer-
gency measure.”'? He then brushed aside the
unconstitutional delegation argument, ruling that
the standards set forth in the Act were suffi-
ciently definite to limit the bounds of the
Administrator’s decisions. Stone further held
that the Act provided a mode of questioning the
validity of price regulations, and that Congress
could foreclose any consideration of the validity
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of such orders in criminal prosecutions. He rea-
soned that the defendant was not denied any con-
stitutional rights because prior to conviction he
might have filed a protest with the Administra-
tor. To Stone, the need for expeditious enforce-
ment of price controls trumped the opportunity
of an accused to present a full defense in a crimi-
nal trial.

In a blistering dissent, Justice Owen J. Rob-
erts found both substantive and procedural in-
firmities with the Act. He asserted that the sup-
posed standards in the statute were so indefinite
and open-ended that the actions of the Adminis-
trator were not confined in any meaningful way.
“Reflection will demonstrate,” he observed, “that
in fact the Act sets no limits upon the discretion
or judgment of the Administrator.”® Accord-
ingly, Roberts felt that the Act unconstitution-

ally delegated legislative authority to an execu-
tive official. Justice Roberts also decried the
statutory procedures for imposing prices and re-
solving protests as well as the narrow scope for
judicial review of the Administrator’s determi-
nations. In his view, the cumulative procedural
burdens placed on a protesting party made “the
court review a solemn farce.”'* Lastly, Roberts
criticized the majority for casual invocation of
the war power as a justification for the Act. He
forcefully maintained that Congress could not
set aside the Constitution during war.

As Justice Roberts feared, the outcome in
Yakus delivered a near fatal wound to the del-
egation doctrine. In actuality the Supreme Court
virtually abandoned any role in limiting the pow-
ers that Congress could confer on the executive
branch."

A businessman argued his
case before representatives of
the Office of Price Adminis-
tration in Pennsylvania. The
OPA, designed to prevent war
profiteering and to control
prices from skyrocketing
because of war shortages,
intruded on nearly every type
of business. But when the
Supreme Court reviewed the
Emergency Price Control Act,
the 1942 law that created the
OPA, it did not find it an
unconstitutional delegation of
legislative power.
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The OPA was also responsible for adminis-
tering a system for allocating materials neces-
sary for national defense. There was no chal-
lenge to the constitutional authority of Congress
to authorize the wartime rationing of materials.
But the assertion of power by the OPA to pro-
hibit a violator of rationing orders from further
deliveries or sales of rationed products was bit-
terly contested. At issue in Steuart and Broth-
ers v. Bowles, Price Administrator (1944) was a
suspension order directed at a retail dealer in
fuel 0il.'"* Finding that the dealer had delivered
thousands of gallons of fuel oil to customers with-
out receiving ration coupons in exchange, the
OPA prohibited the dealer from receiving any
fuel oil for nearly a year. This severe adminis-
trative penalty lacked express statutory author-
ity. The Justices agreed that neither courts nor
administrators could fashion penalties for viola-
tion of law. But the Court imaginatively rea-
soned that the suspension order was not a means
of punishment but was designed to protect the
efficiency of the rationing system. Noting the
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wartime scarcity of materials, Justice William
0. Douglas broadly lectured “in times of war the
national interest cannot wait on individual claims
to preference. The waging of war and the con-
trol of its attendant economic problems are ur-
gent business.”'” The outcome in Steuart and
Brothers made clear the Court’s willingness to
uphold the coercive devices by which agencies
controlled the wartime economy. '

Although upholding the powers of the OPA,
the Supreme Court did not decide willy-nilly ev-
ery case in favor of the Administrator. The Emer-
gency Price Control Act did not cover the rates
charged by common carriers or public utilities.
Since the charges of railroads and utilities were
already regulated, Congress did not view them
as likely sources of inflation. In Davies Ware-
house Co. v. Bowles, Price Administrator (1944)
the Justices, by a vote of six to three, ruled that
public warehouses in California were exempt
from the Act because they were regulated by the
state.'” In reaching this conclusion the Court
adopted a broad interpretation of the term “pub-

:
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When the Hecht Company inadvertently committed pricing mistakes and then quickly made good faith efforts to
repay the overcharges, the Supreme Court ruled that the Administrator of the OPA did not have the power to
make the issuance of injunctions mandatory. Above is the Hecht Company’s flagship department store in down-

town Washington, D.C.
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lic utility” and concluded that Congress did
not intend to supersede state regulatory au-
thority.

Of perhaps greater significance was the
Court’s conclusion that the Administrator was
not entitled to an injunction restraining price vio-
lations as a matter of course. At issue in Hecht
Company v. Bowles, Price Administrator (1944)
was a suit against a department store that had
made pricing mistakes in good faith and with-
out intent to violate the Act.? Moreover, the
defendant store made repayment of overcharges
and took steps to ensure future compliance.
Pointing to the history of equity practice, the
Justices held that the language of the Act did
not make issuance of an injunction mandatory
or prevent courts from following their traditional
equitable practices. “The essence of equity ju-
risdiction,” Justice Douglas wrote for the Court,
“has been the power of the Chancellor to do eq-
uity and to mould each decree to the necessities
of the particular case. Flexibility rather than ri-
gidity has distinguished it.”?! Absent an explicit
command by Congress, the Supreme Court’s
enthusiasm for the regulatory state stopped short
of surrendering the judiciary’s traditional equi-
table discretion.

Rent Control

The Emergency Price Control Act also inau-
gurated an experiment in federal rent control.
The Act empowered the Administrator to estab-
lish maximum rents for housing accommodations
within a “defense-rental area.” Housing was
often a problem for migrant workers in defense
industries and for service families. It was feared
that the intense pressure for rental housing would
lead to gouging and contribute to inflation. Rent
controls were not imposed across the nation, but
were typically mandated for port cities and ur-
ban areas near war industries or military instal-
lations. Eventually the program was extended
to about 370 defense-rental areas and included
every large city. Congress did not insist that each
landlord receive a fair return on the market value
of his property. Rather, the Act provided only
that the fixed rents “be generally fair and equi-
table.” In determining maximum rents the Ad-
ministrator was directed to give due consider-
ation to the prevailing rents during specified base
periods.?2 The effect of the scheme was to have
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rents based not on the individual landlord’s fi-
nancial situation but instead set according to geo-
graphic areas.

Federal rent control was a dramatic depar-
ture from previous economic policy. Up to this
time rents had been largely determined by land-
lord-tenant bargaining in a free market. Rent
control emerged gradually on a piecemeal
basis following World War I. In 1919 Con-
gress passed the Ball Rent Control Act in re-
sponse to an emergency wartime housing short-
age in the District of Columbia.?* Some state
and local governments also adopted rent con-
trol schemes during the 1920s. The Supreme
Court in 1924, however, struck down a re-
newal of rent controls in the District of Co-
lumbia on the ground that the justifying emer-
gency no longer existed.?

Not surprisingly, the imposition of rent con-
trols at the national level proved highly contro-
versial.® The Supreme Court scrutinized the
constitutionality of the rent control features of
the Emergency Price Control Act in Bowles,
Price Administrator v. Willingham (1944).2% Mrs.
Willingham, a landlord in Macon, Georgia, was
ordered to reduce the rents that she charged for
three apartments. Rejecting her arguments, the
Justices again sustained sweeping governmen-
tal power over property rights. Adhering to the
position adopted in Yakus, the Court majority, in
an opinion by Justice Douglas, concluded that
Congress provided both standards to govern ad-
ministrative actions and a base period to guide
the fixing of maximum rents. Consequently, the
Court found no improper delegation of legisla-
tive authority.

More remarkable, however, was the Court’s
dismissive handling of Mrs. Willingham’s claim
that she was entitled to a fair return on her par-
ticular properties. Under utility price-fixing stat-
utes as well as the Ball Rent Control Act in the
District of Columbia, legislators created a mecha-
nism to secure each company or landlord a rea-
sonable return on investment. Evidently wor-
ried about the administrative burden of making
individual adjustments for thousands of rental
properties, Congress rejected the public utility
model. This raised the troublesome inquiry as
to whether Congress allowed the administrative
convenience of the OPA to prevail over constitu-
tional norms of rate setting.”’

Justice Douglas’s opinion was less than sat-
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isfactory on this point. He assumed without dis-
cussion that Congress itself could set maximum
rents as a war emergency measure. He then
abruptly brushed aside the notion that rent con-
trol involved a taking of property. In so doing,
Douglas gave no attention to the possibility that
controlled rents might be confiscatory and
constitute a regulatory taking. To bolster his
conclusion, Douglas noted that the Act did not
require landowners to use the property for hous-
ing accommodations. But this was likely of little
solace to many individuals who had made in-
vestment decisions, often including the assump-
tion of debt, based on their ability to use the
property for rental purposes. Further, in lan-
guage that suggests a degree of conceptual con-
fusion, Douglas declared:

A nation which can demand the lives
of its men and women in the waging
of that war is under no constitutional
necessity of providing a system of
price control on the domestic front
which will assure each landlord a ‘fair
return’ on his property.?®
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Despite the emotional appeal of this sentiment
during war time, it does not follow that Con-
gressional authority to raise an army eliminates
the constitutional protection of property owners.
Nor was Douglas persuaded that the Act violated
procedural due process by making no provision
for a hearing to landlords before rent control or-
ders became effective.

Dissenting alone, Justice Roberts took aim
at the rent control provisions. As in Yakus,
he decried the open-ended discretion vested in
the Administrator. Roberts first stressed that
the designation of areas in which rent controls
would operate rested entirely upon the
Administrator’s unfettered judgment. He then
charged that the Act failed to set any method
for ascertaining maximum rents. The impre-
cise standards, Roberts maintained, were “a de-
vice to allow the Administrator to do anything
he sees fit without accountability to anyone.””
Although he did not deny that during war Con-
gress could stabilize rents, Roberts bitterly con-
cluded that “it is plain that this Act creates per-
sonal government by a petty tyrant instead of a
government by law.”*

Fear that rents would soar in places where defense workers sought housing prompted passage of the Emergency Price
Control Act’s provision that rents be controlled in areas near military installations and war industries. Above, a defense
worker and his family posed outside their home near a naval base in Connecticut.
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Renegotiation Act

Attempts by Congress to curtail wartime
profiteering on procurement contracts also raised
constitutional issues. Given the necessity for
rapid decisions, government agencies found nor-
mal methods of contracting to be inadequate be-
cause the costs of production rested largely on
guesswork rather than careful analysis and pro-
tracted negotiation. Yet wartime profiteering was
perceived as a threat to morale and an unneces-
sary financial burden on the public. Therefore
Congress in April 1942 enacted the Renegotia-
tion Act, which authorized the compulsory re-
negotiation of war contracts after the parties had
actual experience with them, and provided for
the recapture of excess profits.® Under a 1943
amendment, parties could seek de novo judicial
review of renegotiation decisions by the Tax Court.

The Supreme Court had no difficulty sustain-
ing the validity of the Renegotiation Act in
Lichter v. United States (1948). Indeed, Justice
Harold H. Burton, speaking for the Court, re-
garded the measure as a contribution to national
defense, which encouraged production “without
abandoning our traditional faith in and reliance
upon private enterprise. . . .”3? The Justices ini-
tially considered whether the act unconstitution-
ally delegated legislative authority to adminis-
trative officials. The sticking point was that the
act did not define “excessive profits.” Giving
weight to administrative practices and the need
for actual experience to determine a fair return
on contracts, the Court concluded that the term
“excessive profits” was a sufficient expression
of legislative policy. Likewise, the Justices gave
short shrift to the contention that the Renegotia-
tion Act constituted a taking of private property
for public use. “The recovery by the Govern-
ment of excessive profits received or receivable
upon war contracts,” the Court opined, “is in the
nature of the regulation of maximum prices un-
der war contracts or the collection of excess prof-
its taxes, rather than the requisitioning or con-
demnation of private property for public use.”
In view of the latitude granted to administrative
agencies in earlier war-related cases, the outcome
in Lichter was not a surprise.

Takings

In addition to a comprehensive scheme of
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economic regulations that reduced the value of
property ownership, the federal government
found it necessary during the war to physically
interfere with the use of land and even to require
the complete destruction of certain property.
Aggrieved land-owners contended that such ac-
tions constituted a taking of property and were
thus compensable under the command of the
Fifth Amendment: “nor shall private property
be taken for public use without just compensa-
tion.” The Supreme Court was inevitably called
upon to address the contested meaning of “tak-
ing” in a variety of situations.

The leading case of United States v. Causby
(1946) represented a rare victory for property
owners arising from a war-related activity.** In
1942 the government leased an airport about one-
half mile from the claimant’s chicken farm. Fre-
quent flights of military aircraft over claimant’s
land at low altitude created a startling noise and
glare that frightened the chickens and disturbed
the peace of the claimant’s family. This ren-
dered the property unfit for use as a chicken farm.
Rejecting the government’s argument that there
was no taking because a landowner does not own
the airspace, Justice Douglas pointed out that the
line of flight in the airspace immediately above
the claimant’s land limited the owner’s enjoy-
ment of the property and caused a diminution of
value. Speaking for a 6-2 majority, he ruled that
the government had in effect taken an easement
of flight over the claimant’s land and was bound
to pay compensation. Yet the rationale behind
Douglas’s opinion was somewhat ambiguous. It
seemingly rested on the premise that a taking
occurred because there was a physical invasion
of the landowner’s protected airspace. On the
other hand, there was also language suggesting
that a direct interference with the enjoyment of
land short of occupancy or physical invasion
might amount to a taking. Despite a degree of
imprecision, the Causby case has become a
much-cited example of inverse condemnation.

Justice Hugo L. Black, in dissent, protested
that the “concept of taking property as used in
the Constitution has heretofore never been given
so sweeping a meaning.”*> He maintained that
the disturbances caused by low-flying aircraft
were at worst a nuisance. Black also expressed
apprehension that the Court’s decision would
hamper Congress in encouraging the develop-
ment of civil aviation.
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In two significant decisions, however, the
Justices were prepared to adopt results that cur-
tailed the application of the Takings Clause to
property losses arising from the war. A particu-
larly dramatic example of this crabbed attitude
was presented in United States v. Caltex, Inc.
(1952).% As Japanese troops entered Manila in
December 1941 the United States Army de-
stroyed the terminal facilities of the plaintiff oil
companies as well as all petroleum products on
hand. After the war the government paid for
the petroleum stocks, but refused compensation
for the demolished facilities. At first glance the
deliberate destruction of private property to pre-
vent its use by hostile forces would appear to
clearly constitute a taking. Indeed, the Court of
Claims allowed recovery on this basis.

The Supreme Court, however, by a margin
of 7 to 2, reversed and held that the plaintiffs
had no constitutional right to compensation.
Writing for the Court, Chief Justice Fred Vinson
acknowledged that there was little precedent on
the question. But he noted that some earlier
Court of Claims cases had granted compensa-
tion for property destroyed during the Civil War
and a punitive raid in Nicaragua to prevent it
from falling into enemy hands.”’ Rather than
pursue this line of analysis, however, Chief Jus-
tice Vinson chose to rely on a dictum in an 1887
Supreme Court case concerning railroad bridges
destroyed by the Union army in the Civil War.®
The Court ruled in that instance that the gov-
ernment could not charge a railroad the cost of
rebuilding bridges that the Army had previously
demolished. Going beyond the issue presented,
the Court further observed that the owners of
property destroyed in war had to bear the loss.
Chief Justice Vinson elevated this dictum to a
constitutional principle. He concluded:

The terse language of the Fifth
Amendment is no comprehensive
promise that the United States will
make whole all who suffer from every
ravage and burden of war. This Court
has long recognized that in wartime
many losses must be attributed solely
to the fortunes of war, and not to the
sovereign.®

There is room to doubt that the majority gave
adequate attention to the purpose of the Takings
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Clause. As the Court has explained many times,
the rationale behind the Clause is that the finan-
cial burden of implementing public policy should
not be unfairly placed on individual property
owners but shared by the public as a whole
through taxation.”’ In light of this guiding prin-
ciple, the destruction of the oil facilities might
better have been seen as simply a necessary cost
of conducting the war. Functionally, it was on
the same plane as property acquired for the main-
tenance of military forces. Both represent tak-
ings for public use. Justices Douglas and Black
captured this spirit in their dissenting opinion,
declaring that “Whenever the Government de-
termines that one person’s property—whatever
it may be—is essential to the war effort and ap-
propriates it for the common good, the public
purse, rather than the individual should bear the
loss.”*!

Wartime restriction of economic activity also
required the Supreme Court to consider applica-
tion of the regulatory takings doctrine. In 1942
the War Production Board directed that gold
mines cease operations. This unique order was
based on the notion that gold mining was non-
essential, and that a prohibition of such activity
would release equipment and experienced min-
ers for work in other mines. The cessation order
inflicted severe economic loss on the gold min-
ing industry, and some operators subsequently
brought suit alleging that the order constituted a
taking of private property. Speaking for a ma-
jority of seven in United States v. Central Eu-
reka Mining Co. (1958), Justice Harold H. Bur-
ton emphasized that the government “did not
occupy, use or in any manner take physical pos-
session of the gold mines or of the equipment
with them.”*? This disposed of any claim based
on physical occupancy, but left the more thorny
issue of a regulatory taking. Justice Burton
agreed that governmental regulation might so
diminish the value of property as to represent a
taking, but he was inclined to allow the govern-
ment free rein during wartime. He revealingly
explained:

In the context of war, we have
been reluctant to find that degree
of regulation which, without saying
S0, requires compensation to be
paid for resulting losses of income.
The reasons are plain. War, par-
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ticularly in modern times, demands
the strict regulation of nearly all re-
sources.*

As in the Caltex case, the Court majority de-
ferred to the government and invoked wartime
necessity as a reason to whittle down the rights
of property owners.

Justice John M. Harlan, on the other hand,
had no difficulty in finding that the prohibition
order effected a temporary taking that was
compensable under the Fifth Amendment. He
argued that as a practical matter the impact of
the order was no different than the physical pos-
session of the mines by the government. Justice
Harlan denied that the government was relieved
from providing compensation when property was
taken during wartime for the common good.
Relying on the famous case of Pennsylvania Coal
Co. v. Mahon (1922),* he warned: “But where
the Government proceeds by indirection, and
accomplishes by regulation what is the equiva-
lent of outright physical seizure of private prop-
erty, courts should guard themselves against per-
mitting formalities to obscure actualities.” Not
only did Harlan reject mechanical reliance on
wartime exigencies to immunize economic regu-
lations from constitutional scrutiny, but he also
anticipated more recent jurisprudential develop-
ments that have put some teeth into the regula-
tory takings doctrine.*

Just Compensation

The Supreme Court also made law in tak-
ings cases that involved a determination of just
compensation under the Fifth Amendment. The
war necessitated the exercise of eminent domain
power on a vast scale, as the government acquired
land for military camps, depots, and a variety of
other facilities. It also requisitioned personal
property for war purposes. Because of the un-
certainty of wartime needs, the government
adopted a novel condemnation policy. Instead
of the usual acquisition of land outright in fee
simple, it commonly condemned real property
interests for temporary or indefinite periods.*’
The government often reserved the right to
shorten or extend its occupancy. This policy
sought to minimize both the financial liability
of the government and the harm to landowners.
At the same time, with a temporary taking the
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owner’s capital investment remained in the re-
version of the property and could not be used for
other purposes. Moreover, the government typi-
cally obtained a judicial order requiring the cur-
rent occupant to vacate the premises almost at
once.*

Wartime takings posed difficult questions
with respect to valuation. When a fee simple
title was taken, the well-settled rule was that an
owner was entitled to receive market value for
the condemned interest at the date of appropria-
tion. The taking of property might well entail
damages to the owner well in excess of market
value. Nonetheless, in prewar cases the Court
had held that there was no allowance for conse-
quential damages such as loss of business prof-
its and relocation expenses. In short, not all
losses suffered by the owner were deemed
compensable.” Since temporary wartime occu-
pancy involved considerations not present when
full title was acquired, the measure of compen-
sation was problematic. Rules designed to cover
the irrevocable taking of fee simple titles did not
necessarily fit the more complex problem posed
by piecemeal takings of short-term interests. In
a series of cases the Supreme Court faced the
knotty question of fixing just compensation for
a temporary taking rather than for acquisition of
a fee.

Condemnation of leasehold interests was par-
ticularly troublesome. One unusual situation in-
volved the condemnation of a single year of a
long-term warehouse lease, which had six years
to run. Since the government did not take the
tenant’s entire interest, the Court in United States
v. General Motors Corp. (1945) concluded that
a different measure of compensation was re-
quired. The Justices reasoned that just compen-
sation should be ascertained by the market rental
value of the warehouse on a sublease by the long-
term tenant to a temporary occupier. In deter-
mining such market rental value courts were di-
rected to consider the cost of moving out and
storing goods. In addition, the tenant was en-
titled to compensation for fixtures destroyed or
depreciated by the taking. Justice Roberts ex-
pressed concern that the government might chop
property interests “into bits,” and then evade the
just compensation mandate by paying only for
short-term occupancy.* The outcome rested on
the realistic premise that a temporary interrup-
tion of a leasehold greatly limited the options



available to the displaced tenant, and correspond-
ingly increased the government’s obligation to
pay compensation.

On the other hand, when the government ac-
quired an entire leasehold interest the Court val-
ued the leasehold in the same manner as a fee
simple. In neither case would cost of relocation
be considered on grounds that such expenses
were personal to the tenant or owner and dis-
tinct from the value of the property interest.

The Court in United States v. Petty Motor

Corp. (1946)%" distinguished between taking
part of a lease and the whole lease, stressing
that with temporary occupancy the tenant re-
mained responsible for the portion of the lease
term not taken.
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A different issue was presented when the gov-
ernment initially took over part of an outstand-
ing lease but subsequently exercised options to
exhaust the entire term. In United States v.
Westinghouse Electric & Manufacturing Co.
(1950)°* the Court held that under such circum-
stances the total compensation for the
government’s occupancy could not be set until
the duration was known. It followed that the
portion of any award based on removal costs
would have to be delayed until after it was estab-
lished whether the government exhausted the
entire leasehold term. This meant that the trial
court must treat removal cost as a separate item,
and retain the case for future determination of
liability based on relocation. Dissenting, Jus-

A smiling Chester Bowles
packed up his office after
fulfilling his mandate in July
1946 as Director of the Office
of Stabilization. Prior to that
he had served from 1943
to1945 as Administrator of
the Office of Price Adminis-
tration, lending his name to
several Supreme Court cases
involving companies
contesting the government’s
intrusive measures for
controlling prices.
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tice Robert H. Jackson argued that the delayed
decision approach adopted by the majority was
not satisfactory. He maintained that the valua-
tion problems posed by expropriation of flexible
term leases were so severe that in order to avoid
constitutional questions the Court should find
no congressional authorization for such specu-
lative transactions.

Another serious problem was raised by the
use of eminent domain to obtain a term of years
in an operating business property. In Kimball
Laundry Co. v. United States (1949) the govern-
ment condemned a laundry plant, effectively forc-
ing the laundry to suspend operations during the
three and one-half years of military occupancy.
By a 5-4 majority the Court, speaking through
Justice Felix Frankfurter, adopted a generous
measure of compensation to meet this special
situation. The Justices upheld an award based
on the fair rental value for the term as well as
damage to machinery and equipment. The prin-
cipal point in contention, however, involved not
physical property but the claim for loss in the
value of the laundry business.

Justice Frankfurter held that under these cir-
cumstances the Fifth Amendment mandated
compensation for the intangible going-concern
value of the enterprise. He recognized that such
interests were not compensable when a fee simple
was condemned, but felt such approach was in-
applicable in this case. Rather, Frankfurter rea-
soned that the government’s temporary taking
of the laundry in effect deprived the owners of
their opportunity to earn a profit. Therefore the
government should also pay for the temporary
use of the going-concern value. The dissenters,
headed by Justice Douglas, protested that the
government should not be forced to pay for the
destruction of a business which was merely a con-
sequential damage resulting from taking the
physical premises. Douglas asserted that hold-
ing the government liable for loss of business
was a “new and startling” doctrine. He expressed
concern that it “promises swollen awards which
Congress in its generosity might permit but
which it has never been assumed the Constitu-
tion compels.”> The dissenters seemed more
concerned to apply established doctrine than to
inquire whether the Fifth Amendment required
compensation for all the actual losses incurred
as a result of the taking.>*

In addition to the taking of land for various

terms, the federal government faced a claim for
just compensation arising from the requisition
of food for military use. Atissue in United States
v. John J. Felin & Co. (1948) was the amount of
compensation payable for certain meat products
seized by government order. The sole question
was the pecuniary value of the meat taken. Be-
cause meat prices were regulated by the OPA,
the usual resort to a free market price was not
readily available. Seven Justices agreed that, on
the facts presented, the claimant could not re-
cover an award above the maximum prices fixed
by the OPA. However, the Justices splintered
badly with respect to the reasoning behind this
result. Only three Justices flatly held that the
controlled price was the correct measure of
just compensation when commodities subject
to price regulation were taken. In dissent, Jus-
tices Jackson and Douglas maintained that
prices fixed by the OPA to govern voluntary
sales should not be confused with the constitu-
tional requirement of just compensation. They
pointedly observed:

The war did not repeal or suspend the
Fifth Amendment. But it is obvious
that the constitutional guarantee of
just compensation for private property
for public use becomes meaningless
if the Government may first, under its
‘war powers,’ fix the market price and
then make its controlled figure the
measure of compensation.®

The outcome in Felin & Co. raised the uncom-
fortable prospect that the government could uti-
lize its authority to regulate prices to dilute the
protection afforded individual owners by the Fifth
Amendment.>

An especially perplexing problem in fixing
just compensation arose from a wartime labor
dispute. In May 1943 the federal government
took possession of most of the nation’s coal mines
for several months to prevent a work stoppage.
Unlike the other war-related temporary takings
cases, the government did not use the subject
property for a new purpose. Instead, the actual
management of the mines remained in the hands
of mine officials as agents of the government.
These officials were largely free to exercise their
own business judgment and operate for profit.
In United States v. Pewee Coal Co. (1951) all
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the Justices agreed that, notwithstanding the
nominal character of the seizure, there was a tak-
ing of mine property for the period of govern-
ment operation.” But they split over the deter-
mination of just compensation. Rather than
claim the reasonable rental value of the enter-
prise, the Pewee Coal Co. sought to recover for
the operating loss that it incurred while under
government control. Most of the loss at issue
before the Court resulted from increased wage
payments. Writing for a plurality of four, Jus-
tice Black took the position that the Fifth Amend-
ment required the government to bear the total
operating loss resulting from management by the
government. He was of the opinion that the gov-
ernment, while in possession, could receive all
profits generated and must reimburse the own-
ers for all losses. Under Black’s view the gov-
ernment was in effect a temporary proprietor.
Justice Stanley F. Reed concurred on the nar-
rower ground that the mine owners were entitled
to compensation only for losses attributable to
acts of the government. The dissenters, on the
other hand, maintained that the company did not
suffer any loss by virtue of government opera-
tion. They reasoned that the increased wage costs
were mandated by a War Labor Board order,
which would have been effective even absent gov-
ernment control.

As demonstrated in Pewee Coal, the federal
government frequently resorted to an ill-defined
technical seizure of vital industry during World
War II as a technique to coerce settlement of la-
bor disputes. The 5-4 split in Pewee Coal high-
lighted the difficult character of valuation and
causation issues posed by such wartime actions.

The historical record indicates that the Jus-
tices conscientiously wrestled with the new and
vexing issues of just compensation arising from
the wartime exercise of eminent domain. A
major part of the problem was that the custom-
ary means of calculating just compensation,
which often fell short of providing a full indem-
nity to owners whose property was taken, were
clearly inadequate to resolve the unique evalua-
tion questions created by temporary wartime ap-
propriations.”® Individual Justices understood
this dilemma and sought to modify the rules of
compensation to fit wartime circumstances, but
the Court as a whole was not prepared to re-
visit the basic principles governing condem-
nation cases.

PROPERTY RIGHTS

The Subordination of
Property Rights

As this review demonstrates, the Supreme
Court did not display much solicitude for the
rights of property owners in the face of wartime
constraints. Perhaps such an outcome was not
surprising. After all, the Supreme Court has
rarely challenged the political branches in the
conduct of military operations or the curtailment
of individual liberties in periods of armed con-
flict. One prominent scholar has aptly noted that
“in total war the Court necessarily loses some
part of its normal freedom of decision and be-
comes assimilated, like the rest of society, to the
mechanism of the national defense.”™ The
Court, for instance, did not question Abraham
Lincoln’s assertion of extraordinary powers dur-
ing the Civil War and made no attempt to thwart
the war effort. Nonetheless, other factors were
also at work in the era of World War II that cast
additional light on why the Court paid so little
heed to the invasion of traditional economic
rights.

Contemporary political and judicial develop-
ments were a primary consideration. Following
a bitter struggle between the Supreme Court and
the New Deal, the Justices in 1937 abruptly aban-
doned their long-standing scrutiny of economic
regulation. Known as the constitutional revolu-
tion of 1937, this shift had a profound impact on
property rights.® The cornerstone of this new
constitutional direction was a judicially created
dichotomy between the rights of property own-
ers and other personal liberties. Separating prop-
erty rights from individual freedom, the Supreme
Court then instituted a double standard of con-
stitutional review under which the preferred cat-
egory of personal rights received a higher level
of judicial protection. I have argued elsewhere
that there is no basis in either the text of the
Constitution or the views of the Framers to dis-
tinguish between property ownership and other
personal liberties.®! Indeed, the Framers believed
that rights were interdependent and that the pro-
tection of property ownership was essential to
the enjoyment of political liberty.? By 1941,
however, New Deal liberals dominated the
Supreme Court and the dichotomy between eco-
nomic and personal rights became the new or-
thodoxy. Religious deference to legislative au-
thority over economic life was the watchword,
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and judicial scrutiny of economic regulations be-
came purely nominal.

The plea of wartime necessity reinforced the
decline of judicial review as a restraint on gov-
ernment. As we have seen, the Supreme Court
repeatedly invoked the war power as a sort of
all-purpose justification for the exercise of gov-
ernmental authority. There is, to be sure, a line
of authority that war does not suspend the pro-
tections of the Constitution. In much-quoted lan-
guage from Ex Parte Milligan (1866) the Court
stated: “The Constitution of the United States is
a Law for rulers and people equally in war and
in peace, and covers with the shield of its pro-
tection all classes of men, at all times, and under
all circumstances.”® As late as 1934 the Court
reiterated that “even the war power does not re-
move constitutional limitations safeguarding

“essential liberties.”® Despite paying lip service
to these lofty principles, the Supreme Court in
actuality has not insisted upon customary con-
stitutional guarantees in time of war. This ten-
dency was particularly strong during World War
II. Leading commentators extolled an expan-
sive application of the war power to harness the
energy of the entire nation. As one observer saw
the matter:

Modern war is total in scope; every-
thing that is in conflict with its suc-
cessful conduct must give way. . . .
The war power . . . is plenary; it over-
rides normal constitutional limitations
and guaranties, where the latter con-
flict with the successful waging of
war.%s

Drawing upon this intellectual climate, the Su-
preme Court permitted the political branches to
claim an indefinite power to marshal the nation’s
resources, thereby reducing the scope of indi-
vidual economic rights.%

Also influencing the Court was the then-re-
cent judicial endorsement of government by ad-
ministrative agency. Many of the wartime cases,
such as Yakus and Willingham, concerned the
constitutionality of regulation of property by ad-
ministrators. As part of its abandonment of the
protection of economic rights after 1937, the
Court consistently endorsed the administrative
apparatus of the regulatory state. Resorting to
the administrative bureaucracy during the war
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was a logical outgrowth of this significant shift
in the nature of our constitutional structure. Hav-
ing sustained administrative government in time
of peace, the Court was even more inclined to be
deferential during war.

Lastly, in order to understand the Supreme
Court’s role in resolving property rights issues,
one must take account of the symbolic dimen-
sions of the home front experience. Although
World War II was a period of heady prosperity
for many, Americans delighted in a spirit of self-
sacrifice as a contribution to the war effort. This
mentality, described as “the politics of sacrifice”
by one historian, decisively shaped discourse on
the home front. Business enterprises, unions,
.and other organized groups were quick to pro-
claim their degree of self-denial. Much of this
exhortation can best be understood as an exer-
cise in public relations, but nonetheless the mys-
tique of sacrifice was widely shared.® It was
hardly surprising, therefore, that the rhetoric of
mutual sacrifice should have worked its way into
judicial opinions. Thus, the view that the cur-
tailment of the rights of property owners was
trivial when contrasted with the sacrifice of
others was advanced in several decisions. In
Lichter, for instance, the Court observed: “In
total war it is necessary that a civilian makes
sacrifices of his property and profits with at least
the same fortitude as that with which a drafted
soldier makes his traditional sacrifices of com-
fort, security and life itself.”® Similarly, in
Central Eureka Mining the Justices explained
that “wartime economic restrictions, tempo-
rary in character, are insignificant when com-
pared to the widespread uncompensated loss
of life and freedom of action which war tradi-
tionally demands.””®

Conclusion

World War II was not a watershed in the his-
tory of property rights. Rather, the erosion of
traditional economic liberty was set in motion
by the earlier political triumph of the New Deal,
and the consequent adoption of policies to man-
age the national economy and redistribute eco-
nomic power. The war crisis only strengthened
the trend toward the enlargement of government
power and the subordination of property owner-
ship to a secondary constitutional status. But
World War II did furnish an additional rationale
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for the Supreme Court to downgrade economic
rights. As the political hegemony of the New
Deal and wartime legacy faded, however, the
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The Supreme Court and
Racial Equality
During World War 1l

Mary L. Dudziak

The battle of Iwo Jima has been remembered
by historians for its courage and its carnage. The
capture of that strategic island is also remem-
bered as a step toward V-J Day, as it opened up
the route for American bombers to encoun-
ter less resistance to their flights to Japan.
At the end of the battle itself, however, a
Marine chaplain on Iwo Jima saw in the
struggle and death before him another, and
broader, meaning.

Approximately fifty years ago, Chaplain
Roland B. Gittelsohn stood over newly dug
American graves in Iwo Jima and delivered a
eulogy.

Here lie men who loved America
. .., Here lie officers and men, Ne-
groes and whites, rich and poor, to-
gether. Here no man prefers another
because of his faith, or despises him
because of his color. . . . Among these
men there is no discrimination, no
prejudice, no hatred. Theirs is the
highest and purest democracy.’

The equality these soldiers had found in death
was, for Gittelsohn, at the heart of the war’s
meaning.

Whoever of us lifts his hand in hate
against a brother, or thinks himself
superior to those who happen to be in
the minority, makes of this ceremony,
and of the bioody sacrifice it com-
memorates, an empty, hollow mock-
ery. Thus, then, do we, the living, now
dedicate ourselves, to the right of Prot-
estants, Catholics and Jews, of white
men and Negroes alike, to enjoy the
democracy for which all of them have
paid the price.?

There was an irony in the equality Gittelsohn
found among the fallen soldiers, a point not men-
tioned in the chaplain’s eulogy. The military
forces that fought in Iwo Jima were racially seg-
regated. Yet the limitations on the military’s
practice of equality did not dampen Gittelsohn’s
passionate argument that out of the carnage of
Iwo Jima came a commitment and an obligation
to give democracy meaning across the divisions
of race, religion, and class.

Too much blood has gone into this soil
for us to let it lie barren. Too much
pain and heartache have fertilized the
earth on which we stand. We here
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solemnly swear: it shall not be in vain.
Out of this will come, we promise, the
birth of a new freedom for the sons of
men everywhere.’

Chaplain Gittlesohn’s interpretation of the
meaning of the war, with its embrace of equality
as a central democratic value, was widely shared
during the war years. At least on an ideological
level, the notion that the nation as a whole had a
stake in racial equality gained increasing cur-
rency. And according to Wendell L. Willkie, out
of the war would come a commitment to social
change: “Our very proclamations of what we
are fighting for have rendered our own inequi-
ties self-evident,” he said. “When we talk of free-
dom and opportunity for all nations the mock-
ing paradoxes in our own society become so clear
they can no longer be ignored.™

This thinking influenced members of the Su-
preme Court, just as it did other Americans.
From Justice William O. Douglas’s perspective,
World War II provided a context in which to re-
examine American ideals. “What kind of people
are we?” he asked an audience in 1943. “What
is the foundation of this society that today faces
the mechanized might of the totalitarian states?”

Answering his question, Douglas said that:

The foundation of our society is the
minority. . . . Recognition of the small-
est minority is written in blood as well
as ink in our Bill of Rights. . . . We
know that the constitutional safe-
guards of equal justice under the law
are absolutely essential to the preser-
vation of liberty. For history has shown
that once persecution is unloosed on
one minority, it spreads like a blight.®

Douglas suggested that the greatest power the
nation had against the Axis was the power of its
ideals. “Hitler has challenged this society of
ours,” he said. Both Germany and Japan used
American race discrimination in wartime pro-
paganda, and were, according to Douglas, “at-
tempting to weaken us at home by wrenching at
the bonds that unite our innumerable minorities
into one indivisible America.” “They cannot
succeed,” Douglas claimed. “We know that our
majority is created out of minorities who know
how to live together, how to work together and

RACIAL EQUALITY

how to stick together. . . . That art is one of
America’s unique contributions to the history of
government. It is that art that will not only win
the war; it will also preserve the peace we earn.”

The idea of America as a nation of minori-
ties who knew how to “live together . . . work
together and . . . stick together,” was challenged
a short three months after Douglas’s March 1943
speech, when a major race riot broke out in De-
troit, only to be followed by another riot in
Harlem later in the year. Massive migration out
of the South to urban areas in the North and West
led to a housing shortage and poor living condi-
tions for many African-Americans, and these
conditions were a major cause of urban racial
friction. Sustained employment discrimination
in war industries, use of restrictive covenants that
limited black access to many neighborhoods,
and—most jarring—racial segregation in the
military fueled African-American frustration.” In
remembering these years, African-American
fighter pilot Chuck Dryden put it this way: “I'm
still so mad. How could our country do that to
us? ... We were fighting two wars—one shoot-
ing war and one against Jim Crow, against dis-
crimination and prejudice.”®

This fight on two fronts was called the
“Double V” campaign. Rather than placing civil
rights protest on the back burner during the war,
which had been the strategy during World War
I, the NAACP and other groups called for vic-
tory abroad against Fascism, and victory at home
against racism. Leaders such as A. Phillip
Randolph, head of the Brotherhood of Sleeping
Car Porters, put pressure on the Roosevelt Ad-
ministration to end discrimination in defense
industries and in the military. Randolph’s March
on Washington Movement, which threatened to
bring as many as 100,000 African-Americans to
Washington to protest, ultimately led Roosevelt
to sign an executive order that prohibited race
discrimination in defense industries. Perhaps
the change during the war years with the most
far-reaching consequences was massive black mi-
gration out of agricultural areas in the South.
The resulting demographic changes would lead
to sufficient African-American voting strength
in some Northern cities that in 1948 analysts
would argue that blacks held the balance of power
in that year’s very close presidential election.’

In spite of the ideological shift during the
war years, civil rights consciousness on the part
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of whites during the 1940s had its limits. For
their part, Southern states continued to defend
the practice of racial segregation as promoting
peace and harmony between the races. White
liberals who embraced racial equality often did
so in the terms articulated by Gunnar Myrdal in
his path-breaking study of American race rela-
tions, An American Dilemma. As did other
writers in his day, Myrdal called the problem of
race in America the “Negro problem.” African-
Americans were a problem for American democ-
racy, according to Myrdal, because discrimina-
tion against them exposed the contradictions
between the “American creed” and American
practice. Articulating the “Negro problem” as a
conflict in moral values, Myrdal identified the
locus of the problem in the hearts of white Ameri-
cans.'" If the problem lay in the hearts of white
people, then, within that framework, the prob-
lem might be solved if this heartache could be
relieved. As the story would unfold further in
the postwar years, white moral conflict could be
relieved by formal legal change — the announce-
ment of abstract rights in cases like Brown v.
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Board of Education''—even though actual so-
cial change in the lives of persons of color would
not always follow very closely the changes in
the law.'

But what of Justice Douglas’s notion of an
“art” of reconciling minority rights within a po-
litical system based on majority rule? Did Dou-
glas have in mind a constitutional vision of the
accommodation of minority interests within a
democratic political structure? And what was
the Court’s role in preserving this art of gover-
nance upon which world peace appeared to rest?

Beginning in the late 1930s, the Supreme
Court addressed this concern as it adopted a new
approach to evaluating race discrimination cases.
As David Bixby put it in his important study of
United States v. Classic,"” “the Court moved to-
ward a new paradigm of tyranny, one in which
persecution of minorities by an unrestrained,
intolerant majority posed the major threat to de-
mocracy.”"* To fully understand the emergence
of this new paradigm, however, we must step
back to an event that immediately preceded the
war: the Court-packing crisis.
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During the war years civil rights groups waged what was known as the

“Double V” campaign, a two-pronged effort for

victory against Fascism abroad and victory against racism at home. Unlike African-American soldiers in World War I,
these Fort Bragg recruits could expect the NAACP to advance their cause at home while they went off to fight, and

perhaps to die, for their country.
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It was in the context of Roosevelt’s Court-
packing plan in 1937 that a popular debate about
the role of the courts in a democratic system was
generated. Frustrated by the Supreme Court’s
rulings striking down many of his New Deal re-
form measures, Roosevelt proposed a plan to add
additional Justices to the Court for every’ Justice
over the age of seventy-five who did not retire.
In this way, he would be able to add enough new
Justices to ensure a new Court majority likely to
uphold New Deal legislation. While proponents
of the plan believed that judicial change, achieved
one way or another, was necessary to enable the
government to meet important needs, opponents
questioned the impact of the plan on our system
of government. Of central concern was the role
of an independent judiciary as a check on execu-
tive power in the form of dictatorial ambitions
by the President. In addition, as Fascism swept
Europe, and intellectuals pondered the circum-
stances underlying Hitler’s rise to power, a con-
cern about unbridled majoritarianism also in-
formed the debate on the Court plan.’ The need
for an independent judiciary to serve as a check
on abuses by the legislative branch seemed par-
ticularly pressing in the anxious years preced-
ing the outbreak of war. Walter Lippmann
argued that an independent judiciary was the “vi-
tal center” of constitutional democracy, and was
a source of protection against abuses by a “tran-
sient and hysterical majority.””'® By undermin-
ing judicial independence, the Court-packing
plan threatened to diminish the institutional safe-
guard against Fascism at home.

The Court-packing plan went down to de-
feat in 1937 as the Court on its own stepped back
from the constitutional crisis by adopting a more
deferential posture, and by upholding state and
federal legislative reforms.'” In that context,
members of the Court who had long dissented in
cases overturning New Deal legislation now
found themselves in the majority, charged with
the responsibility of crafting a governing doc-
trine. The new Court majority adopted a pos-
ture of judicial deference to the legislative
process. Majoritarianism was the basis of a
democratic system, so the will of the majority,
as expressed in legislation, should be upheld. But
what of the problem that unbridled
majoritarianism would lead inexorably to Fas-
cism? Was there a way, in spite of a general rule
of judicial deference, that the Court could more
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closely scrutinize legislation that involved indi-
vidual rights? How could the Court defer in an
economic policy case, for example, yet look more
carefully at statutes that harmed religious or ra-
cial minorities?'®

It was in an unlikely case about coconut oil
in 1938 that Justice Harlan Fiske Stone suggested
a theory that could reconcile these conflicts.
United States v. Carolene Products' concerned
the constitutionality of a federal law that forbade
the shipment in interstate commerce of “Filled
Milk”—milk with the milk fat taken out and re-
placed with some other oil or fat. Carolene Prod-
ucts shipped skimmed milk mixed with coconut
oil, and was indicted for violating the act. The
Court dismissed Carolene Products’ arguments
that the act was unconstitutional on a variety of
grounds, including substantive due process. In
upholding the act, the Court adopted a deferen-
tial posture, noting that legislation regulating
“ordinary commercial transactions” should be
presumed to be constitutional.?

There were areas, however, where the pre-
sumption of constitutionality might not apply.
In footnote four of Carolene Products, Justice
Stone outlined a theory of political process fail-
ure. The political process was the normal cor-
rective for undesirable legislation, but there
might be times when the majoritarian political
process could not correct some wrongs. Stone
suggested in footnote four that

it is unnecessary to consider now
whether legislation which restricts
those political processes which can or-
dinarily be expected to bring about
repeal of undesirable legislation, is to
be subjected to more exacting judi-
cial scrutiny. . . . Nor need we enquire
whether . . . prejudice against discrete
and insular minorities may be a spe-
cial condition, which tends seriously
to curtail the operation of those politi-
cal processes ordinarily to be relied
upon to protect minorities, and which
may call for a correspondingly more
searching judicial inquiry.?'

In footnote four, Justice Stone used the lan-
guage of minority rights to talk about race, and
compared statutes that discriminate against a
racial minority with those overtly restricting



JOURNAL 1996, vol. |

the political process by restricting voting and
First Amendment rights. In both contexts,
Stone suggested that the majoritarian politi-
cal process couldn’t correct itself. It was in this
context that “more searching judicial inquiry”
would be necessary to protect constitutional
rights.?

The image of democracy embodied in foot-
note four was both procedural and substantive.
The procedure was popular governance through
elected representatives. The substance was a
vision of justice that at the very least would not
tolerate repression of minority rights.

The Court had, of course, decided many im-
portant race discrimination cases in earlier years.
The conceptualization of race in earlier cases
focused on history and on culture, rather than
on politics. The cases looked to African-Ameri-
cans as being freed from the status of slavery,
and viewed the Fourteenth Amendment Equal
Protection Clause as outlawing the continuation
of discrimination that it saw as a legacy of that
history of slavery. The language of “minority
rights” was not employed.” Carolene Products
signalled the emergence of a minority rights ju-
risprudence, which would be applied in cases of
discrimination against African-Americans and
other persons of color.

Footnote four of Carolene Products eventu-
ally would blossom into a virtual cottage indus-
try of constitutional scholarship. This develop-
ment would be many years in coming, however,
and would occur in the context of the
countermajoritarian critique of Warren Court
activism, powerfully articulated in the work of
Alexander Bickel.** During the World War II
years, however, footnote four provided a means
of reconceptualizing the rights of persons of
color. Its form of analysis would not always be
relied upon, but increasingly the language of
minority rights and political process failure came
to inform the Court’s articulation of what was at
stake in cases where persons of color had been
disadvantaged. The minority rights jurispru-
dence that developed out of this analysis laid the
groundwork for more expansive civil rights ad-
vances in later years.

During the war years, the Court strengthened
protection for African-Americans in limited yet
significant ways. From time to time, the Court
explicitly invoked the kind of analysis embod-
ied in footnote four, considering the impact of a
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majoritarian political process on racial minori-
ties. Interestingly, the Court’s analysis of mi-
norities and the political process, and its expand-
ing conception of the nature of constitutional
equality, often appears in cases involving statu-
tory interpretation.

i

Persons of color fit clearly within the Court’s
minority rights paradigm, and voting rights are
at the heart of democratic government, so it is
not surprising that important advances during
this period would occur in the area of voting
rights for persons of color. The Supreme Court
had taken up voting rights in earlier years, and
had struck down obvious forms of race discrimi-
nation such as “grandfather clauses” that enfran-
chised only those persons who were descendants
of persons who could vote prior to the passage of
the Fourteenth and Fifteenth Amendments.
“White primaries” were another means used by
Southern states in the early twentieth century to
disfranchise African-American voters. Because
the Democratic party nominee could be assured
victory in the general election due to the party’s
prominence in the South, if African-Americans
were excluded from voting in the Democratic
primary, they lost the opportunity to have their
votes counted the only time they mattered.?

The problem of white primaries first came
before the Court in the 1920s. A Texas statute
overtly barring African-Americans from voting
in primary elections was overturned by the Court
in 1927, and a statute enacted to circumvent that
ruling by charging state party executive commit-
tees with the responsibility of determining party
membership qualifications was overturned in
1932.% These rulings nevertheless left much
room for creativity in restricting voting rights in
primary elections, leaving the extent of the
Court’s willingness to protect primary voting
rights in doubt. When the Texas Democratic
Party barred persons of color from voting in pri-
mary elections, the Court upheld the restriction
in Grovey v. Townsend in 193577 Political par-
ties were private groups, the Court reasoned, and
therefore discrimination by parties did not vio-
late the Fourteenth and Fifteenth amendments,
which applied only to government action.
Grovey set the limits of the Court’s prewar for-
mulation of primary voting rights.

Grovey was undermined in 1941 in United
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States v. Classic,” a nonrace case involving bal-
lot tampering in a Louisiana primary election.
Then, in 1944, the white primary was back be-
fore the Court in U.S v. Allwright.® This time
the Court held that although it was the Demo-
cratic Party that excluded African-Americans,
the state had statutes that regulated the selection
of party nominees. The statutory scheme in ef-
fect made the party subject to state regulations
and “an agency of the state in so far as it deter-
mines the participants in a primary election.”
Democratic party action excluding African-
Americans from primary elections was therefore
“state action” within the meaning of the Fifteenth
Amendment. Grovey was explicitly overruled.*

Justice Roberts, the lone dissenter in
Allwright, was appalled that his colleagues would
overturn a fairly recent case on point. He may
have been particularly unhappy because he had
authored the Court’s unanimous Grovey opin-
ion. “The reason for my concern,” he com-
plained, “is that the instant decision . . . tends to
bring adjudications of this tribunal into the same
class as a restricted railroad ticket, good for this
day and train only.” Although the wartime fo-
cus on the political rights of minorities may have
influenced the majority’s sense of the importance
of the case, Roberts drew from the historical con-
text a different lesson. The disrupting effect of
wartime demanded, instead, stability. “It is re-
grettable that in an era marked by doubt and con-
fusion, an era whose greatest need is steadfast-
ness of thought and purpose, this Court . . .
should now itself become the breeder of fresh
doubt and confusion in the public mind as to the
stability of our institutions.”*!

The Court expanded the meaning of equality
in other cases as well, helping to set the stage
for more dramatic advances dismantling racial
segregation that would follow in the postwar
years. In the first important federal case under-
mining Plessy v. Ferguson’s*® doctrine of sepa-
rate-but-equal as applied to higher education, in
1938 the Court invalidated the state of Missouri’s
policy of providing legal education for African-
Americans by providing them with tuition to at-
tend out-of-state law schools. In Missouri ex rel.
Gaines v. Canada, the Court held that the fact
that the out-of-state law schools were comparable
in quality to the University of Missouri was sim-
ply beside the point. The state’s equal protection
obligations could only be performed “where its
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laws operate, that is, within its own jurisdiction.”
Having chosen to provide white students with
in-state legal education, the state was obligated
to do so for African-Americans as well. The fact
that there might be a limited demand for a black
law school did not mean that Missouri was re-
lieved of its obligations, for “petitioner’s right
was a personal one. It was as an individual that
he was entitled to the equal protection of the laws
... Accordingly, in the absence of any other
opportunity to attend law school within the state
of Missouri, Gaines would be entitled to attend
the state university.*

Missouri responded to the Gaines ruling by
establishing a separate black law school, and it
would be several years before the Court would
actually order integration as a remedy for un-
equal legal education.* Still, Gaines represented
an important step in the dismantling of Plessy’s
separate but equal formula. Requiring a greater
measure of equality meant that segregation would
be more expensive to maintain.

Racial segregation was addressed again in
1941 in a case that arose in the context of Plessy
itself: railroad passenger segregation. Mitchell
v. United States®® was particularly noteworthy
because the plaintiff was a member of the House
of Representatives. Arthur W. Mitchell was a
Representative from Chicago, Illinois. On the
evening of April 20, 1937, he left Chicago to
travel by train to Hot Springs, Arkansas. The
trip was uneventful until just outside of Mem-
phis, Tennessee, after the train had crossed the
Mississippi River and entered the State of Ar-
kansas. At that point, a conductor ordered him
out of the first-class Pullman sleeping car he oc-
cupied. If Mitchell did not move to the Jim Crow
car, he was told, he would be arrested. The
conductor’s actions were in compliance with an
Arkansas statute requiring “equal but separate
and sufficient accommodations” for white and
black passengers. The car Mitchell was forced
to move to was far from equal to the Pullman
sleeper. It was old, not airconditioned, and ac-
cording to Mitchell, “filthy and foul smelling,”
lacking many of the basic amenities. Although
the railroad responded by upgrading its Jim Crow
car to make it comparable to second-class white
accommodations, the train’s first-class accom-
modations were limited, so that they were not as
easily available to first-class black travellers as
to whites.*
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The Court did not take up the issue of the
legality of railroad passenger segregation, by-
passing an issue briefed by amici curiae. The
case concerned instead whether equality of treat-
ment had been afforded. The source of the right
here was not the Fourteenth Amendment, but in-
stead the Interstate Commerce Act. Its require-
ment that no person should be subject to “any
undue or unreasonable prejudice or disadvantage
in any respect whatsoever” meant that Mitchell
had a right to on-the-spot first-class accommo-
dations, just as a white passenger would. First
class accommodations would have been avail-
able to Mitchell if he had reserved them in ad-
vance, but requiring him to plan ahead when
others could choose first-class at the time of travel
was a denial of equal treatment.”

Although not a Fourteenth Amendment case,

Mitchell v. U.S. is an important illustration of

the Court’s expanding definition of equality. This
broadened concept of equality would ultimately
be applied in future antidiscrimination cases
under the Interstate Commerce Act, as well as
under the Fourteenth Amendment Equal Protec-
tion Clause itself.*

To understand why Mitchell and Gaines
represented an expansion of equality, it is im-
portant to consider what equality under the
“separate-but-equal” formula had meant. In ear-
lier equal treatment cases, state and federal courts
had tended to ask not whether the facilities or
programs provided to whites and blacks were
exactly the same, but simply whether something
was provided to blacks at all, regardless of its
comparability.’? In Gaines and Mitchell the
Court illustrated a willingness to actually com-
pare what was provided. And in Mitchell in
particular, even the inconvenience of advance

Arthur W. Mitchell, a
Democratic Congressman from
Chicago, Illinois, addressed the
Democratic Convention in
1940. Three years earlier, he
had been ordered off a first-
class Pullman sleeping car by a
conductor complying with the
Arkansas statute requiring
“equal but separate”
accomodations for whites and
blacks. The car he was forced to
sleep on was “filthy and foul
smelling;” only by reserving
ahead could a black be assured
first class accomodations on a
train. The Supreme Court ruled
that because white passengers
could get first class quarters on
the spot, Mitchell’s treatment
had not been equal.
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reservation was a burden that should not fall on
one race alone. Equality, the Court seemed to
say, meant that things should be equal. While
the idea may seem an obvious one, it was an
important advance in the Supreme Court’s doc-
trine of equality under law.

In other important cases involving constitu-
tional rights, the Court outlawed state laws cre-
ating a system of peonage, protected the rights
of African-American criminal defendants who
had been subjected to brutally coerced confes-
sions, and expanded the right against race dis-
crimination in grand jury service.®

Just as the Court in Mitchell employed statu-
tory interpretation under the Interstate Com-
merce Act to expand a right that resonated with
the constitutional norm of equality, in another
case the Court interpreted a federal labor rela-
tions statute to protect free speech in the form of
civil rights protest. In New Negro Alliance v.
Sanitary Grocery Co., decided in 1938, a gro-
cery store chain sought an injunction against the
New Negro Alliance after the organization had
posted a picket outside one of the stores with a
sign that said “Do your Part! Buy Where You
Can Work! No Negroes Employed Here!” The
picket and a threatened boycott were part of a
campaign to pressure Sanitary Grocery to em-
ploy African-Americans as clerks, particularly
in stores where the customers were predominately
African-American.!

The question in this case was whether the
conflict was a “labor dispute” within the mean-
ing of the Norris-La Guardia Act. If it fell un-
der the Act, the district court would have no
jurisdiction to enter an injunction against the
protest. The lower courts in the New Negro Al-
liance case held that the Norris-La Guardia Act
did not apply because the dispute “did not in-
volve terms and conditions of employment such
as wages, hours, unionization, or . . . working
conditions,” certainly a plausible reading of the
statutory language. The Supreme Court reversed,
finding that challenging race discrimination “is
quite as important to those concerned as fair-
ness and equity in terms and conditions of em-
ployment can be to trade or craft unions . . ..”
The Court found “no justification” for limiting
the definition of labor disputes by excluding dis-
putes regarding race discrimination in employ-
ment. The Court’s holding meant that civil rights
protest over employment discrimination could
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not be silenced by a federal court injunction.*

The Court’s New Negro Alliance ruling up-
held the values of Carolene Products footnote
four—it protected the openness of the political
process by enabling political dissent. In so do-
ing, the Court majority did not refer directly to
either footnote four or the times in which the
Court addressed this case. It was Justice James
C. McReynolds, in dissent, who drew attention
to the historical context. He believed that the
majority’s “tortured” interpretation of “labor dis-
pute” would lead to “intolerable violations of . . .
freedom” of those who wished to hire persons
“of one color or class.” This would lead to strife,
and the “ultimate result,” McReynolds believed,
might be harmful to African-Americans, “pre-
figured by the grievous plight of minorities in
lands where the law has become a mere political
instrument.”*?

In 1944, the Court decided a Railway Labor
Act case, Steele v. Louisville and Nashville Rail-
road Co., that directly implicated footnote four’s
political process concerns. That case involved
the Brotherhood of Locomotive Firemen and
Enginemen, the exclusive bargaining represen-
tative with the Louisville and Nashville Railroad
Company. A substantial minority of firemen on
the railroad were African-American, yet the
Brotherhood excluded blacks from membership.
As a result, black firemen on the Louisville and
Nashville Railroad were in the unenviable posi-
tion of having their interests protected in collec-
tive bargaining by an organization that excluded
them from membership. In March of 1940, the
Brotherhood sought to amend the collective bar-
gaining agreement in a way that would lead to
excluding African-Americans from working as
firemen. The following year the union and the
railroad entered agreements placing a cap on
black employment and restricting their senior-
ity rights. Black firemen were not informed or
given an opportunity to be heard regarding the
union’s efforts to alter the contract, or about the
ultimate agreements.*

While resonating with the constitutional
norms of equality and due process, the precise
legal issue before the Court was whether the
Railway Labor Act imposed on the Brotherhood
a duty to represent all firemen without discrimi-
nation on the basis of race. Writing for the Court,
Justice Stone found that an exclusive bargain-
ing representative “is clothed with power not
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unlike that of a legislature which is subject to
constitutional limitations on its power to deny,
restrict, destroy or discriminate against the rights
of those for whom it legislates. . . .” Stone be-
lieved that in enacting the Railway Labor Act,
Congress “did not intend to confer plenary power
upon the union to sacrifice, for the benefit of its
members, the rights of the minority of the craft,
without imposing on it any duty to protect the
minority.”#

The Court held that the Railway Labor Act
imposed a duty of equal treatment on the bar-
gaining representative. It was “at least as exact-
ing a duty to protect equally the interests of the
members of the craft as the Constitution imposes
upon a legislature to give equal protection to
the interests of those for whom it legis-
lates.”*6 Because the Court saw the union’s
statutory duty as parallel to that imposed on
government actors by the Equal Protection
Clause, the equal treatment ordered in Steele
informs the meaning of equality beyond the
context of the Railway Labor Act. It helps us
to see that, particularly where political pro-
cess concerns were implicated, “equality” now
had a meaning that imposed real limits on the
ability of whites to restrict the opportunities of
African-Americans.

Justice Murphy, concurring in Steele, argued
that the circumstances here were so egregious
that the Court should rely on the moral force of
the Constitution. He argued,

To decide the case and to analyze
the statute solely on the basis of
legal niceties, while remaining mute
and placid as to the obvious and
oppressive deprivation of constitu-
tional guarantees, is to make the ju-
dicial function less than it should be
. ... No statutory interpretation can
erase this ugly example of economic
cruelty against colored citizens of
the United States. . . . A sound de-
mocracy cannot allow such discrimi-
nation to go unchallenged. Racism
is far too virulent today to permit the
slightest refusal, in the light of a
Constitution that abhors it, to expose
and condemn it wherever it appears
in the course of a statutory interpre-
tation.*”
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Justice Murphy’s notion of the moral force
of the Constitution was at issue in the great con-
stitutional tragedy of the war years: the Court’s
acquiescence in the internment of Japanese-
Americans. The rulings in the cases related to
the internment program illustrate that the Su-
preme Court’s vision of equality during the war
years would have profound limits.

In December 1941, the Japanese attack on
Pearl Harbor drew the nation formally into war,
and left the West Coast of the United States in a
panic. Convinced that a Japanese attack was
imminent, local authorities prepared for the
worst. Rumors of espionage abounded, and as-
persions of disloyalty were cast on anyone who
looked Japanese. In this atmosphere, on Febru-
ary 19, 1942, President Roosevelt signed Execu-
tive Order 9066 authorizing the Secretary of War
to designate military areas from which any per-
sons might be excluded. General John L. DeWitt,
commanding general of the Western Defense
Command, then designated the entire West Coast
as subject to military attack. A curfew was es-
tablished for German and Italian nationals and
all persons of Japanese heritage, including
American citizens, along the coast. On March
27, persons of Japanese heritage were ordered
not to leave the coastal area except under future
orders, and on May 9, these persons were for-
mally excluded from the area. Under orders to
leave and not to leave, persons of Japanese heri-
tage had to report to assembly centers. There
they would await being shipped by train to in-
ternment camps in the interior of the country.”®

General DeWitt justified his sweeping order
on the ground that persons of Japanese heritage
shared a race-based loyaity to the Japanese Em-
pire. Even Japanese Americans who were U.S.
citizens, who were born in the U.S., who had
never been to Japan and who could not speak
Japanese were assumed, by their racial heritage,
to be bound in loyalty to Japan. According to
DeWitt, “A Jap’s a Jap.” It was simply impos-
sible, due to their racial characteristics and clan-
nishness, to separate out those likely to be dis-
loyal and to commit acts of espionage and sabo-
tage. Instead, all—including infants, young chil-
dren, the frail, the elderly—were to be sent away
from their homes on the West Coast with only a
small parcel of belongings to what Justice Owen
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J. Roberts called America’s “concentration
camps.” :

Peter Ota was fifteen years old at the time.
He remembered being “evacuated” to the Santa
Anita race track in Los Angeles. At Santa Anita,
he said, “the horse stables were converted into
living quarters. . . . People in the stables had to
live with the stench. Everything was commu-
nal. We had absolutely no privacy.” Ota’s fam-
ily lived at Santa Anita for five months in 1942.
Then they were ordered to leave, and put on a
train. “It was crowded,” he recalled. “The shades
were drawn. During the ride we were wonder-
ing, what are they going to do to us? We Niseis
had enough confidence in our government that
it wouldn’t do anything drastic. My father had
put all his faith in this country. This was his
land.” The journey ended in Amache, Colorado.
Ota found it “a desolate, flat, barren area. The
barracks was all there was. There were no trees,
no kind of landscaping. It was like a prison
camp. . . . It was just devastating.”

When this profound denial of civil liberties
came before the Supreme Court, the Court was
moved both by the gravity of the government’s
action, and also by the gravity of the times. The
President relied on his power as Commander in
Chief in issuing Executive Order 9066, and it
would be no small thing for a court to stand in
the way of the President’s determination of mili-
tary necessity.

In 1943, the Supreme Court upheld the con-
stitutionality of the curfew as applied to Gordon
Hirabayashi and Min Yasui, American citizens
of Japanese descent.”’ Writing for the Court in
Hirabayashi v. United States, Justice Stone ac-
knowledged that “distinctions between citizens
solely because of their ancestry are by their very
nature odious to free people whose institutions
are founded upon the doctrine of equality.” Still,
“We cannot close our eyes to the fact, demon-
strated by experience, that in time of war resi-
dents having ethnic affiliations with an invad-
ing enemy may be a greater source of danger
than those of a different ancestry.” While it was
DeWitt’s view that all needed to be interned be-
cause their racial characteristics made them in-
distinguishable, the Justice Department argued
that timing was the significant factor, and the
urgency of the moment and supposed lack of time
for individual determinations was also crucial
to the Supreme Court’s ruling. “We cannot re-
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ject as unfounded the judgment of military au-
thorities and of Congress that there were dis-
loyal members of that population . . . [who] could
not readily be isolated and separately dealt with,
and constituted a menace to the national defense
and safety.”*

The matter of timing, and the imminent
threat of espionage, were also critical to the Court
in its 1944 ruling in Korematsu v. United States,
upholding the constitutionality of the exclusion
of persons of Japanese heritage from the West
Coast. Fred Korematsu had refused to report to
an assembly center as ordered. He simply pre-
ferred to stay in San Leandro to be near his girl-
friend. In upholding Korematsu’s conviction for
violating the exclusion order, Justice Black, writ-
ing for the Court, began by noting that “all legal
restrictions which curtail the civil rights of a
single racial group are immediately suspect.” Re-
strictions based on race would not always be un-
constitutional, but “courts must subject them to
the most rigid scrutiny. Pressing public neces-
sity may sometimes justify the existence of such
restrictions; racial antagonism never can.”**

Justice Black did not see the exclusion of
Japanese-Americans from the West Coast to be
race discrimination. Instead, as in Hirabayashi,
the impossibility of immediately segregating the
loyal from the disloyal was a reasonable ground
for the military’s action. It was certainly a hard-
ship, but, Black said, “hardships are part of
war.”%

There were limits to what the Court would
tolerate. In Ex Parte Endo the Court granted a
Japanese-American woman'’s petition for habeas
corpus, finding that the War Relocation Author-
ity exceeded its authority by continuing to con-
fine an American citizen whom it knew to be
loyal.>

Among the difficulties with the Court’s
Hirabayashi and Korematsu rulings was the fact
that it was many months after Pear]l Harbor and
after Executive Order 9066 was signed before
the exclusion of Japanese Americans from the
West Coast was accomplished. This delay un-
dercut the military’s argument that the urgency
of the timing justified mass internment. In ad-
dition, potentially disloyal persons had already
been identified and detained before mass intern-
ment began. Finally, the Justice Department
knew, but deleted from the final version of its
brief, the fact that there was no evidence of es-

B
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pionage or sabotage by Japanese Americans or
resident aliens. The exclusion of crucial evidence
from the government’s brief formed the basis of
successful error corum nobis petitions overturn-
ing the Korematsu and Hirabayashi convictions
many years later.”’

Beyond the evidentiary difficulties in the
cases lie troubling implications for the Court’s
role in wartime. Dissenting in Korematsu, Jus-
tice Robert H. Jackson suggested that it was one
thing for military authorities to overstep their
authority, and quite another for the Court to
ratify it.

A judicial construction of the Due Pro-
cess Clause that will sustain this or-
der is a far more subtle blow to liberty
than the promulgation of the order it-
self. Amilitary order, however uncon-
stitutional, is not apt to last longer than
the military emergency. . . . But once
a judicial opinion rationalizes such an
order to show that it conforms to the
Constitution, or rather rationalizes
the Constitution to show that the
Constitution sanctions such an or-
der, the Court for all time has vali-
dated the principle of racial discrimi-
nation in criminal procedure and of
transplanting American citizens.
The principle then lies about like a
loaded weapon ready for the hand
of any authority that can bring for-
ward a plausible claim of an urgent
need.

Such a ruling “has a generative power of its
own, and all that it creates will be in its own
image.”

In the years after the Korematsu case, Jus-
tice Jackson’s point about the generative force
of law would have interesting implications as
applied to the Korematsu decision itself. The
primary doctrinal impact of the case fortu-
nately has not been in cases dealing with the
scope of the war powers. Instead, Korematsu’s
ironic legacy has been its recognition of strict
judicial scrutiny of government action dis-
criminating on the basis of race. This strict
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judicial scrutiny was employed to strike down
many discriminatory statutes and practices in
later years.>

In the postwar years, the nation’s external
concerns shifted quite abruptly. By 1946, the
United States regarded its former ally the Soviet
Union with increasingly grave suspicion, and
concerns about domestic Communist subversion
soon permeated political discourse. Anti-Fas-
cist rhetoric declined, and was replaced by anti-
Communism. Unbridled majoritarianism no
longer seemed a central threat to democracy.
Rather, the threat lay in Communist fifth col-
umn activity at home and Soviet expansionism
abroad. During the early Cold War years, as the
two superpowers competed for the allegiances
of other nations, Secretary of State Dean Acheson
argued that race discrimination had a negative
effect on United States foreign relations, and Am-
bassador to India Chester Bowles claimed that
this issue was crucial to U.S.-Asian relations.
President Harry S Truman believed that dis-
crimination, by undermining the faith of per-
sons of color around the world in democracy,
posed a threat to world peace itself. In this
context, in its brief in Brown v. Board of Educa-
tion, the Justice Department argued that the
United States had important national security
interests at stake in the case, and that it was
“in the context of the world struggle between
freedom and tyranny that the problem of race
discrimination must be viewed.”®® One ex-
ternal influence on the conceptualization of
race in America was replaced by another.
And it was then, in the context of a Cold War
imperative for civil rights reform, that the re-
maining formal barriers to racial integration
would fall.

In our own day, as the nation seems in the
grips of new found nativism, and as tolerance of
racial and cultural difference seems on the wane,
it is useful to reflect upon whether we have re-
tained what Justice Douglas once called the “art”
of American governance, and whether the Court
will continue to see as its special role the protec-
tion of minority rights against new forms of
majoritarian tyranny.
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The Cramer Treason Case
J. Woodford Howard, Jr.

Cramer v. United States' is a landmark in
American law of treason. This sequel to the no-
torious Nazi Saboteur Case is a happier tale than
the original. Many ingredients—the Constitution,
" timing, advocacy, personalities, even chance—
transformed a minor wartime incident into the
first and foremost treason case decided on the
merits by the Supreme Court. Cramer was the
tribunal’s sole decision during World War 11 to
enforce and enlarge constitutional limits on ex-
ecutive war powers. It is also an inspiring story
of the struggle of lawyers and judges to uphold
high professional standards amid the passions of
total war.

Anthony Cramer was accused of treason for
intentionally aiding two Nazi saboteurs, Werner
Thiel and Edward J. Kerling, in New York City
prior to their arrest. A prim, pallid bachelor of
forty-two, Cramer was a laborer who shoveled
coal in a boiler room of a Brooklyn licorice fac-
tory for $45 a week. He was born in Germany
and became a U. S. citizen in 1936. Despite
earnest efforts at self-education and improvement
in this country, he failed to advance his fortunes.
In the 1930s, he worked and roomed for a while
with Werner Thiel, a Bundist and ardent Nazi,
who returned to Germany in 1941 and trained
as a saboteur.

The essential evidence against Cramer was
that Thiel contacted him under an alias on June

22,1942, Cramer surmised that Thiel had come
by submarine on a mission for Germany, per-
haps agitation and propaganda to stir up unrest,
but Thiel evaded queries about his plans. Cramer
befriended Thiel in several ways. He met twice
with Thiel and his leader Kerling at restaurants
near Grand Central Station, both meetings ob-
served but not overheard by FBI agents. He ar-
ranged for Thiel’s fiancée, Emma (Norma) Kopp,
a domestic servant in Connecticut, to visit them
in New York. At their last meeting he took Thiel’s
money belt containing $3,670 for safekeeping,
carefully separated $160 for Thiel and $200 that
Thiel owed him, and then put the rest in his safety
deposit box and the belt in his room.

After his arrest Cramer foolishly lied to pro-
tect Thiel. On learning the gravity of charges
against him, and receiving promises that his
falsehoods would be forgiven, he recanted and
gave long statements to FBI agents, denying any
knowledge of sabotage plans. Except for Norma
Kopp’s testimony that he knew Thiel’s purpose,
the main proof consisted of Cramer’s statements
and personal effects, which he made no attempt
to hide. Federal prosecutors charged him with
one count of treason for adhering to enemies of
the United States, giving them aid and comfort.
They specified ten overt acts and asked for the
death penalty.”

The tough knot of this case was the law of
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treason. The Constitution provides that

Treason against the United States,
shall consist only in levying War
against them, or in adhering to their
Enemies, giving them Aid and Com-
fort. No person shall be convicted of
Treason unless on the Testimony of
two Witnesses to the same overt Act,
or on Confession in open Court.?

As applied to Cramer’s case, these standards
raised subtle and novel issues. The crime was
ancient. English statutes since 1351 required
overt acts as safeguards against oppression for
political belief as well as two witnesses after 1695
to guard against perjury. Yet the plain purpose
of the Treason Clause, the only crime defined in
the Constitution, was to curb English abuses such
as treason by “compassing” (imagining or plot-
ting a monarch’s death) and “constructive” trea-
son (stretching the offense to suppress peaceful
political opposition). The Framers, fearing abuse
of treason almost as much as treason itself, made
critical changes in traditional law. They retained
only two types of treason, made adhering and
aid and comfort separate elements of the offense,
shifted the English two-witness requirement from
treason generally to the same overt act, and left
only penalties to legislative control. Defining
treason constitutionally in terms of action, de-
priving Congtress of this power, they repudiated
substantial English experience even while using
English terms. The problem was how far did
this repudiation go?

The specific question in Cramer’s case was
whether joining the two-witness requirement to
the same overt act eliminated unsuccessful at-
tempts or conspiracies from the offense or merely
increased the required quantity of direct proof.
This question, almost a parody of legalese on
the surface, sharply illustrates the importance of
procedural safeguards in the history of liberty
and how procedure affects substance in consti-
tutions. At stake in a steadily deepening debate
were the meaning of treason itself, the scope of
federal power to compel political loyalty, and the
judiciary’s role in policing the executive branch
in war. Conventional materials of constitutional
interpretation—text, intention, history—pro-
vided no ready answer to the legal problem.
Records of the Framers’ intentions were spare.
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The Supreme Court had never reviewed a trea-
son conviction for aiding the enemy or construed
the two-witness rule. The famous treason trial
of Aaron Burr for levying war had ended in ac-
quittal. Most treason cases in America were be-
fore military commissions, not civil courts.
Sleuths who dug for many months in masses of
precedents and historical materials agreed on one
thing: The law of treason was not so much an
open field as an ambiguous borderland thicketed
with choice. Strategies and interpretations of
“judges & co.” at every level of the federal judi-
ciary played conspicuous roles in shaping legal
weapons to defend national security against po-
litical crimes.*

To explain this complex, subtle story it helps
to follow a theatrical metaphor with a prologue,
three acts, and an epilogue.

Prologue

Justice Department lawyers met the problem
of defining treason first as they scrambled for
six weeks during the Saboteurs Case to determine
charges against Cramer and thirteen other sus-
pected accomplices in Brooklyn and Chicago.
The options boiled down to trading with the en-
emy or treason. Cramer’s money-handling
clearly violated the Trading With the Enemy Act,
but lacked two witnesses. Some staff attorneys
had “gravest doubt” whether the evidence in the
Chicago cases satisfied standards for treason
developed by lower courts in World War I. In a
policy decision, political leaders ordered treason
charges in cases with adequate evidence.’ As
Alien Property Custodian McNulty told Attor-
ney General Biddle, the public would understand
leniency for informers but not for collaborators
in their midst who were “worse than those they
sought to help.”

Act I—Trial

Cramer’s trial opened at the federal court-
house in New York on November 9, 1942, the
day after the Allies landed in French North Af-
rica, in a fevered wartime atmosphere. The judge
was Henry W. Goddard, who later presided over
the second perjury trial of Alger Hiss. Leading
advocates presented opposing pictures of
Cramer’s personality and purpose. The prosecu-
tor, Mathias F. Correa, the nation’s youngest U.S.
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Attorney, depicted Cramer as a cunning traitor
and master spy in a larger plot to assist Nazi
Germany. The defense team, headed by Harold
R. Medina and his chosen associates, was as-
signed by Judge John C. Knox to show the world
that in a capital case for treason the American
system of justice provided “impartial and fear-
less” counsel, as Cramer requested, to rich and
poor alike.’

Medina was a well-known former teacher at
Columbia Law School and a scrapping “lawyer’s
lawyer,” who later presided over the tumultuous
conspiracy trial of top Communist leaders in
1949 and served as a U. S. circuit judge until
1980. He firmly believed that the *“poor little
fellow” was an innocent tool of forces beyond
his grasp.®

The mood at the eight-day trial, jammed with
angry spectators, was ugly. Medina was spat on
in court, shunned by friends and neighbors, and
bawled out by his mother for mixing with Nazis.
Cramer took the stand, raising a novel issue of
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whether he counted as a confessor or a second
witness. The central questions of fact for the
jury were whether Cramer befriended Thiel for
old times sake or to help Hitler—and succeeded.
The central questions of law were the constitu-
tional controls on evidence to prove it. In a criti-
cal legal battle, Correa dropped changes of all
but three overt acts for want of two witnesses—
Cramer’s counselling Thiel and Kerling and ly-
ing to the FBI. The most incriminating evi-
dence—handling Thiel’'s money—was now ad-
missible only for intention, that requires only one
witness. The defense failed to persuade the judge
to accept a strict new theory, developed during
World War I by Lord Chief Justice Reading in
Great Britain and federal district judge
Learned Hand in the United States that re-
quired each overt act of treason to manifest
traitorous purpose and to aid the enemy, stand-
ing alone from surrounding circumstances.’
Instead, Goddard accepted the government’s anal-
ogy to conspiracy, which permitted jurors to color

Federal Judge Henry W. Goddard is shown here leaving the second perjury trial of Alger Hiss in 1950. Eight years
earlier, when he presided over the Cramer treason trial, Goddard allowed the jury to hear damaging circumstantial or
one-witness evidence. The defense had hoped to persuade him to use stricter standards and require each act to manifest
a traitorous purpose that stood alone from circumstantial evidence.
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or explain Cramer’s meetings and lies with dam-
aging circumstantial or one-witness evidence,
such as Thiel’s money belt and Norma Kopp’s tes-
timony.

In the dark days of 1942, it took little imagi-
nation to believe that Cramer purposefully aided
the enemy. The jury returned a general verdict
of guilty. The judge sentenced Cramer to forty-
five years in prison and fined him $10,000.
Goddard indicated orally that he would have im-
posed the death penalty had Cramer shown more
guilty knowledge of the saboteurs’ subversive
purposes than “a vague idea that they had come
here for the purpose of organizing pro-German
propaganda and agitation.”' Thiel’s refusal to
divulge the plot and defense counsels’ assaults
on the evidence saved Cramer’s life.

Act ll—Appeal

The trial gave rise to three main issues on
appeal. First, the defense claimed prejudice in
several pieces of evidence offered to show
Cramer’s hostile intent—to no avail. These in-
cluded sensational background testimony by
turncoat Ernest Peter Burger about the saboteurs’
mission, including pictures of their explosives,
ostensibly offered to prove that they were en-
emies, which the defense had conceded.!! Also
important was a copy of the U. S. Constitution
on which the studious Cramer had marked pas-
sages he did not understand: bills of attainder,
habeas corpus, letters of marque, and the Trea-
son Clause. However common his puzzlement,
these prewar markings had a palpable impact
on jurors alongside his letters of 1941 to rela-
tives and Thiel in Germany praising their glori-
ous army and damning American war fever in
prose laced with Nietzsche.!

Second, the defense challenged the evidence,
in law and fact, as too weak to prove Cramer’s
traitorous motives. Medina always saw Cramer
as a humble mechanic who befriended Thiel to
enliven a drab life and to recover his money.'?

Third, and more daringly, the defense at-
tacked the legal sufficiency of the three overt acts
for failing to openly manifest treason, according
to Learned Hand’s dictum in U. S. v. Robinson."
This theory, which vexed prosecutors from the
start, rejected the conspiracy analogy for trea-
son. As Hand interpreted the coupling of overt
acts with the two-witness rule, an overt act in
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itself must evince traitorous intent and tend to
assist an enemy on the direct testimony of two
witnesses. Unlike conspiracy, facially innocent
acts, circumstantial evidence, even frustrated
attempts, must be excluded by jurors in finding
aid and comfort. This theory would have made
Cramer’s conviction hard to sustain. Was drink-
ing beer with friends treason? Were recanted
lies in captivity without benefiting anyone trea-
son? No precedents existed.

The government, importing common law of
attempts into the law of treason, countered with
the traditional view that the offense of adhering,
as distinct from levying war, was primarily a
crime of betrayed allegiance. Overt acts of aid
and comfort served merely to confirm that hos-
tile attitudes ripened into action. As in con-
spiracy, overt acts could be inferred from sur-
rounding circumstances provided that direct
proof of two witnesses supported them. This
theory would make conviction easy to sustain.
In a key English precedent, Lord Preston’s
Case,"® merely entering a rowboat sufficed.
Cramer’s conferring with secret Nazi agents in
a cafeteria looked worse.

Just as counsel presented rival pictures of
Cramer at the trial, so two legal theories—the
traditional analogy to conspiracy and Learned
Hand’s dictum—thereafter vied for acceptance
in construing the treason clause. One accented
intention, the other action. This conflict even-
tually became the central issue in the Supreme
Court. The closer the Justices got to it, the nearer
they came to defining the substantive content of
treason—and to drawing the lines of permissible
government control of thought, speech, and ac-
tion, which was a hallmark of the tribunal’s First
Amendment jurisprudence. Decision on the
merits necessarily would convert constitutional
interpretation into constitutional construction.

On appeal to the U. S. Court of Appeals for
the Second Circuit, the defense raised all three
objections but stressed improper and inadequate
proof of hostile purpose. Assuming that only “a
most courageous court” would dismiss treason
charges amid a war, Medina hoped at best to win
a new trial in a calmer atmosphere, even though
that meant defending Cramer all over again with-
out pay or expenses.'s (Assigned counsel in those
days received nothing.) The effort yielded little
except a lucid opinion by circuit judge Charles
E. Clark affirming the government’s legal theory
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that “no more need be laid for an overt act of
treason than for an overt act of conspiracy, which
has never been thought of as itself establishing
the unlawful scheme.”"’

The defense fared far better in the Supreme
Court, which granted review and additional time
for oral argument. Conditions were ripe for re-
view. The Roosevelt Court was crossing the
threshold of a revolution in its role as a guard-
ian of individual rights across a broad front of
constitutional guarantees. Some Justices were
resisting deference to executive authority over
civil liberties in wartime. A cluster of divisive
cases challenging compulsory flag salutes, de-
portation, and the Japanese Relocation program,
all tested government control of political loyal-
ties. This case raised novel problems in relating
the substantive elements of treason to each other
and to the two-witness rule in a field of law that
Solicitor General Charles Fahy thought vitally
affected national security.'®

The oral argument between Medina and Fahy
opened on March 9, 1944, in a nearly empty
chamber. Few observers assumed that much
could be made of this in forma pauperis appeal.
Cramer was a nobody, and his lawyers’ main
weapon was Hand’s lonely dictum. What en-
sued was a great oral argument featuring two
conscientious, unconventional, and lushly
mustachioed gladiators of opposite styles.
Medina was a big, colorful showman with a
booming voice, whom his former student Jus-
tice William O. Douglas described as “bright,
able, and a ham actor.”!® Fahy was a trim, strong-
willed, and courtly Southerner, much admired
in Washington, who spoke so softly the Justices
called him “Whispering Charlie.”?

Medina, doubting his chance to win on the
Treason Clause, emphasized the “highly preju-
dicial” evidence. Hardly had he begun when the
well-prepared Justices showered him with ques-
tions all at once and he broke conventional rules.
Unflustered, he held up his arm as if to ward off
blows, and said: “One at a time, please.” That
quieted everyone except Justice Felix Frank-
furter.?! When someone questioned the hostile
trial atmosphere, the lawyer replied: “The prob-
lem appears differently from where you sit and
down here.”? Treason charges perforce create
hostility in wartime, he explained, going outside
the record by recounting his own mistreatment
to prove it.
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The Justices’ questions revealed interest in all
his bait. As word spread of a spellbinding argu-
ment in progress, the courtroom filled. Specta-
tors sensed that Medina was winning over the
Justices on flawed evidence. His account of the
impact of Cramer’s marked Constitution on the
jury, a law clerk recalled forty years later, was
“dramatic as hell.” Several reporters, clerks, and
Justices rated Medina’s first argument in Cramer
as the finest they ever heard.?

Fahy, a generalist with other important causes
pending, seemed overpowered in this scene by
his forceful opponent, totally in command of the
facts, who had concentrated on this case for
months. But Fahy did well enough, and his scene
would come. The highest court in the land was
troubled over the meaning of treason. Both coun-
sel closed uncertain of the outcome.?*

And well they might. During initial delib-
erations every Justice except Stanley F. Reed
voted to reverse the conviction for prejudicial evi-
dence, but they were wide apart on the other is-
sues. For example, Justice Frank Murphy seemed
willing to count Cramer as a witness, and Dou-
glas thought false swearing was a “plainly valid”
overt act. These views troubled Medina’s former
mentor at Columbia, Chief Justice Harlan Fiske
Stone.” Stone,.recognizing that “we are free to
adopt [the] proper rule” in a case of first impres-
sion, championed the government’s position on
the merits. It was “wholly unreasonable to say
that the acts must show treason on their face,”
Douglas recorded him as saying in conference.
“[T]reason may be formed by intent alone—{[the]
overt act merely supports it.”?¢ Justices Owen
D. Roberts, Frankfurter, and perhaps Reed em-
braced Hand’s opposing theory. An overt act
must bear a hallmark of treason or at least not be
an innocent or inconsequential act, Roberts as-
serted, lest the two-witness rule become super-
fluous. After lengthy discussion, the Justices
decided to reverse for inflammatory evidence and
“let the rest lie.”” Stone assigned the opinion to
his like-minded colleague, Hugo L. Black.

Stone and Black, from different angles, then
unravelled this consensus. Overcoming custom-
ary strictures against deciding constitutional
questions unnecessarily, Stone urged his col-
leagues to decide the central question “now, so
that the jury might be properly instructed on a
new trial.”*® To adopt the defense view of overt
acts, he feared, would emasculate the Trea-
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son Clause on the home front. Further, it
would revive the thorny problem of “diminish-
ing treason”-—whether Congress could punish
treasonable conduct under lesser offenses with-
out treason’s special rules—which he had skirted
in Quirin.?

Stone’s pressure opened up a Pandora’s box
of divergent views, strong feelings, and brilliant
internal debate. Douglas thought the Court
should avoid “a close division of views on an
important question in the middle of the war.”*
Frankfurter wrote tartly to Roberts:

[T]he Chief thinks that the hurdles that
the Constitution makers placed in it
for successful treason prosecutions
are almost too difficult to overcome
and therefore we ought to lower them.
Wise old Ben Franklin convinced the
Constitution makers that “prosecu-
tions for treason were generally viru-
lent; and perjury too easily made use
of againstinnocence.” In other words,
war disturbs minds so that even hon-
est people fall easy victims to self-de-
lusion or rumor and will swear to things
that never happened. War also is fine
pickins for professional informers and
generally men of low character. And
so the Constitution decided that it is
not enough to prove treasonable
agreements, you must also prove “an
overt act” and, what is more, you must
prove it by two witnesses.

Making it “extremely difficult to prove treason,”
added Frankfurter, was “precisely what Franklin
meant to accomplish.” “But it is absurd to sug-
gest that that makes proof of treason impossible.
An overheard incriminating conversation by
Cramer would fit the requirement of an overt
act, and I am too stupid to find any difficulty in
the Saboteur case.”™

Black then changed his mind about prejudi-
cial evidence after a careful reading of the record,
and Douglas went along. Calling this “an Ameri-
can trial at its best,” Black agreed with Stone
that should prosecutors lose here, he doubted “if
there could be many convictions for treason un-
less American citizens were actually found in
the army of the enemy.”*

The Chief Justice reassigned the opinion to
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Justice Robert H. Jackson, who circulated an
opinion reversing the conviction for improper
and indecisive evidence of treasonable motives,
avoiding the main issue dividing the Court. Only
Frankfurter, apostle of judicial restraint, thought
Jackson’s opinion “just right.”** Admitting their
confusion, Jackson told his colleagues with
characteristic pith: the reasons given may not
“ring quite true, but they are the best I can think
of ....7"%

After more conferences in May 1944, the
Court ordered a reargument as to the meaning
of treason, an overt act, the two-witness require-
ment, and whether each overt act submitted to
the jury complied with the Constitution. This
led to a climax that Jackson and Rutledge viewed
as important as any of the Term.*

Act 1ll—Reargument

Reargument inspired exceptional advocacy.
The lawyers, conscious of working in “a new
chapter in the constitutional history of the United
States,” took the Court’s questions as a call for
searching historical analysis of treason.* In an
unusual move, Fahy commissioned an “objec-
tive and thorough” history of treason in English,
American, and canon law, to be presented in an
impartial style.”’” The main study was assigned
to James Willard Hurst, former law secretary to
Justice Louis B. Brandeis and future dean of
American legal historians, then on loan from the
Navy. The Court postponed oral argument until
the scholars completed their work. Cramer
stayed in jail.

Hurst’s classic study, attached as a 360-page
appendix to Fahy’s brief, faced both ways. In
general, Hurst affirmed the Framers’ basic policy
of restricting treason to the minimum necessary
to protect the community, reminding us that the
treason clause was the Constitution’s primary
bulwark of free political expression before adop-
tion of the First Amendment. In particular, how-
ever, he confirmed the prosecution’s analogy to
conspiracy. Learned Hand’s theory, albeit a plau-
sible interpretation of ambiguous language,
rested on dubious precedent and logic. If acts
could bespeak treason, why was intention a sepa-
rate element of the crime?*

Defense counsel, conducting extensive inde-
pendent research, shifted emphasis from doubt-
ful intention to a bold, functional attack on in-
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sufficient overt acts. Pressing Hand’s theory of
the Treason Clause, they abandoned earlier as-
sumptions that American law absorbed English
precedents and contended that the Constitution
made an abrupt break from the past. Requiring
two witnesses to the same overt acts showed that
the Framers “never intended to include mere at-
tempts or abortive conspiracies.” Constructive
treasons went out “lock, stock, and barrel.” The
closer analogy was levying war. To counter all-
or-nothing arguments that overt acts would com-
prise the whole offense, Medina, offering a com-
promise, reminded the Court that manifesting
intent was a question of degree: overt acts need
only “give color and credence of the treasonable
design.”® But the theme was the same. Ac-
tion was the meat of the crime. Traitors must
not only intentionally tender but render aid
and comfort to the enemy on the testimony of
two witnesses.*'

The second oral argument on November 6,
1944, which the Justices again lengthened, was
an exciting occasion. An expectant crowd,

Harold R. Medina, Sr., shown
here puffing away in
retirement, led the defense of
Anthony Cramer in the
treason case. A brilliant oral
advocate and prominent
attorney, Medina devoted a
year of his professional time
and lost a year of earnings to
defend the unpopular Nazi
sympathizer. He was spat on
in court and even his mother
criticized him for taking on
Cramer’s defense. Nonethe-
less, many insiders reported
that Medina’s first argument
in the case was the finest they
had ever heard.

sprinkled with high officials, diplomats, and their
spouses, overflowed the courtroom to watch his-
tory in the making. To those in the audience,
counsel did not disappoint. Medina made a “stir-
ring argument” that no one should be branded a
traitor for acts lacking essential traitorous pur-
pose or effect. Mrs. Stanley F. Reed thought it a
masterpiece.*

Fahy performed ably. Postponement freed
him from having to argue Korematsu,” Endo,*
Screws,” and Cramer all in a fortnight. Armed
with a memorandum from Hurst, he advanced a
“solid core™ of principles in the law of treason.
Levying war was a crime of action. Adhering
was a crime of the mind. Overt acts of aid and
comfort were required, as in common law, to
ensure that action confirmed thought—and no
more. The two-witness rule was an evidentiary
standard, “not a requirement that the act itself
must prove its purpose.” Tested by traditional
principles, Cramer’s was “as clear a case of trea-
son as could well be imagined,” he whispered
with piercing sincerity.*



The Justices quickly settled into a stable, five-
four split. The Chief Justice became the chief
spokesman of the government’s view that overt
acts were “colorless” as to intent. Had the Fram-
ers “intended to use overt act[s] to form substan-
tially [the] whole crime,” he asserted, “they
would have said so—any other construction
would put us into difficulty.”*’ Reed now agreed.
He wrote Douglas,

Traitorous thoughts were barred by the
definition of treason and not by the
requirement of two witnesses. We can
only imagine what was the purpose of
shifting the English requirement of two
witnesses io treason to two witnesses
to the same overt act. | think it was
merely an intention to increase the
quantity of the required evidence.*

Justice Roberts, second in seniority, champi-
oned the opposite view that the purpose of overt
acts was “to keep mere conspiracies from being
treason.” A defendant must “give aid and com-
fort by open act and deed.”” This functional
linkage of procedure and substance became the
touchstone of decision. Justices Wiley B.
Rutledge, Frankfurter, and Murphy endorsed it.
“In my opinion, the very least the overt act per
se must show is ‘aid and comfort’ to the enemy,”
Rutledge told Jackson; “the procedural safeguard,
though relating to a special danger—perjury—
is not unrelated, it is rather very closely related
to the substantive definition of the crime.”*
Frankfurter felt all along that “single witnesses
for substantive acts are not enough.” Murphy
concluded that the Framers aimed to make trea-
son convictions “almost impossible.”*

Jackson’s main task as Court spokesman was
explaining the result without losing this narrow
majority. A foe of expansive conspiracy pros-
ecutions, he initially favored the defense’s “rea-
sonably manifested intent” test based on a clean
republican slate. While hating to say that the
Court was applying the Framers’ intent to a ques-
tion they did not contemplate, he was impressed
that the delegates at Philadelphia had accepted
every proposed limit and rejected every proposed
expansion of federal treason power. Fidelity to
their dominant attitude of severely restricting
treason, he concluded from Hurst’s history and
his own research, was the “one sure thing.”s
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Still, Jackson was troubled by a practical di-
lemma: the government position would destroy
two-witness protection, and the defense position
would make treason convictions exceedingly
rare. “No middle ground” seemed tenable.>

Jackson found a middle ground in a func-
tional approach to aid and comfort suggested by
the defense and his law clerk, Phil C. Neal, later
dean of the University of Chicago Law School.
In short, rather than requiring overt acts to show
intent, the Court should focus on giving effect to
the Framers’ basic goal of trustworthy proof of
treason—a concern implicit in Hand’s dictum.
Jackson accepted Neal’s suggestion, even though
it left treason undefined. A majority of five thus
reversed the conviction on what Rutledge called
the “narrowest basis” possible—insufficient
proof of overt acts in the two meetings—leaving
the nettles of Cramer’s intentions, admissions,
and lies to another day.”® Stone, Reed, Black,
and Douglas dissented.

Jackson’s opinion for the Court was a remark-
able piece of judicial craftsmanship. It sliced
through the bogs of history as well as Cramer’s
(and the Framers’) intentions to decide “a more
fundamental issue”: the function of the overt act
in convicting of treason.”® The result declared
and clarified central principles of American trea-
son law.

On the one hand, the entire Court accepted
the government’s theory and rejected the Hand
theory of aid and comfort, because manifesting
bad motives “would place on the overt act the
whole burden of establishing a complete trea-
son.” On the other hand, the majority repudi-
ated efforts to construct Cramer’s conduct into
treason, because that reduced the function of
overt acts to “almost zero.” To fulfill the
Founders’ purpose of making proof of treason
“as sure as trial processes may,” the majority
announced two rulings of general application.
First, as Medina argued, the “very minimum
function” of overt acts was convincing proof that
the accused actually aided the enemy. Second,
as Neal proposed, two-witness protection ex-
tended “at least to all acts of the defendant which
are used to draw incriminating inferences that
aid and comfort have been given.” The Court
forbade “imputation of incriminating acts to the
accused by circumstantial evidence or by the tes-
timony of a single witness.”’

The two standards severely restricted Ameri-
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can law of treason, as the case at hand illustrated.
The sum of overt acts established by direct evi-
dence of two witnesses, Jackson concluded, was
that Cramer, Thiel, and Kerling talked, tippled,
and trifled together. He wrote:

There is no two-witness proof of what
they said nor in what language they
conversed. There is no showing that
Cramer gave them any information
whatever of value to their mission or
indeed that he had any to give. No
effort at secrecy is shown, for they met
in public places. Cramer furnished
them no shelter, nothing that can be
called sustenance or supplies, and
there is no evidence that he gave
them encouragement or counsel, or
even paid for their drinks.%®

In closing, Jackson took pains to deny that
the new standards were too exacting or disabled
Congress from creating lesser offenses to pro-
tect national security in wartime. Treason was
“not the only nor can it well serve as the princi-
pal legal weapon to vindicate our national cohe-
sion and security.” Treason, the “gravest of all
crimes,” was sui generis.®®

As Jackson prepared for the war-crime trials
in Nuremberg, unlikely bedfellows Murphy and
Roberts ranked his “splendid” opinion with “the
best ever written by a Justice of the Court.”®! The
steaming dissent did little to dispel the reputa-
tions of Stone, Black, and Douglas as deferential
“war hawks” in World War II. Douglas’s minor-
ity opinion castigated the Court for distorting his-
tory and creating an unworkable constitutional
command. Inseparable evidence, the dissenters
argued, would require two witnesses for all ele-
ments of the crime, except when the accused con-
fesses in open court. Though Fahy conceded that
Cramer’s testimony was not a confession, they
seemed incensed at excluding his money han-
dling. Douglas declared: “Such a result makes
the way easy for the traitor, does violence to the
Constitution and makes justice truly blind.”%

Epilogue
The Supreme Court’s treason decision, an-

nounced on April 23, 1945, a fortnight before
V-E Day, attracted scant public notice. The ap-
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proaching German surrender and the shock of
the Holocaust overshadowed it in the news. Sub-
sequent events refuted predictions, on and off the
Court, that the decision would cripple treason
prosecutions. Eight convictions for aiding the
enemy during World War II were upheld on ap-
peal. These included Herbert Haupt’s father by
an 8-1 vote and several cases involving broad-
casters of enemy propaganda, such as Douglas
Chandler.®* Yet, Cramer’s high standards did
influence prosecutors to charge lesser offenses
under conspiracy and espionage statutes against
alleged internal enemies during the Cold War.*
The net effect of diminishing treason by charg-
ing statutory offenses, rather than by directly cir-
cumventing the Constitution’s two-witness rule,
was to shift power from courts to statutemakers
in political crimes. Treason, defined by the Con-
stitution, remains sui generis.

The intrepid defense of Anthony Cramer,
costing Medina a year of professional time and
$100,000 in lost earnings, was hailed widely as
a “great professional achievement” in the finest
traditions of the American bar. Lawyers across
a wide ideological spectrum, from Leon Jaworski
to William M. Kunstler, ranked Cramer among
classic causes in which a prominent advocate
braved hostility to defend an accused in a time
of popular passion.®® To illustrate the irresistible
power of personality in the appellate process,
Fahy placed Medina among great appellate ad-
vocates who grasped the secret of oral argument:
“Be oneself.” That was the rub to Frankfurter,
who said Medina in Cramer was “the most in-
sufferable egotist by long odds” ever to appear
before him.®

Still, the case was not over. The charges could
be retried. Neither side was eager to risk it.
Cramer pleaded guilty to charges of violating the
Trading With the Enemy Act and was sentenced
to six years in jail. How ironic! Having en-
gaged many of the best legal minds in America
for three years, the case confirmed initial fears
of government staff attorneys that treason charges
were excessive against several harborers.®

The Cramer case was filled with such iro-
nies. In conclusion, let us consider one of spe-
cial interest to our society: the role of history in
this constitutional adjudication. The adage—
“when war comes, laws become silent”—ex-
presses hard experience even in constitutional
governments. History followed function in the
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leading saboteur and treason cases of World War
II. A political rush to judgment in Quirin®
pressed the Court into a needless sacrifice of prin-
ciple. The tribunal scuttled its own history—
the Milligan® open-court rule. Cramer, by con-
trast, was the counterpart of Milligan in being
decided toward the end of a ghastly war, when
the public mood brimmed over with idealism and
hope for a better world under law. It was the
sole instance during the conflict in which the
Justices defended civil liberties against execu-
tive war power by stiffening rather than avoid-
ing the Constitution. The Treason Clause, the
charter’s original guarantee of peaceful political
dissent, thus joined the First Amendment in
moving the lines of permissible public con-
trol over personal loyalties and free expres-
sion closer to harmful action. The combina-
tion was one of the Roosevelt Court’s great
wartime achievements.

Cramer also foreshadowed Brown v. Board
of Education™ in the players’ serious search for
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guidance in history. Justice Douglas later called
it a case about “how you read history.””" Like
Earl Warren in Brown, however, Robert H. Jack-
son found the irritatingly ambiguous history “of
little help™ and took refuge in text and function.”
Indeed, Frederick Bernays Wiener blamed Fahy’s
very attempt to apply “objective” history for lead-
ing the Court into making a “whopping histori-
cal boner,” because this confused the roles of a
fighting adversary with an impartial amicus.”™
History followed function in Britain, too. To fit
law to proof in Lord Haw-Haw’s treason case, Par-
liament repealed the historic two-witness rule!”™

Anthony Cramer sensed these mysteries—
the baffling “metaphysic of life”—in his case.”™
In 1950, basking in freedom “like a bear after
hibernation,” he recalled a prewar stroll with
Werner Thiel on the East Side, during which an
East-Indian fortune-teller prophesied that Thiel
would die in the electric chair and Cramer would
serve a long prison term. The two friends had
“laughed about the silly man, and readily forgot

Anthony Cramer, a forty-two-year-old mechanic, was photographed leaving federal court in a U. S. Marshal’s van
after hearing the jury pronounce him guilty. His sentence was overturned by the Supreme Court, which set a stricter
standard for determining treason.
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the incident.” Now Cramer wondered whether
the oracle had some special sight or made a ran-
dom guess?’s Judge Knox, seeing his letters, was
surprised that Cramer was so literate, “almost
poetic.””” Was Cramer really just a humble me-
chanic who read too much Nietzsche?

Perhaps only Clio, history’s muse, really
knew. Certainly few principals in this case could
have foreseen how soon the great issue of indi-
vidual loyalty versus national security would re-
turn to haunt them—and virtually reverse judi-
cial tables—as the government, bound by Cramer
standards, employed lesser crimes against alleged
internal enemies in the coming Cold War.
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The Saboteurs’ Case

David J. Danelski

The Saboteurs’ Case—Ex parte Quirin—
arose June 27, 1942, when the FBI announced
the capture of eight German saboteurs who had
landed on American shores carrying crates of
explosives.! Within a week, President Franklin
D. Roosevelt ordered a secret military trial of
the saboteurs and issued a proclamation closing
the civil courts to them. Three weeks after the
trial began, the Supreme Court convened in spe-
cial session to determine the trial’s constitution-
ality. Relaxing its rules, the Court decided the
case in less than twenty-four hours. Three
months later—after six of the saboteurs had been
executed—the Court delivered its formal opin-
ion. That was just the surface of the case. Un-
derlying the official version is a fascinating tale
of intrigue, betrayal, and propaganda; a prosecu-
tion designed to obtain the death penalty; ques-
tions of judicial disqualification; a rush to judg-
ment, an agonizing effort to justify a fair
accompli; negotiation, compromise, and even
an appeal to patriotism in an effort to achieve a
unanimous opinion.

Intrigue and Betrayal

When the United States declared war on Ger-
many in 1941, Adolph Hitler himself demanded
prompt action against the Americans on their
own soil. The German High Command re-

sponded with a plan to send saboteurs to the
United States by U-boat. The plan had both mili-
tary and propaganda goals. The saboteurs were
instructed not only to blow up American war
plants, bridges, and transportation facilities, but
also to set explosive devices in department stores
and railroad stations to create public panic. The
High Command assigned the task of recruiting
and training the saboteurs to Lieutenant Walter
Kappe, a thirty-seven-year-old loyal Nazi who
had lived in the United States for twelve years,
working mostly as a journalist for German-lan-
guage newspapers. He was very active in the
German-American Bund; in the mid-1930s he
had challenged Fritz Kuhn—the American
Fuehrer—for leadership of the Bund. A man with
an ironic sense of humor, Kappe gave the Ameri-
can mission its code name, “Operation Pastorius,”
after Franz Daniel Pastorius, leader of the first
German immigrant community in Pennsylvania,
and Kappe chose the Fourth of July, 1942, as the
day for his agents’ first rendezvous in the United
States.?

Kappe sought recruits like himself—Ger-
mans who had lived in the United States for sev-
eral years and who had proven their loyalty to
the Reich by returning to the Fatherland after
Hitler rose to power. Kappe recruited twelve
agents and chose eight of them for Operation
Pastorius. He then divided the eight into two



groups of four, each with a leader. He chose
George John Dasch and Edward John Kerling
as leaders.

Dasch, a former waiter who had been edu-
cated in a Catholic seminary in Dusseldorf, came
to the United States in 1922 at the age of nine-
teen and returned to Germany in 1940. Although
he had not been a member of the Nazi Party or
the Bund, Dasch managed to get a job in the
German foreign office as a radio monitor and
translator. Voluble and egocentric, he impressed
Kappe with his glib intelligence and American
manners and speech.

Kerling had joined the Nazi Party in 1928
when he was an engineering student at Freiburg
University. Emigrating to the United States in
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1929 at the age of twenty-one, he made arrange-
ments to continue his Party membership. His
membership number was under 100,000, which
placed him in the Old Guard and gave him spe-
cial status in the party. Until his return to Ger-
many in 1940, Kerling had been employed as a
butler and chauffeur for wealthy Americans, but,
unlike Dasch, he had not become Americanized.
Kappe was impressed by Kerling’s intelligence,
strength of character, and loyalty to the Nazi
cause. When Kappe recruited him, Kerling was
working for the Propaganda Ministry.’

Two of Kappe’s recruits—Ernest Peter
Burger and Herbert Hans Haupt—were natural-
ized American citizens. Burger, who was thirty-
five, had participated in Hitler’s Munich Beer

Of the eight German
saboteurs, only two, Ernest
Peter Burger and Edward
John Kerling, had been
active members of the Nazi
Party before the war,
although four of the others
had been members of the
Bund. At left is an early Nazi
rally featuring Adolf Hitler
at center.




JOURNAL 1996, vol. |

Hall Putsch in 1923. He came to the United
States in 1927 and worked in the Midwest as a
machinist. Soon after his naturalization in 1933,
he returned to Germany and became an aide-de-
camp to Ernest Roehm, chief of the Nazi Storm
Troopers. In that capacity, he met Hitler several
times. Surviving the bloody purge in 1934 in
which Roehm was murdered, Burger managed
to secure a minor position in the Nazi Party’s
domestic propaganda office in Berlin. During
the late 1930s he studied geopolitics with Pro-
fessor Karl Haushafer at the University of Ber-
lin, graduating in 1939. The following year the
Gestapo arrested him for forging government
documents, held him for seventeen months, and
then released him without trial. When Kappe
located Burger, he was an infantry private guard-
ing prisoners of war at a camp near Berlin,
Haupt, at twenty-two, was the youngest recruit.
He had arrived in Germany almost by accident
in December 1941. Naturalized in 1930 when
his parents had become citizens, Haupt grew up
in Chicago, attended high school, and became
an optician’s apprentice. In 1941, he fled to
Mexico when his girlfriend became pregnant.
Unable to find employment, he accepted help
from the German consulate in Mexico City to go
to Japan to work in a monastery. Appalled by
the working conditions at the monastery, which
turned out to be a labor camp, Haupt left Japan
as soon as he could and wound up on a ship bound
for Germany. He sought employment in Ger-
many without success until Kappe recruited him.*

The remaining recruits—Heinrich Harm
Heinck, Richard Quirin, Werner Thiel, and
Hermann Neubauer—had almost indistinguish-
able backgrounds. They were all in their early
thirties, had elementary and trade-school edu-
cations, had lived in the United States for ap-
proximately a decade, had blue-collar occupa-
tions, and had been members of the Bund. With
the exception of Neubauer, all were working in
factories when Kappe recruited them. Neubauer,
who had been drafted upon his return to Germany
and sent to the Russian front, was recovering from
shrapnel wounds at a medical center in Vienna
when Kappe found him.’

All but Burger and Haupt—the naturalized
citizens—received new identities. George John
Dasch became George John Davis, who had been
born in San Francisco before the earthquake.
Edward John Kerling became Edward J. Kelly,
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because Dasch once said he looked like an Irish
bartender. Kappe similarly gave aliases to the
other men. The recruits received instruction for
approximately a month from experts on sabo-
tage techniques at a special training camp lo-
cated at Quenz Lake near Brandenburg and on
visits to war plants in Berlin. They learned about
explosives, detonators, invisible writing, and
ways to send messages back to Germany. They
received specific plans to sabotage aluminum
plants in Tennessee, Illinois, and New York, a
cryolite plant in Philadelphia, bridges in the New
York area, canal locks near Pittsburgh, railroads
in the Northeast, and other targets, including de-
partment stores and railroad stations. Kappe
agreed with Dasch that the saboteurs should not
begin their sabotage program for at least two
months after their landings. Dasch and Kerling
received special handkerchiefs with the names
of contacts written in invisible ink. Each group
of four received more than $80,000 in American
currency, most of which Dasch and Kerling car-
ried. Finally, before they boarded U-boats at
Lorient, a seaport in Occupied France, the eight
men signed contracts agreeing to specific com-
pensation for their work and pledged, upon pen-
alty of death, not to tell anyone about the mis-
sion. On May 27, Kerling, Thiel, Neubauer, and
Haupt boarded a U-boat bound for Florida. The
next day, Dasch, Burger, Heinck, and Quirin
boarded another U-boat bound for New York.¢
Just after midnight on June 13, Dasch and
his group, dressed or partly dressed in the uni-
form of the German Marine Infantry, landed with
four crates of explosives and detonators on
Amagansett Beach, Long Island. While his men
were changing into civilian clothing, Dasch en-
countered a young unarmed Coastguardsman on
the foggy beach. Dasch, who was also unarmed,
told the young man that he was a fisherman from
Southhampton who had run aground and that
he planned to wait on the beach until sunrise.
The Coastguardsman suggested that he wait at
the nearby Coast Guard station. At first Dasch
agreed and then refused, saying he did not have
a fishing permit. When the Coastguardsman told
him to come along anyway, Dasch said he did
not want to have to kill him. At that point,
Burger approached and said something in Ger-
man; Dasch told him to go back with the others.
Dasch then offered the Coastguardsman $260 to
forget what he had seen. Dasch also asked the
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young man to take a good look at him and said
that his name was George John Davis. The
Coastguardsman man ran back to his station, re-
ported the incident, and turned in the money.
By the time Coast Guard personnel returned to
the place where Dasch had been seen, the Ger-
mans had finished burying the explosives and
were on their way to New York City. The
Coastguardsmen eventually found the cache of
explosives and buried uniforms, and approxi-
mately twelve hours after the German agents
landed, the Coast Guard reported the matter to
the FBI

Upon arriving in New York City, the four
German agents paired off, and Burger accompa-
nied Dasch. The next day, June 14, Dasch told
Burger that before he had left Germany he had
resolved to betray Operation Pastorius, and he
said that he intended to go to Washington, D.C.,
on June 18 to make a full report. Dasch said
that he was delaying the trip in order to give the
others—particularly Haupt—a chance to turn
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themselves in. Burger said that he had suspected
that Dasch had such a plan and that he agreed
with it. Dasch assured Burger that in making
his report, he would tell the authorities of
Burger’s willingness to turn himself in. The two
men then decided to call the FBI in New York
immediately to inform the agency that Dasch
would be coming to Washington in four days to
make his report. Using the alias Franz Daniel
Pastorius, Dasch made the call. The agent who
took it recorded Dasch’s message but filed it with-
out taking action because he thought it was a
crank call.®

Just after midnight on June 17, Kerling and
his group, wearing German Marine Infantry caps
and swimming suits, landed without incident at
Ponte Vedra, Florida, and departed separately for
Chicago and New York. On June 18, Dasch went
to Washington, checked into the Mayflower Ho-
tel, and the next day called the FBI. Soon there-
after, FBI agents took him to the Department of
Justice. At first, Dasch said, the agents were skep-

During the war the Coast Guard patrolled the shores scouting for U-boats and evidence of enemy penetration. One such
Coastguardsman in Amagansett Beach, Long Island, came across Nazi saboteur George John Dasch, who offered him
a $260 bribe to keep quiet. Unarmed, the Coastguardsman let him slip away but alerted the FBI that German agents
had landed and left a cache of explosives.
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tical about his story, but when he took out his
briefcase and dumped more than $80,000 on the
table, they took him seriously. He began by say-
ing that he had come to the FBI as part of his
mission to fight Hitler and his crew from the out-
side. For five days Dasch dictated his report,
which ran 254 pages single spaced. Dasch pro-
posed that he act as a double agent and meet
with the other members of his group as planned
on July 4 in Cincinnati, but FBI Director J. Edgar
Hoover, fearing that the saboteurs at large might
begin their sabotage before that date, rejected the
idea. Acting on the information supplied by
Dasch, the FBI captured the remanining seven
agents by June 27—Burger, Quirin, Heinck,
Kerling, and Thiel in New York, and Haupt and
Neubauer in Chicago. Dasch, who had been in
protective custody, now agreed to be locked up
with the others in New York City.*

On June 27, Hoover called a press confer-
ence at the New York FBI office to announce the
capture of the eight German saboteurs. Hoover
disclosed the sabotage plans and described the
landings of the saboteurs, but he said nothing
about the Coast Guard’s discoveries at
Amagansett Beach and nothing about Dasch’s
disclosures that broke the case. Hoover credited
only the FBI for the capture. As The New York
Times reported: “One after another, the sabo-
teurs fell into the special agents’ net. . . . Al-
most from the moment the first group set foot on
United States soil, the special agents of the Fed-
eral Bureau of Investigation were on their trail.”'°
Attorney General Francis Biddle was pleased
with Hoover’s statement. “The country went
wild,” he recalled. “Speculation as to how the
second landing had been discovered was in ev-
ery newspaper; and it was generally concluded
that a particularly brilliant FBI agent, probably
attending the school in sabotage where the eight
had been trained, had been able to get on the in-
side, and make regular reports to America. Mr.
Hoover, as the United Press put it, declined to
comment on whether or not FBI agents had infil-
trated into not only the Gestapo but also the High
Command, or whether he had watched the sabo-
teurs land.”"! This was the beginning of govern-
ment control on information about the Saboteurs’
Case and the government’s successful use of the
case for propaganda purposes.

On June 28, Dasch persuaded a jail guard to
show him the report of Hoover’s press confer-
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ence in the New York Daily News. Under the
headline “CAPTURED NAZI SPY,” Dasch saw
his photo. The story greatly agitated him, and
he expressed his feelings to FBI agents. They
explained to him that to fool the Nazis the full
story could not be told. Further, in the forth-
coming trial, which they expected to be in a civil
court, they wanted him to plead guilty for the
same reason. He need not worry, they said, be-
cause he would receive only a six-month sen-
tence and Biddle and Hoover would recommend
a full pardon for him. Though troubled by the
arrangement, Dasch agreed to it.'2

Prosecution

When the FBI picked up the last German
saboteur, Biddle immediately called the Presi-
dent at Hyde Park to report the capture. Biddle
also reported that the FBI had taken $175,000
from the saboteurs. “Not enough, Francis,”
ED.R. chuckled. “Let’s make real money out of
them. Sell the rights to Barnum and Bailey for
a million and a half—the rights to take them
around the country in lion cages at so much a
head. . . .”!* Having expressed comic relief,
ED.R. now gave serious thought to the prosecu-
tion of the saboteurs. He concluded that the two
American citizens, Burger and Haupt, should be
tried for “high treason” by court-martial. “Surely
they are just as guilty as it is possible to be,” he
wrote Biddle in a memorandum dated June 30,
“and it seems to me that the death penalty is al-
most obligatory.” Since the other six came in
submarines wearing naval clothing and were ap-
prehended in civilian clothing, FD.R. thought
that their case was “an absolute parallel of the
case of Major Andre in the Revolution and of
Nathan Hale. Without splitting hairs, I can see
no difference.” Again, FD.R.s inclination was
to try these men by court-martial. “Offenses such
as these,” he declared, “are probably more seri-
ous than any offense in criminal law. The death
penalty is called for by usage and by the extreme
gravity of the war aim and the very existence of
our American Government.”"

Meanwhile, lawyers at the Justice and War
Departments worked on the case. On Sunday,
June 28, Biddle told assistant solicitor general
Oscar Cox that Secretary of War Henry Stimson
was upset because lawyers at the judge advocate
general’s office told him that if the saboteurs were



Attorney General Francis Biddle thought a civilian, Sec-
retary of War Henry Stimson (above), should chair a spe-
cial military commission to try the saboteurs, instead of
having them face a civilian court. Stimson declined, but
picked the members of the all-military tribunal that pro-
vided the secrecy and swiftness the government desired.

tried in a civil court, they could be convicted of
“only a two-year offense at most.”"* Cox had
already concluded that the saboteurs should be
tried by court-martial for violating Article of War
82—relieving the enemy—and also for a pos-
sible violation of the law of war—coming
through military lines in civilian dress for pur-
pose of committing hostile acts. Both offenses
carried the death penalty. The next day Cox sub-
mitted a memorandum recommending that the
saboteurs be charged with at least those two of-
fenses.'® Biddle and Cox then met with Stimson,
Judge Advocate General Myron C. Cramer, and
others to discuss the saboteurs’ prosecution. To
Stimson’s surprise, “Biddle, instead of straining
every nerve to retain civil jurisdiction of these
saboteurs, was quite ready to turn them over to a
military court.”"” Biddle then proposed instead
of a court-martial a special military commission
chaired by Stimson. After a long discussion,
Stimson rejected the proposal, but he liked the
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idea of a civilian chairman and asked his
undersecretary, Robert Patterson, if he would be
willing to serve as chairman. Patterson answered
that he thought the commission should be wholly
military. That evening at dinner Stimson raised
the issue with Justice Felix Frankfurter. “I
found,” Stimson recorded in his diary, “that
Frankfurter rather shared Patterson’s view that
the court should be entirely composed of sol-
diers.”"

On June 30, Biddle wrote the President ex-
plaining why he wanted the saboteurs tried by
military commission. Such a trial, he said, would
be swifter, the charge of violation of the law of
war—crossing behind the lines in civilian dress
to commit hostile acts—would be easier to prove,
and the penalty would be death. Under ordinary
criminal law, he added, the clearest offense was
attempted sabotage punishable by imprisonment
of only thirty years, and that offense would be
difficult to prove. Espionage and treason, Biddle
acknowledged, were death-penalty offenses, but,
again, they would be difficult to prove. Under
the Constitution, he pointed out, a treason con-
viction can be had only upon a confession in open
court or by testimony of two witnesses to the same
overtact. In addition to problems of proof, Biddle
thought that charging Burger and Haupt with
treason “might give rise to the implication that
we should accord to [these] two enemies the
privilege of habeas corpus proceedings against
the Military Commission.” Besides, he added,
there was some evidence that they had forfeited
their citizenship. “All the prisoners,” Biddle con-
cluded, “can thus be denied access to our
courts.”"”

Although Biddle had not mentioned it in his
memorandum, he had another reason for trial
by military commission—secrecy. As Stimson
wrote in his diary, Biddle insisted at the outset
on absolute secrecy as to the evidence in the case.
“He told me,” Stimson recorded, “of the particu-
lar evidence which was especially dangerous to
have come out and said that he told it to no one
else.”® Apparently the “particular evidence” was
Dasch’s statement resulting in the capture of the
saboteurs. Other evidence Biddle most likely did
not want disclosed was the ease with which U-
boats landed the saboteurs, the New York FBI
office’s ignoring Dasch’s initial call, and the fact
that the Coast Guard did not report the Long
Island landing to the FBI for twelve hours.
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Biddle also recommended that FD.R. issue
a proclamation closing the civil courts to all “per-
sons who are subjects, citizens, or residents of
any nation at war with the United States or who
give obedience to or act under the direction of
any such nation and who during time of war enter
or attempt to enter the United States . . . and are
charged with committing or attempting or pre-
paring to commit sabotage, espionage, hostile
or warlike acts, or violations of the laws of war.”
The proclamation, Biddle told F.D.R., would
have the effect of denying the saboteurs access
to the courts without suspending habeas corpus.
FD.R. signed the proclamation on July 2.2

Finally, Biddle recommended that ED.R.
sign an order setting up the Military Com-
mission. The order departed from provisions
of the Articles of War for general courts-mar-
tial in several respects. First, the Commis-
sion could admit evidence that had probative
value to a reasonable man, instead of following
the usual rules of evidence. Second, conviction
and sentencing would require only two-thirds
agreement instead of unanimity for the death
penalty and three-fourths for sentences of more
than ten years. Finally, the record, judgment,
and sentence in the case would be sent directly
to the President, instead of following the provi-
sions of Articles of War 46 and 50-1/2, which
provided that records of trials by military com-
missions be referred by the confirming authority
(here the President) to his staff judge advocate
or the judge advocate general and to a board of
review in cases like the saboteurs, in which ex-
ecution of any sentence required presidential
approval. Biddle’s explanation for these depar-
tures was that they “should save a considerable
amount of time.” They would, of course, also
make it easier to convict the saboteurs and sen-
. tence them to death.?

In signing the order creating the Military
Commission, ED.R. also appointed its members,
prosecutors, and defense counsel. “Shoulder-
wise,” a military observer of the trial wrote, “it
was an all-star commission, made vp of four
major generals and three brigadier generals.”?
Stimson personally chose the Commission’s
members and named his friend, Major General
Frank R. McCoy, as its president. To Stimson’s
consternation, Biddle insisted that he conduct
the prosecution. “I told him frankly,” Stimson
wrote in his diary, “I thought it was infra dig on
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his part to appear in a case of such little national
importance . . . But he seemed to have the bug
of publicity in his mind and has taken an en-
tirely different position toward the case through-
out from that which has been taken by Patterson,
McCloy and myself . . . But when he persisted
in his desire to participate in the trial, of course,
I said he could.” ED.R. also appointed Judge
Advocate General Cramer to conduct the pros-
ecution with Biddle, which disqualified Cramer
from later reviewing the record in the case prior
to presidential action. Colonel Cassius M.
Dowell, a J.A.G. officer, and Colonel Kenneth
C. Royall, an able trial lawyer from North Caro-
lina who worked in the War Department, were
appointed defense counsel.

On July 3, the defendants, including Dasch,
received notice of the following charges against
them: I) violation of the law of war (going and
appearing behind the lines in civilian dress for
the purpose of committing or attempting to com-
mit sabotage, espionage, and other hostile acts);
IT) violation of Article of War 81 (relieving the
enemy); III) violation of Article of War 82 (spy-
ing); and IV) conspiracy to commit the forgoing
offenses. When Dasch saw the charges and
learned that he could receive the death penalty,
he felt betrayed by Biddle and Hoover and de-
cided to plead not guilty. At that point, Colonel
Carl L. Ristine, a lawyer in the Army inspector-
general’s office, was appointed to represent him.

The trial was brief; less than three weeks af-
ter it began, the defense rested. Biddle, who
personally tried the government’s case, had no
doubt about the trial’s outcome. Even before the
prosecution rested, Biddle was advising FED.R.
how the case might be used for propaganda pur-
poses. Because the Germans had suppressed all
news of the case and the British were not ex-
ploiting it, Biddle wrote the President on July
16 that the United States should “broadcast all
over Europe that the eight men were caught
within one week, that they are being tried swiftly,
and that they face the death sentence.” As for
domestic publicity, Biddle recommended that
after the Military Commission found the sabo-
teurs guilty and the President approved its find-
ings, an expurgated record of the trial record be
released to the press for serialization. Biddle
also said that he was thinking about using Dasch
for propaganda purposes. “[I]t might be use-
ful,” he wrote, “to make him somewhat of a



hero, thus encouraging other German agents
to turn in their fellows, and making all agents
suspect of each other.”’?

While Biddle assumed victory and contem-
plated a propaganda strategy, his opponents—
Royall and Dowell—were planning a constitu-
tional challenge to the trial.

Constitutional Challenge

When ED.R. named Colonel Royall defense
counsel, Royall asked that civilian counsel rep-
resent the defendants. One reason for the re-
quest was that Royall and Dowell, as military
officers, had qualms about disobeying their Com-
mander-in-Chief by resorting to the civil courts
to challenge the constitutionality of their clients’
military trial. After the rejection of Royall’s re-
quest, he and Dowell wrote to F.D.R. asking for
authority to make a constitutional challenge of
the trial. Biddle told F.D.R. that he thought it
would be a mistake to deny officially counsel such
authority primarily because it might give the
public the impression that the prisoners were not
receiving a fair trial. Biddle said that if he rep-
resented the defendants he would construe the
order as permitting a habeas corpus challenge
and suggested that the President tell the defense
lawyers to use their best judgment. Marvin
Mclntyre, FD.R.’s secretary, called Royall and
Dowell and gave them essentially that message.
They responded that they would institute habeas
corpus proceedings to test the constitutionality
of the trial?

This development did not please ED.R. “I
want one thing clearly understood, Francis,” he
told Biddle, “I won’t give themup ... I won’t
hand them over to any United States marshal
armed with a writ of habeas corpus. Under-
stand?” Biddle had expected a constitutional
challenge before the Supreme Court from the
beginning, for he said that was why he wanted
F.D.R. to make him chief prosecutor in the case.
“We have to win in the Supreme Court,” Biddle
told the President, “or there will be a hell of a
mess.” “You are damned right there will be,
Mr. Attorney General,” answered the Presi-
dent.”

While the trial proceeded in secret from July
6 to July 27, Royall sought to devise some way
to make a constitutional challenge to the trial.
He called on Justice Hugo L. Black at his home
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in Alexandria, Virginia, for that purpose, but
Black declined to take any action in the matter.
Royall then telephoned Justice Owen J. Roberts,
who said that he and Black would meet with the
prosecutors and defense counsel at Roberts’ farm
in Pennsylvania on July 23. On July 22 Royall
informed the Military Commission of his plans
to initiate habeas corpus proceedings. Ristine
told the tribunal that Dasch would not be a party
to those proceedings. On July 23, Royall,
Dowell, Biddle, and Cramer met with Justices
Roberts and Black. After hearing that both
Royall and Biddle supported a constitutional
test of the military trial, Roberts and Black
discussed the matter privately and then called
Chief Justice Harlan Fiske Stone. The law-
yers received an answer immediately. Stone
would call a special session of the Court the
following week. On July 27, the Supreme
Court publicly announced it would convene
on July 29.7% ‘

Royall and Dowell filed applications for writs
of habeas corpus in the U.S. District Court for
the District of Columbia on July 28. The Dis-
trict Court immediately denied the applications.
The next day, Royall and Dowell filed applica-
tions for writs of habeas corpus in the Supreme
Court. Royall and Dowell appealed the U.S. Dis-
trict Court’s decision to the Court of Appeals for
the District of Columbia during oral arguments
before the Supreme Court. When the appeal was
denied, Royall and Dowell filed petitions for writs
of certiorari in the Supreme Court. The Court
granted certiorari on July 31, the same day it
affirmed the District Court’s action and dismissed
the petitioners’ applications for writs of habeas
corpus.

Although lawyers on both sides worked un-
der severe time constraints, they managed to file
briefs totaling more than 180 pages on July 29,
1942, the first day of oral argument. The de-
fense brief began by asserting five propositions
and then made a series of supporting arguments.
In summary, these were the arguments: First,
the petitioners, including the alien petitioners,
had a right to initiate and maintain the present
proceedings because no statute or valid presiden-
tial proclamation denied them the right. Sec-
ond, the presidential proclamation closing the
courts to them was unconstitutional and invalid
because it was ex post facto and contrary to the
constitutional provisions guaranteeing habeas
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corpus. Third, the President’s order creating the
Military Commission was unconstitutional and
invalid because the Commission lacked jurisdic-
tion over the offenses charged. Tt lacked juris-
diction over Charge I (violation of the law of war)
because there was no such offense in the laws of
the United States, and the charge could not be
prosecuted as a species of the international com-
mon law of war because well-settled doctrine held
that there is no common law of crime against the
United States. The Military Commission lacked
jurisdiction under Charges II and III (violation
of the Articles of War) because Congress has
power to confer military jurisdiction only over
offenses arising in the land and naval forces,
which meant that the Articles of War could not
apply to the petitioners unless their case arose in
a zone of military operations. Fourth, the
President’s order creating the Military Commis-
sion was contrary to several provisions of the
Articles of War guaranteeing the petitioners im-
portant procedural rights; hence it was illegal and
invalid. Fifth, the petitioners were entitled to a
civil trial, for under Ex parte Milligan, all per-
sons who are not in the armed services of the
United States may not be tried by a military
tribunal when civil courts are open and func-
tioning.

The government’s brief countered that the
petitioners were not entitled to access of the civil
courts, for such rights as habeas corpus were
never intended to apply to armed invaders in time
of war. Even if the petitioners were entitled to
test the validity of their detention, the doctrine
of Ex parte Milligan did not apply to them, for
Milligan had never worn an enemy uniform,
never left Indiana, never crossed lines in a
theater of operation; besides, the nature of war
had changed since Milligan and so had the-
aters of operations. The Congress specifically
granted military commissions jurisdiction to
try violations of the law of war and the Ar-
ticles of War. Thus the Military Commission
had jurisdiction to try the petitioners. An-
swering the petitioners’ argument concerning
denial of procedural rights guaranteed by the
Articles of War, the government contended
that the Military Commission need not fol-
low court-martial procedure, for the President,
as Commander-in-Chief, had constitutional
power to make other provisions for military
trials.

69
Rush to Judgment

At 10:30 a.m. on July 29, Chief Justice Stone
and seven of his colleagues met in conference
for a preliminary discussion of the Saboteurs’
Case prior to oral arguments. Justice Frank
Murphy, who was a reserve army lieutenant colo-
nel on active duty for the summer, appeared in
uniform. The ninth Justice—William O. Dou-
glas—was still on his way from Oregon and
would arrive the next day.

Roberts, who had been asked by Stone to pre-
side, spoke first. He told his colleagues that
Biddle feared that F.D.R. would execute the pe-
titioners despite any Court action. “That would
be a dreadful thing,” said Stone, who informed
his colleagues that his son, Major Lauson Stone,
had worked with Royall on the petitioners’ de-
fense. Stone said that if there was objection by
counsel, he would disqualify himself. Frank-
furter then raised a question of the appropriate-
ness of Murphy’s participation in view of his
military status. Murphy, though eager to hear
the case, reluctantly disqualified himself.?* Later
Frankfurter acknowledged to Murphy that it was
uncongenial to make the comments he made in
conference about Murphy’s participation in the
case. “But had the roles been reversed,” he
added, “I should have expected the same from
you. You will, doubtless, from time to time con-
tinue to hear folly or error from me, but never
less than the truth. If candid truth is to be with-
held among Brethren of the Supreme Court I
would indeed despair of the world.”* Appar-
ently it did not occur to Frankfurter that he him-
self had reason for disqualification, for exactly a
month earlier he had advised Stimson that the
petitioners should be tried by a military com-
mission comprised entirely of military officers.

Nor apparently did it occur to Justice James
F. Byrnes, Jr., that there might be a basis for his
disqualification, for he had been a de facto mem-
ber of the administration for the past seven
months, working closely with both Biddle and
ED.R. in the war effort. In fact, Byrnes had
done so much work in the administration from
December 1941, to October 1942, that Biddle
thought that Byrnes had been on leave of ab-
sence from the Supreme Court for that period. '

At noon, the Chief Justice and his colleagues
took their places at the Bench in a packed court-
room. Out of public view, Murphy pulled up a



70

chair to listen to the arguments. Largely because
of the number of questions from the Justices,
arguments on both sides lacked coherence. One
hour, devoted mostly to issues of jurisdiction, had
elapsed before Frankfurter asked Royall to state
the main points of his argument. Royall had
difficulty making an argument that would apply
to both the six German citizens and Haupt, who
maintained he was an American citizen.”> Royall
had several other problems. One of the most
severe concerned the facts in the stipulated
record, which showed that the petitioners had
surreptitiously entered the country carrying ex-
plosives. “Well,” asked Justice Robert H. Jack-
son, “were they then not an invading force?”
“No,” answered Royall, “because some of them,
including Haupt, maintained they had joined the
mission to escape Nazi Germany and had no in-
tention of committing sabotage or acts of vio-
lence.” Jackson, incredulous, asked: “They did
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not go to any agency and say, ‘We got away from
the Germans. Thank God we are free and we
shall tell where we buried the [explosives]?™”
“No, sir,” answered Royall. “If they did that, there
would not have been this litigation.”* Royall was
technically correct because Dasch, who did pre-
cisely what Jackson described, was not a party to
the case. Royall’s most important precedent was
Ex parte Milligan, upon which he heavily relied.
At the end of his argument he quoted Justice
Davis’s magnificent dictum in Milligan: “The
Constitution of the United States is the law for
rulers and people. equally in war and peace, and
covers with the shield of its protection all classes
of men, at all times, and under all circum-
stances.”™*

Biddle had an easier case to argue. His argu-
ment, however, was diffuse and sometimes con-
tradictory. At one point, he conceded that
the Court had jurisdiction, but later he said the

James F. Byrnes, Jr., took the judicial oath before his wife, father, and President Roosevelt in 1941. During most of his
sixteen-month tenure on the Supreme Court, Byrnes was actively involved in advising the Roosevelt administration on
political matters concerning the war effort. It nevertheless did not occur to him to recuse himself from the Saboteurs’
Case when it came before the Court. Frank Murphy reluctantly agreed to disqualify himself because he wore the uni-
form of a lieutenant colonel, but Harlan Fiske Stone, whose son was involved in the petitioners’ case, not only partici-

pated but wrote the opinion.



JOURNAL 1996, vol. | 7

petitioners had no right to file their petitions.
Biddle also said that Milligan was bad law and
should be overruled. Later he said that the Court
could decide the petitioners’ case “without touch-
ing a hair of the Milligan case, but this petition
would not have been in this Court except for the
Milligan case.”* ]t was clear from some of the
Justices’ comments that they wanted to distin-
guish Milligan from the petitioners’ case. At
one point Biddle conceded that Milligan was
“clearly . . . an enemy” charged with violations
of the law of war, which greatly narrowed the
gap between the facts of Milligan and Haupt’s
case. Frankfurter, disturbed by the statement,
intervened to say that Milligan was not decided
“under the enemy concept”; that was not “the
atmosphere” of the case. Biddle immediately
agreed.*

At 3:55 p.m. on July 30, after nearly nine
hours of oral arguments over two days, the Jus-
tices went into conference to discuss the case.
According to Frankfurter’s sketchy notes, Stone
said that despite the presidential proclamation,
habeas corpus was available to the petitioners
and the Court had jurisdiction to hear the case.
As to the case’s central issue, Stone said that the
petitioners were “enemies regardless of citizen-
ship.” As such, they were entitled only to “ex-
ecutive justice”; therefore, he thought that the
Military Commission had jurisdiction to try
them. Roberts said that he had doubts about the
validity of the presidential proclamation.
Frankfurter’s notes of Black’s, Reed’s, and
Douglas’s comments are too cryptic to interpret,
and he took no notes on the comments of the
other Justices, but no one disagreed with Stone’s
view concerning the Military Commission’s ju-
risdiction.’” There was, however, considerable
disagreement as to whether the review provisions
of Articles of War 46 and 50-1/2 applied to the
President. The conference adjourned without
deciding that question. The next morning, when
the Justices resumed their deliberation, Stone
circulated a draft per curiam order that he
thought might resolve the matter. The critical
paragraph in the order was as follows:

[Elven if petitioners are correct in their
contention that Articles of War 46 and
50-1/2 require the President, before
his action on the judgment or sentence
of the Commission, to submit the

record to his staff Judge Advocate or
the Judge Advocate General of the
Army and even if that question be
reviewable by the courts, nothing in
the President’s order of July 2, 1942,
forecloses his compliance with such
requirement and this Court will not as-
sume in advance that the President
would fail to conform his action to the
statutory requirements.®®

The paragraph obviously suggested the Presi-
dent should comply with Articles 46 and 50-1/2.
Several Justices would not approve the para-
graph. At noon, when the Court was scheduled
to announce its decision, the Justices were still
in disagreement. Finally, they agreed to delete
the paragraph, a hasty action several of them
would regret.

A few minutes after noon on July 31, the Jus-
tices took their places at the Bench. It was a
brief session—four minutes. The Chief Justice
read the per curiam order. After giving a his-
tory of the litigation, Stone said that the Court
would announce its decision and later file a full
opinion. The Court held, he said, that the charges
against the petitioners were triable by a military
tribunal, that the Military Commission was law-
fully constituted, and that the petitioners were
held in lawful custody. Thus the Court dismissed
the petitioners’ applications for writs of habeas
corpus and affirmed the District Court’s decision.®

The trial before the Military Commission
resumed. On August 1, counsel made final ar-
guments, and on August 3, the Commission
found all of the defendants guilty of all charges
and sentenced them to death by electrocution.
General McCoy then sent the record—some
3,000 pages—directly to the President for review
and action.

F.D.R. had followed the Saboteurs’ Case with
great interest and discussed it from time to time
at Hyde Park with his secretary, William D.
Hassett. On July 12, ED.R. mentioned the sabo-
teurs and asked: “What should be done with
them? Should they be shot or hanged?”
“Hanged, by all means,” said Hassett, who
thought shooting too honorable a death. “What
about pictures?” asked the President. “By all
means,” answered Hassett. “Hope the finding
will be unanimous,” said the President.*! On Au-
gust 1, Hassett wrote in his diary: “The President



72

said he hoped the commission would recommend
death by hanging.”*? On August 2, Hassett re-
corded: “He still hopes the military commission
will recommend death by hanging.”* On Au-
gust 3, an army officer delivered the record in
the case to ED.R. at Hyde Park. The President
began reading it at once. The same day, he signed
a bill authorizing “an appropriate medal of
honor” to be awarded to J. Edgar Hoover for his
role in capturing the eight saboteurs.*

Although Biddle sought the death penalty for
all the defendants before the Military Commis-
sion, he recommended that F.D.R. grant clem-
ency to Burger and Dasch. On August 8—five
days after the President received the record in
the Saboteurs” Case—the White House an-
nounced that the President had approved the
Military Commission’s judgments but had com-
muted Burger’s sentence to life imprisonment
and Dasch’s to thirty years’ imprisonment. The
statement continued: “The electrocutions began
at noon today. Six of the prisoners were electro-
cuted. The other two were confined to prison.”
ED.R. then personally sealed the record in the
case for the duration of the war.*

Justification

Assigning himself the Court’s opinion in the
Saboteurs’ Case, Chief Justice Stone went to a
resort in New Hampshire to draft it. He would
devote more than six weeks to the task, which
he described as “a mortification of the flesh.”
The government’s briefs did not impress him.
“I hope,” he wrote to his law clerk, Bennett
Boskey, “the military is better equipped to fight
the war than it is to fight its legal battles.”” “Both
briefs,” he declared, “have done their best to cre-
ate a sort of legal chaos. My immediate and per-
haps most important task is to reduce the case to
some order and system.”® Stone’s strategy had
three parts: 1) assert jurisdiction without deter-
mining the validity of the Presidential Procla-
mation closing the civil courts to the petition-
ers; 2) establish the jurisdiction of the Military
Commission by considering only one of the
charges brought against the petitioners and thus
avoid constitutional problems raised by the other
charges; and 3) demonstrate that the procedures
in the presidential order creating the Military
Commission—particularly those contrary to Ar-
ticles of War 46 and 50-1/2—were either a) per-
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missible or b) erroneous but did not affect the
Commission’s jurisdiction.

Stone avoided the issue of the Presidential
Proclamation’s validity simply by saying that
since the Court concluded in its per curiam opin-
ion that the Military Commission had jurisdic-
tion to try the petitioners, it now had “no occa-
sion to decide contentions of the parties which
are unrelated to the authority of the Commis-
sion to act.”* That being said, Stone passed im-
mediately to the case’s central problem—the
Military Commission’s jurisdiction. Stone
chose the law-of-war charge to establish that
jurisdiction. He began with an essentially
intuitive justification and then asked his law
clerks to find authorities to support it. In a
letter to Boskey, Stone stated the gist of his
justification as follows:

[T]he petitioners are unlawful
belligerents in the International Law
and Law of War sense, which would
bring them within the jurisdiction of
Military Tribunals, which the Com-
mander in Chief under the Constitu-
tion & Article XV of the Articles of War
may set up for their trial independently
of the 5[th] & 6[th] Amendments. As
such their case is distinguishable from
that of Milligan who was not a
belflligerent or waging war because
[he was] not associated with the armed
forces of the enemy and acting under
their direction.5°

But Stone’s clerks could find little authority to
support his justification. At almost every criti-
cal juncture in his opinion, the best Stone could
do was cite analogous cases. Essentially his jus-
tification tried to answer five questions: 1) Did
Congress enact the rules of the law of war? 2)
Was crossing military lines and remaining be-
hind them in civilian dress for the purpose of
committing hostile acts a violation of the law of
war? 3) Was it constitutional to try a citizen for
this offense instead of treason? 4) Was such an
offense unprotected by the guarantees of the Fifth
and Sixth Amendments? 5) Was Ex parte
Milligan legally distinguishable? Stone agonized
over these questions. Each had to be answered
affirmatively. He had no other choice; in his
analysis, a single negative answer meant the
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Military Commission lacked jurisdiction, at least
in regard to Haupt.

As to the first question, Stone answered it
uneasily by interpreting a provision in Article of
War 15—*“offenders or offenses that . . . by the
law of war may be triable by such military com-
mission”—as incorporating by reference the law
of war>' Thus Congress, he said, in enacting
Article 15, had adopted the law of war as a sys-
tem of common law for military commissions.
To arrive at this interpretation, Stone ignored
the legislative history of Article 15, which
showed that its purpose was simply to recognize
military commissions and give them and other
military tribunals concurrent jurisdiction with
courts-martial.*> He also ignored the petition-
ers’ argument that it was settled doctrine that
there is no federal common law of crime.®® Fi-
nally, he ignored the constitutional problems
raised by his interpretation.>*

As to the second question, Stone was less sure
of the answer than his draft opinion indicated.
“I am troubled some by the statement from Hall
[the author of a treatise on international law] as
to the use of the uniform,” Stone wrote to Boskey.
“I have written the opinion on the assumption
that the law is the other way as I think it ought
to be. But I can find no conflict of opinion on
the assumption of civilian dress in the circum-
stances of our case.” Yet Hall’s statement was
a problem for Stone. Apparently the passage in
Hall that troubled Stone is as follows: “Itis per-
fectly legitimate to use the distinctive emblems
of an enemy in order to escape from him or to
draw his forces into action; but it is held that
soldiers clothed in the uniforms of their enemy
must put on a conspicuous mark by which they
can be recognized before attacking . . . ”> This
passage suggests that the gravamen of the of-
fense is the actual commission of a hosile act
while in disguise and not the assuming of a dis-
guise for the purpose of committing a hostile act.
Stone resolved the problem by interpreting the
latter as a punishable hostile act.”’

The third question also troubled Stone. On
August 20, he wrote Boskey:

[I}f Haupt is a citizen does not Charge
| make out a charge of treason as to
him . . . which the Constitution requires
to be tried in a civil court[?] ... Con-
sidering the treason point further, the
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essential element in Haupt's offense
was entering the country for a hostile
purpose disguised which constitutes
a violation of the law of war but it may
fall short of giving aid to and comfort
to the enemy, which points up that the
two offenses are distinct and that the
same set of circumstances may sup-
port independent prosecutions for
both.%

Stone put these ideas in his draft, but he
could cite no authorities directly in point. The
best he could do was cite analogous cases for his
argument, which has been criticized. With Haupt
in mind, James Willard Hurst, a leading scholar
on treason, has written that “where the defen-
dant is charged with conduct involving all the
elements of treason within the constitutional defi-
nition, and the gravamen of the accusation
against him is an effort to subvert the govern-
ment, or aid its enemies, it would seem in disre-
gard of the policy of the Constitution to permit
him to be tried under another charge than ‘trea-
son.””®Michal R. Belknap, a constitutional his-
torian, has written: “Stone’s purpose was not to
elucidate the law [in the Saboteurs’ Case], but
rather to justify as best he could a dubious deci-
sion. Stone realized Haupt should have been
tried for treason in a civil court. . . .”%

In attempting to answer the fourth question,
Stone asked Boskey to give some attention to
reconciling the broad language of the Fifth and
Sixth Amendments with practices by military tri-
bunals prior to the Amendments’ adoption. “I
think the Court in some cases,” Stone wrote, “has
given a restricted meaning to ‘Crime’ as used in
the [Fifth] Amendment. Is a military offense, as
such, a ‘crime’? In the opinion I have said that
amendments apply to all trials in the courts but
were not intended to end trials by military com-
missions or to require the latter to use a jury. I
think this right but my authorities are meager.”®!
His leading authority was the case of Major John
Andre in 1780.

Stone had to distinguish Milligan, but it was
not easy, and his distinction has been criticized.
“I distinguish Milligan,” he wrote Boskey, “on
the ground that, whether or not Milligan vio-
lated the law of war, the petitioners clearly did.”®
This statement is puzzling, for Stone knew that
Milligan had been convicted of violation of the
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law of war, for that fact is in the statement of the
case, and Stone knew, of course, that the peti-
tioners had not yet been convicted of anything
when the Court rendered its per curiam opinion
on July 31. For Stone the key distinction between
Milligan and Haupt was that the latter was an
enemy belligerent and the former was not. In
making this distinction, wrote Belknap, Stone
“considerably distorted historical reality . . .
Milligan’s case may have differed significantly
from those of the German aliens among the sabo-
teurs. But Haupt, like Milligan, was a United
States citizen and apparently not a member of
the enemy’s armed forces. Other than Haupt’s
brief stay in Germany . . . and his re-entry into
the United States, nothing of legal significance
distinguished his case from Milligan’s.”®

The final part of Stone’s draft focused on the
applicability of the review provisions of Articles
of War 46 and 50-1/2 to the President. The more
Stone thought about the matter the more he was
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convinced that the paragraph in the per curiam
dealing with 46 and 50-1/2 should not have been
eliminated. “I think it would not have been,” he
wrote Boskey, “if we had had a little more time
to consider it; as it was, we went into the Court a
little late. But this does not alter the fact that
the Commission had jurisdiction to decide any
question under 46 and 50-1/2. Habeas corpus
would not lie and we had no right to rule on
them. If we could not rule on them then, we
cannot now, and in fact we do not now know
that the Commission or the President had ever
ruled against the petitioners on every one of the
points.”®  Stone also conveyed these ideas to
Frankfurter, who responded as follows:

Of course | agree that a claim of dis-
regard of Article 46 et seq. was not
actively presented by petitions filed
before the proceedings of the military
commission had concluded. But this
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Six of the saboteurs are shown here after their arrest by the FBI: (top, left to right) George John Dasch, Heinrich
Harm Heinck, Richard Quirin; (bottom, left to right) Werner Thiel, Ernest Peter Burger, and Hermann Neubauer.
Only Dasch and Burger were spared execution; in 1948 they were released from prison and deported to Germany.
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is true merely as a matter of legal ab-
straction. If a legal right exists, to say
that it is presented prematurely when
as a practical matter there would be
no later time for presenting it—for
dead men can present no legal
claims—is to bring the law into disre-
pute and to make a mockery of jus-
tice. Having due regard to realities,
therefore, | could not have assented
to dismissing the claims under these
Articles as premature as | deemed the
Articles to require the procedure of
review contended for by the petition-
ers after the Commission’s verdict
reached the President. And as you
say, “It seems almost brutal to an-
nounce this ground of decision for the
first time after six of the petitioners
have been executed.” And you tren-
chantly raise the case of the two sur-
viving petitioners. But the situation is
worse than you indicate when you
suggest that the latter may raise the
point at the end of the war. Why could
they not raise it by a new petition the
day after a doubt was suggested or
implied as to the propriety of the Presi-
dential procedure which led to their
present confinement? | do not see
how we could escape passing on this
point if they were to raise it at once,
and if the point were sustained, six
people would be found to have been
executed in disregard of law.5s

Stone finally decided to write two versions of
the final portion of his draft dealing with Ar-
ticles 46 and 50-1/2, each providing a different
ground: Memorandum A saying that the issue
was not before the Court, and Memorandum B
construing the articles against the petitioners’
contentions. On September 25, Stone circulated
the opinion. “About all I can say for what I have
done,” Stone wrote to Frankfurter, “is that I think
[the draft opinion] will present the Court all ten-
able and pseudo-tenable bases for decision.”®

Negotiation and Compromise

Frankfurter responded positively to Stone’s
opinion. “As for the opinion in chief,” he wrote,
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I have nothing to contribute except appreciation.
If I may say so, you satisfy me completely. Is-
sues of high moment in the life of our country
are faced by you and disposed of by you in a man-
ner worthy of them. I need say no more.”’
Roberts saw Stone’s opinion as recognizing
the validity of the president’s proclamation clos-
ing the courts to the petitioners. Roberts thought
that the Court should say that the President does
not have such power.”® This suggestion elicited
a response from Frankfurter, who wrote Stone
saying that he was satisfied with Stone’s “treat-
ment of the president’s proclamation because it
kept the Pandora’s box of the Proclamation
closed.” But since Roberts raised the issue,
Frankfurter wanted Stone to know his views on
the President’s power to suspend the privilege of
the writ of habeas corpus. “I believe,” Frank-
furter wrote, “the President has the power to sus-
pend the writ, and so believing I conclude also
that his determination whether an emergency
calls for such suspension is not subject to judi-
cial review. To review it would undermine the
reasons which lead to the conclusion that he has
the power to suspend the privilege.” Frankfurter
was aware of Stone’s probable reaction to this
statement, for he added: “But these are awful
issues on which to pronounce. And therefore
our first judicial duty of self-restraint requires
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Edward John Kerling, alias Edward John Kelly, was the
ringleader of the four saboteurs who landed near Jack-
sonville, Florida.
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that we not reach those issues if with intellec-
tual integrity those issues need not be reached.”
In concluding, Frankfurter provided an answer
that satisfied Roberts and the rest of the Court:
“Since in this case we all are agreed—or, as I
believe, should be—that the president’s procla-
mation is not to be read as foreclosing inquiry
into what it means as applied to this case and its
validity as thus applied, I think we should rest
there and not open up what verily is a Pandora’s
box.”® Stone revised the opinion accordingly.

Black thought Stone’s opinion was too broad
in approving of trials by military tribunals.
“While Congress doubtless could declare all vio-
lation of the laws of war to be crimes against the
United States,” Black wrote to Stone, “I seriously
question whether Congress could constitution-
ally confer jurisdiction to try all such violations
before military tribunals. In this case I want to
go no further than to declare that these particu-
lar defendants are subject to the jurisdiction of a
military tribunal because of the circumstances
and purposes of their entry into this country as
part of the enemy’s war forces. Such a limita-
tion, it seems to me, would leave the Milligan
doctrine untouched, but to subject every person
in the United States to trial by military tribunals
for every violation of every rule of war which
has been or may hereafter be adopted between
nations among themselves, might go far to de-
stroy the protections declared by the Milligan
case.”’® Stone responded by revising the opin-
ion sufficiently to satisfy Black.

Douglas had only one major suggestion—the
deletion of the following sentence from the opin-
ion: “Even the guilty are entitled to be tried by a
tribunal and by laws which the Constitution has
prescribed as a means of determining their guilt.”
“That sentence,” wrote Douglas, “is susceptible
of the interpretation that it would have been un-
lawful for the executive to have disposed of the
petitioners summarily without a trial by a tribu-
nal. That may be true although if I had to vote
today I would vote the other way. The proposi-
tion, however, is not before us and I think we
need not express any view on it one way or the
other.””" Stone deleted the sentence.”

Having negotiated these changes, Stone still
had to contend with an equally divided Court
on the applicability of Articles of War 46 and
50-1/2 to the President. Frankfurter strongly sup-
ported Memorandum B, which held that the
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President was not bound by the Articles of War,
and he had sought to influence Roberts, Reed,
and Bymes on the issue during the summer.” In
a covering undated note to Justice Stanley F.
Reed, Frankfurter wrote: “I spelled it out in case
the C.J. should continue in the fog of pedantic
unreality on this phase of the case. I hope &
assume not. I have not sent him this memo—in
hope that he will discover the plain meaning &
common sense of it (with Boskey’s help) & then
tell us all.”” Frankfurter failed to persuade Reed,
who thought Articles of War 46 and 50-1/2 ap-
plied to the President, but failure to adhere to
them constituted error that did not affect the Mili-
tary Commission’s jurisdiction.”” On October
2, Frankfurter lost one of his supporters when
Bymes resigned from the Court. For the next
two weeks, there was little movement one way
or the other on the issue. Then, on October 16,
Justice Robert H. Jackson circulated a memo-
randum that looked like a concurring opinion,
which especially troubled Stone, Frankfurter, and
Black, who had earlier agreed that everything
possible must be done to secure a unanimous
opinion. Jackson’s position was that Congress
had not intended to confine presidential discre-
tion in dealing with captive invaders like the
petitioners, nor had it intended to give them any
rights. He wrote:

| think we are exceeding our powers
in reviewing the legality of the
President’s order and that experience
shows the judicial system is ill-adapted
to deal with matters in which we must
present a united front to a foreign foe.
The fact that the Court comes out right
by sustaining the President in this in-
stance does not justify the entertain-
ment of the prisoners’ complaint
against his procedures; it only ob-
scures the mischief of which the pro-
cess in our own hands and in those of
nearly one hundred District Courts is
capable.’

A unanimous opinion now seemed impos-
sible. If desperate developments call for desper-
ate measures, Frankfurter was willing to take
them. On October 23, he sent his colleagues
one of the most unusual documents in the Court’s
history. Entitled “F.F’s Soliloquy,” the document
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began with a preface that suggested its purpose.”
“After listening as hard as I could,” wrote Frank-
furter, “to the views expressed by the Chief Jus-
tice and Jackson about the Saboteur case prob-
lems at the last Conference, and thinking over
what they said as intelligently as I could, I could
not for the life of me find enough room in the
legal differences between them to insert a razor
blade.” For that reason he said he was going to
express his views in the form of a dialogue with
the saboteurs. Frankfurter began the dialogue
by telling the saboteurs that they were “damned
scoundrels [who] have a helluva cheek to ask for
a writ.” Later in the dialogue he said: “You’ve
done enough mischief already without leaving
the seeds of a bitter conflict involving the Presi-
dent, the courts and Congress after your bodies
will be rotting in lime.” “The Articles of War,”
Frankfurter concluded, “don’t apply to you. And
so you will remain in your present custody and
be damned.” Frankfurter did not stop there. Fol-
lowing his dialogue, he made a patriotic plea to
his colleagues:

Some of the very best lawyers |
know are now in the Solomon Islands
battle, some are seeing service in Aus-
tralia, some are sub-chasers in the At-
lantic, and some are on the various
air fronts. It requires no poet’s imagi-
nation to think of their reflections if the
unanimous result reached by us in
these cases should be expressed in
opinions which would black out the
agreement in result and reveal
internecine conflict about the manner
of stating that result . . . And | [can]
almost hear their voices were they to
read more than a single opinion in
this case. They would say some-
thing like this but in language hardly
becoming a judge’s tongue: “What
in hell do you fellows think you are
doing? Haven’t we got enough of a
job trying to lick the Japs and the
Nazis without having you fellows on
the Supreme Court dissipate the

Herbert Hans Haupt, the
eighth saboteur, was
photographed leaving the
courtroom at the Department
of Justice on July 11, 1942. A
special seven-man Military
Commission was convened on
the fifth floor of the building
to try the case of attempted
sabotage.

After his conviction and
execution, Haupt was buried in
a potter's field at the southern
tip of the District of Columbia
with his fellow saboteurs.
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thoughts and feelings and energies of
the folks at home by stirring up a nice
row as to who has what power when
all of you are agreed that the Presi-
dent had the power to establish this
Commission and that the procedure
under the Articles of War for courts
martial and military commissions
doesn’t apply to this case? Haven't
you got any more sense than to get
people by the ear on one of the fa-
vorite American pastimes—abstract
constitutional discussions.”

Soon after Jackson read Frankfurter’s dia-
logue and plea, the two Justices exchanged a se-
ries of notes, and Jackson decided not to publish
a concurring opinion.”™ Frankfurter initiated the
communications with a note saying he was
“glad” that Jackson had written his memoran-
dum because it illuminated what the Brethren
already knew. “Even tho,” Frankfurter added,
“it is my deepest hope that there will be but one
opinion.” “I am glad too,” answered Jackson,
“tho I am not the happier for the knowledge
gained.” In his final note, Jackson wrote: “F.F.
Your Anatole France opinion is like a last laugh
at a funeral over here. The only one who enjoys
it is the corpse.”” Responding to the soliloquy,
Roberts wrote Frankfurter saying that he sup-
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ported a compromise—*“a sort of Northern Pa-
cific formulation in as brief a form as possible as
Black suggests.™

Stone continued his “patient negotiations,”
and the Justices soon moved toward a compro-
mise.*' They agreed to disagree without adopt-
ing either Memorandum A or B. A draft of the
compromise stated that the petitioners did not
argue and the Court did not consider “the ques-
tion whether the President is compelled by the
Articles of War to afford unlawful enemy
belligerents a trial before subjecting them to dis-
ciplinary measures. Their contention is that,
if Congress has authorized their trial by mili-
tary commission, it has by the Articles of War
prescribed the procedure by which the trial is
to be conducted; and that since the President
has ordered their trial by military commission,
they are entitled to claim the protection of the
procedure which Congress had commanded shall
be controlling.” Hence the Court “need not
inquire whether Congress may restrict the
power of the Commander-in-Chief to deal
with enemy belligerents.” Then the draft con-
tinued:

The Court is unanimous in its con-
clusion that the Articles in question
could not at any stage of the proceed-
ings afford any basis for issuing the

Tod

Myron C. Cramer, Judge
Advocate General of the War
Department, holds a shovel
found by the Coast Guard
and used as evidence in the
Saboteurs’ Case.
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writ. Three are of the opinion that the
procedure prescribed by the Articles
of War was not designed for the pro-
tection of enemy belligerents such as
the petitioners. Four are of the view
that though the Articles in question are
applicable here, they do not control
military commissions such as the in-
stant one in the way and to the extent
contended. As there are but seven
judges participating in this case, we
refrain from an exposition of these
views until the matter may be consid-
ered by a full bench.®

The compromise held, but Stone amended the
final three sentences in the initial draft to read:
“Some members of the Court are of the opinion
that Congress did not intend the Articles of War
to govern a Presidential military commission
convened for the determination of questions re-
lating to admitted enemy invaders and that the
context of the Articles makes clear that they
should not be construed to apply in that class of
cases. Others are of the view that—even though
this trial is subject to whatever provisions of the
Articles of War Congress has in terms made ap-
plicable to ‘commissions’—the particular Ar-
ticles in question, rightly construed, do not fore-
close the procedure prescribed by the President
or that shown to have been employed by the Com-
mission, in a trial of offenses against the law of
war and the 81st and 82nd Articles of War, by a
military commission appointed by the Presi-
dent.”® Thus the matter was settled. Stone
announced the Court’s opinion on October 29,
1942,

The same day Biddle sent ED.R. a copy of
the Court’s opinion pointing out that Stone re-
ferred to the Major Andre precedent FD.R. had
mentioned initially. Biddle also pointed out that
the Supreme Court distinguished Ex parte
Milligan, adding: “Practically . . . the Milligan
case is out of the way and should not plague us
again.”$

After the Supreme Court announced its opin-
ion in the Saboteurs’ Case, Frankfurter asked
one of his former students, Frederick Bernays
Wiener, a military-law expert, to assess the
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opinion. Over a period of nine months,
Wiener wrote Frankfurter three times about
the case.

Wiener thought that the Saboteurs’ Case was
significant for basically three reasons: First, it
whittled away the authority of the majority opin-
ion in Ex parte Milligan. “We may look, there-
fore,” he wrote, “even in situations in domestic
territory involving persons dangerous to our in-
stitutions who are not invaders, for an aban-
donment of the ancient, formal test of open
courts . . . . [We] can also look for an abandon-
ment of the oft-quoted dictum, entirely irrelevant
to modern reality, that martial law can never arise
from a threatened invasion.”®* Second, the case
eliminated citizenship as a factor in offenses
against the law of war. Wiener had in mind
Haupt’s citizenship as not entitling him to trial
in a civil court for treason. Third, the case es-
tablished the law of war as an independent basis
for military jurisdiction in addition to military
law, military government, and martial law.
“That, to me” wrote Wiener, “is the real signifi-
cance of Ex parte Quirin, and the reason why it
will be regarded in the future as a landmark in
the field.”®® \

Wiener agreed with most of the Court’s opin-
ion. “Where I part company with the Court,” he
wrote, “is on its discussion of the Articles of War
as applied to the . . . case.”® Wiener disagreed
with Stone’s interpretation of Article of War 15.
He doubted that Congress had in mind any affir-
mative legislation when it enacted the provision.
He explained to Frankfurter that prior to the en-
actment of Article 15 the jurisdiction of military
commissions was not coextensive with the juris-
diction of courts-martial. To remedy that, Con-
gress enacted Article 15.%® Wiener quoted the
provision’s drafter, Judge Advocate General
Enoch H. Crowder, as saying that the purpose of
Article 15 was “just” to save what jurisdiction
military commissions then had and to make the
jurisdiction of military commissions concurrent
with courts-martial “so the military commander
in the field in time of war will be at liberty to
employ either form of court that happens to be
convenient.”® This staement suggests that Stone
erred when he asserted that Article 15 incorpo-
rated the law of war by reference.

Wiener’s strongest criticism of Stone’s opin-
ion concerned its discussion of Articles of War
46 and 50-1/2. In November 1942, Wiener wrote
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Frankfurter that it was “difficult to agree with the
opinion of some members of the Court ‘that Con-
gress did not intend the Articles of War to govern
a Presidential military commission . ...”” Asto
Article of War 46, Wiener said it was “too plain
for argument” that the provision applied to the
President. But Wiener conceded that even the
President’s “flagrant disregard” of Article of War
46 was not sufficient to justify issuance of the
writ of habeas corpus.®® After giving more
thought to the matter, Wiener modified his views
and wrote Frankfurter in January 1943: “AW 46
says that every record of trial by GCM or mili-
tary commission shall be referred to the staff JAG
before the appointing or reviewing authority act
on it. The better opinion in the [JAG] office
among older officers who were present during
the transitional period, 1917-21, is that it [AW
46] is jurisdictional in the sense that the review-
ing authority cannot act until after such refer-
ence.”®! In August 1943, Wiener wrote again say-
ing that the President was obligated to follow both
Articles of War 46 and 50-1/2. “I feel on further
reflection,” he added, “that there may be merit to
the view that AW 46 is jurisdictional to the ex-
tent that the reviewing authority, be he the Presi-
dent or any military officer commander, is with-
out power to act on the record prior to review.” A
court in a habeas corpus proceeding can enforce
Article of War 46, said Wiener, by making a con-
ditional order releasing the prisoners from cus-
tody in a certain number of days unless it were
shown that the records would be reviewed under
Article of War 46.2 Obviously this is what Wiener
thought the Supreme Court should have done in
the Saboteurs’ Case, and, if the Court had taken
more time in reaching its judgment on July 31,
1942, it might have done so.

Wiener’s assessment of the Saboteurs’ Case
is ultimately devastating, for it indiactes that
ED.R. acted contrary to law and without juris-
diction when he approved the findings of the
Military Commission and ordered the imprison-
ment of Burger and Dasch and the execution of
the six other saboteurs.

Coda

In 1953, when the Supreme Court voted ten-
tatively to grant certiorari in Rosenberg v. United
States, the Justices discussed whether the Court
could decide the case in summer and defer de-
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livery of formal opinions until fall. One of the
Justices mentioned the Saboteurs’ Case as a
precedent. That case, Frankfurter responded rue-
fully, “[is] not a happy precedent”” In 1962,
Douglas said in an unpublished interview: “Our
experience with [the Saboteurs’ Case] indicated
... to all of us that it is extremely undesirable to
announce a decision on the merits without an
opinion accompanying it. Because once the
search for the grounds . . . is made, sometimes
those grounds crumble.”® In 1958, John P.
Frank, who had been Black’s law clerk in the
summer of 1942, wrote that the Saboteurs’ Case
was an instance “of haste [where] the Court al-
lowed itself to be stampeded. . . . [I]f the judges
are to run a court of law and not a butcher shop,
the reasons for killing a man should be ex-
pressed before he is dead; otherwise the pro-
ceedings are purely military and not for [the]
courts at all.”®

For the executive branch, the Saboteurs’ Case
was a constitutional and propaganda victory; it
expanded executive power, and it allayed pub-
lic fears of subversion.”® For the Supreme
Court, it was an institutional defeat. If there
is any lesson to be learned from the case, it is
that the Court should be wary of departing
from its established rules and practices, even in
times of national crisis, for at such times the
Court is especially susceptible to co-optation
by the executive.®’
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The First Amendment
and World War Il

Tony A. Freyer

A time of origination is inevitably a time of
choice. In American constitutional discourse the
framing of the Bill of Rights and the Fourteenth
Amendment were periods of choice during which
the Supreme Court limited rather than enlarged
rights claims. The era of the Second World War,
by contrast, witnessed a new beginning for First
Amendment guarantees built upon the jurispru-
dential foundation established in Palko v. Con-
necticut (1937) and footnote four of the Carolene
Products decision of 1938.2 The change repre-
sented the ascendancy of a counter-majoritarian
theory established during the 1930s.> After the
war began, cases involving labor groups and
Jehovah’s Witnesses tested the limits of this
theory; but ultimately change occurred within
the boundaries of continuity, conditioned by a
nonpartisan rights discourse of Democratic and
Republican party presidential candidates, and a
professional legal discourse that drew principally
upon cases decided during the 1930s.*

A year before Pearl Harbor, Franklin D.
Roosevelt stated succinctly the values for which
Americans were prepared to fight.> The “Four
Freedoms” formulated in the President’s annual
message to Congress on January 6, 1941, linked

the economic and social security of individuals
and groups to preserving the “foundations of a
healthy and strong democracy.”® Along with
freedom from want and fear, the “essential hu-
man freedoms” upon which the security of
Americans and the world’s peoples depended
were first, the “freedom of speech and expres-
sion—everywhere in the world,” and second, the
“freedom of every person to worship God in his
own way—everywhere in the world.” Foreign
dictators across the seas challenged these demo-
cratic freedoms on such a scale that the time was
“unique in our history.” Accordingly, nothing
less than the “full cooperation from all groups”
was necessary to preserve the nation. Even so,
nations “do not fight by armaments alone,”
Roosevelt said; they “must have the stamina and
courage which come from an unshakable belief
in the manner of life which they are defending.”
The “few slackers or troublemakers in our midst”
who threatened group cooperation would be
“shame[d] by patriotic example.” If that failed,
they would be subjected to the “sovereignty of
the government.”

Roosevelt’s speech reflected a popular atti-
tude towards rights in wartime that was unique
in American history. During the War of Inde-
pendence and its aftermath in the struggle be-
tween Federalists and Jeffersonian Republicans,
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state and national officials lauded freedoms of
speech, press, and religion in the abstract even
as they limited those rights in practice. Simi-
larly, Abraham Lincoln’s reorientation of war-
time purpose from saving the Union to a cru-
sade against slavery, like Woodrow Wilson’s
support for national ethnic self-determination
in the Fourteen Points, linked the defense of de-
mocracy to a recognition of human rights. Yet
both leaders mobilized national morale by pros-
ecuting those who disagreed with these and other
wartime goals.” Roosevelt affirmed, however,
that the freedoms of expression and religion were
sources of patriotic feeling basic to any true
democracy.?

This new rights consciousness stimulated
new issues involving rights claims. From Inde-
pendence to the 1920s, assertions of civil liber-
ties were claims against individuals, groups, and
community authority. However, as totalitarian
regimes espoused creeds of racial and cultural
supremacy and threatened democratic institu-
tions on a world-wide scale during the 1930s and
1940s, popular demand grew for government
intervention to defend individual and group free-
dom on the basis of rights. As a result, radical
and moderate labor organizations, minority re-
ligious and racial groups, and libertarian advo-
cates such as the American Civil Liberties Union
acquired increased constitutional legitimacy.
More than ever before it was apparent that civil
liberties claims existed not only against persons
and governments but also within the community.
Thus the community’s power to curb and destroy
rights coexisted with its authority to sanction and
expand rights. Indeed, James Madison had
changed from opposing to supporting a bill of
rights in part because he said it would establish
a basis for appealing to the “sense of the com-
munity.”” Prior to the 1930s America’s record
of enforcing civil liberties was mixed at best; but
during the Second World War, Roosevelt’s Four
Freedom’s speech suggested Madison’s vision
was more likely to be fulfilled.

Roosevelt’s assertion that free expression was
fundamental indicated too the ascendancy of a
nonpartisan rights consciousness. It was true
that certain labor and humanitarian groups ben-
efiting from the new defense of free expression
belonged to the Democrats’ New Deal coalition. '
Nevertheless, Roosevelt gave preference to the
rights of speech and press “without regard to
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partisanship.” He did so in support of what he
called the “moral order,” a “good society. . . able
to face schemes of world domination and for-
eign revolutions alike without fear” Signifi-
cantly, certain Progressive Republicans since
Theodore Roosevelt had defended increased
freedom of expression on the ground that it
undercut radicalism and strengthened popular
attachment to established institutions.

The linkages between the Progressive Repub-
lican faction and the issue of free expression can
be inferred from controversies involving reform
labor legislation, including the struggle to re-
peal the labor injunction.!" Moreover, between
1905 and 1925, especially during World War I,
Charles Evans Hughes and Harlan Fiske Stone
took positions regarding Pacifists, Socialists, or
labor radicals that upheld freedom of expres-
sion, broadly defined.!? That Theodore
Roosevelt’s justification for seeking judicial
candidates not unfriendly to labor was driven by
conservative considerations is suggested by sev-
eral private letters. “If I appoint [Yale law pro-
fessor and state supreme court judge John K.]
Beach,” Roosevelt wrote William H. Taft, “I shall
make a statement to the effect that one of my
main reasons was to get on the [federal appeals]
court a man who had knowledge of, and real sym-
pathy with, the real needs of labor. He has been
counsel for a labor union.”® To a friend
Roosevelt wrote:

| think [Beach). . .has an understand-
ing of labor conditions and therefore
is prepared to sympathize with the la-
bor people when they are right. . .. |
wish a judge, and especially a Fed-
eral judge, to always have the broad
sympathy which would make him un-
derstand the labor side.™

Roosevelt’s letter to Henry Cabot Lodge regard-
ing the appointment of Oliver Wendell Holmes,
Jr., to the Supreme Court makes a similar point:

The labor decisions which have been
criticized by some of the big railroad
men and other members of large cor-
porations constitute to my mind a
strong point in Judge Holmes’ favor.
The ablest lawyers and greatest
judges are men whose past has natu-
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rally brought them into close relation-
ship with the wealthiest and most pow-
erful clients, and | am glad when | can
find a judge who has been able to pre-
serve his aloofness of mind so as to
keep his broad humanity of feeling and
his sympathy for the class from which
he has not drawn his clients. | think
it eminently desirable that our Su-
preme Court should show in unmis-
takable fashion their entire sympa-
thy with all proper effort to secure
the most favorable possible consid-
eration for the men who most need
that consideration.'®

placed civil liberties advocate Oliver Wendell
Holmes, Jr., in 1932), formed the first majority
in the Court’s history to uphold significant guar-
antees of free press and speech.'® The first of
Roosevelt’s Four Freedoms was thus consistent
with the values of noted Progressive Republi-
cans who by 1937 already had helped to trans-
form the meaning of the First Amendment.

For example, during World War I, Stone, as a
member of the Board of Inquiry investigating
political agitators, favored lenient treatment of
true pacifists and radicals whose conduct did not
involve force, because,

When one realizes the seriousness of
their purpose and the power of their

Between 1931 and 1937 Republicans reflect-
ing a Progressive tradition who served on the
Supreme Court were Charles Evans Hughes,
Harlan Fiske Stone, and Owen J. Roberts. These
three Justices, along with Democrats Louis D.

influence over the ignorant and dis-
contented, he can have no illusion that
the mere application of force to them
or the forcible suppression of their in-
cendiary utterances will bring any real
solution of the problem which they

Brandeis and Benjamin N. Cardozo (who re-

'

In 1942, Wendell L. Willkie argued the defense of William Schneiderman (center, flanked by U.S. Marshals), the secre-

tary of the Communist Party in California, before the Supreme Court. He urged the Court to reverse a Federal District
Court order revoking the citizenship of the Russian-born Schneiderman because of his political affiliation. Willkie later
complained that wartime provided a climate “psychologically susceptible to witch hunting and mob-baiting.”



create. . . All human experience
teaches us that a moral issue cannot
be suppressed or settled by making
its supporters martyrs."”

Also Stone denied that he voted with the major-
ity in Gitlow v. N.Y. (1925), claiming that al-
though the reporter included him in the major-
ity, in fact he had taken no part. Nevertheless,
he said, he preferred the dissenting views of
Holmes and Brandeis. He did, however, support
legislative restriction of free expression where
the threat was “real,” unlike Holmes and
Brandeis who viewed such risk as more fanci-
ful.’® Although the law practice of one of Stone’s
Brethren, Roberts, included many corporations,
his reputation for independence was such that,
after he prosecuted and won convictions of the
Teapot Dome malefactors, and successfully rep-
resented labor clients, he received the support of
most Progressive Republicans and organized la-
bor when Herbert Hoover appointed him to the
Supreme Court in 1930. U.S. Attorney General
Stone had supported Roberts as a special pros-
ecutor because of his reputation for indepen-
dence; Hughes also knew of Roberts by reputa-
tion for the same reason."

Roosevelt’s advocacy of religious expression
had other political and constitutional contingen-
cies. For years prior to Roosevelt’s Four Free-
doms speech, religious intolerance had influ-
enced national political discourse. During the
1928 presidential election Democrat Al Smith’s
appeal to urban ethnic voters aroused the reli-
gious prejudices of nativist Americans. Simi-
larly, anti-Semitism was central to the Rev.
Charles Coughlin’s attack on Roosevelt and the
New Deal throughout the 1930s. In Congress
debates involving labor activism or the status of
naturalized citizens of immigrant background
sometimes evidenced anti-Catholic and anti-Jew-
ish sentiments that linked ethnoreligious culture
to radicalism. The American government’s cau-
tious policy toward Jews attempting to flee Nazi
Germany and occupied Europe during the 1930s
and early 1940s focused further public attention
on the political dimensions of religion. In part
because of these problems Roosevelt’s Attorney
General Frank Murphy created within the Jus-
tice Department the Civil Liberties Unit, charged
with monitoring rights conflicts to determine
whether federal intervention was appropriate.?
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The Supreme Court was not immune to such
tensions. Roosevelt’s appointment of Murphy
to the Court in 1940 encountered subtle criti-
cism based on Murphy’s adherence to Catholi-
cism. Public comments concerning Justices
Brandeis and Cardozo sometimes had anti-
Semitic overtones; Justice James C. McReynolds’
known prejudice toward his two Jewish col-
leagues indicated, moreover, that religious in-
tolerance existed within as well as without the
Court.?® Thus Roosevelt’s formulation of reli-
gious expression as the second freedom suggested
that the time had come for the government to
confront one of the most conflicted dimensions
of American public discourse on the side of freer
religious expression.

The emergence of Wendell L. Willkie’s civil
libertarianism as a political force undoubtedly
also influenced Roosevelt. In 1938—the year
before he switched parties, which in turn led to
his surprise nomination as the Republican presi-
dential candidate in 1940—Willkie warned an
Indiana University audience that the “liberal
cause” was “still in need of defense.” “Fre-
quently,” he told his listeners, “you will find your-
self in the minority, and sometimes you will find
yourself alone” because the “liberal attempts to
do the most difficult thing in the world—namely,
to strike a true balance between the rights of the
individual and the needs of society.”” In his
dramatic presidential campaign, and afterward,
as a public figure whose services Roosevelt him-
self sought, Willkie’s “one world” liberalism
emphasized the importance of defending civil
rights and liberties from totalitarianism and im-
perialism abroad, and against racism and reli-
gious intolerance at home. He repeatedly spoke
and wrote eloquently of the need for American
democracy to end Jim Crow and to recognize
the equal rights of African-Americans.”

As war engulfed the nation Willkie found the
Bill of Rights a source of strength. He charged
that the anti-Semitism of Charles Lindbergh and
his Republican supporters threatened American
democracy from within. If the “American people
permit race prejudice to arise at this crucial mo-
ment,” he said, “they little deserve to preserve
democracy.” To the National Conference of
Christians and Jews he vowed to “fight” in the
“courtroom and from the public rostrum . . . for
the preservation of civil liberties, no matter
how unpopular the cause may be in any given
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instance” True to this pledge and against the
advice of his Republican Party advisors, he de-
fended William Schneiderman after federal Im-
migration and Naturalization authorities and two
lower federal courts decided to revoke the Rus-
sian-born Communist Party official’s status as a
naturalized citizen. Ultimately the government
lost. In 1942 the Supreme Court accepted
Willkie’s argument that the government’s action
was “a drastic abridgement of the freedom of po-
litical belief and thought.” Australian-born leftist
leader of the West Coast longshoremen’s union,
Harry Bridges observed that Willkie “was the
only man in America who has proved that he
would rather be right than be President.” By
contrast in the House of Representatives a Michi-
gan Republican attacked Willkie for aiding Com-
munists and hurting the GOP.*

Willkie’s faith in the interdependency of
rights guarantees and democracy during wartime
nonetheless was absolute. In an article for the
Saturday Evening Post entitled “The Case for
Minorities,” he responded to the scapegoating
the war had spawned based on what he called
“age-old racial and religious distrusts.” It was a
time that was “psychologically susceptible to
witch hunting and mob-baiting,” he stressed.
“And each of us, if not alert, may find himself
the unconscious carrier of the germ that will de-
stroy our freedom. For each of us has within
himself the inheritance of age-long hatreds, of
racial and religious differences, and everyone has
a tendency to find the cause for his own failures
in some conspiracy of evil.”® ’

The nonpartisan rights discourse of
Roosevelt and Willkie reflected new pressures
shaping rights claims. Throughout the nation’s
history Americans favored civil liberties in the
abstract but supported the general restriction of
rights in most cases. Of course, American elected
officials always had organized popular support
around appeals to freedom and liberty. Roosevelt
and Willkie, however, were the first leaders of
the two major political parties to mobilize vot-
ers around the proposition that the freedoms of
expression and religion were sources of group
loyalty in the struggle between democracy and
totalitarianism. Thus mainstream political party
discourse supported civil liberties not only as
claims against individuals or the community, but
also as the basis for defending the majority’s well-
being from a totalitarian threat. In short, it was
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now good politics for Democratic and Republi-
can party leaders to sanction and expand rights
claims. The old ambivalence concerning rights
certainly had not disappeared, it clearly persisted,
as the Republican criticism of Willkie indicated.
What had changed profoundly, though, were the
institutional and public pressures influencing the
Supreme Court’s determination of winners and
losers in civil liberties cases. On the Court and
within the wider legal culture Democratic sup-
porters of New Deal liberalism joined Progres-
sive Republicans to broaden civil liberties guar-
antees in support of the nation’s war effort.

Like Roosevelt’s and Willkie’s public dis-
course, professional legal discourse recognized
the interdependency between democracy and mi-
nority rights. A year after Pearl Harbor Louis
Lusky, a former law clerk of Justice Stone, pub-
lished in the Yale Law Journal an assessment of
the relation between what he called the public
interest and minority rights. Prior to the Court’s
new course of First Amendment decisions dur-
ing the 1930s, Lusky wrote, American constitu-
tional law “analyzed” rights claims “in terms of
their importance to the individual rather than
their value to the community as a whole.” There
had been, for example, “no suggestion of an af-
firmative public interest in the exercise of” the
rights to “comment upon and agitat[e] about
public affairs” As a result of the totalitarian
evil threatening democracy, however, Americans
proved themselves willing not only to fight for
the “American system” but also to “persecute”
those who held differing opinions about that
system.?®

During the 1930s, Lusky observed, the Court
“entered the lists” to “champion” a new “national
policy.” There was, first, “a public interest in
freedom of political activity, over and above the
individual interest in freedom to speak, publish,
and organize.” Second, “this public interest
[was] a rational interest which call[ed] for Fed-
eral protection.” Third, the “Court itself [was]
an appropriate Federal agency to administer this
national interest.” The Court sought to culti-
vate among all Americans the “genuine belief
that the laws are just.” In so doing it intended to
rely upon the “technique of political obligation
in preference to the technique of coercion.”



Coercion undermined popular “confidence that
the laws were just,” whereas the “sense of politi-
cal obligation . . . created . . . the establishment
of a community partnership in the running of
the government.”?’

The “existence of minorities” posed “special
problems” for the enforcement of the Court’s
national policy. The majority of Americans re-
garded minority groups with “widespread suspi-
cion and dislike,” promoting “official discrimi-
nation.” In a nation composed “almost entirely”
of recent immigrants, which included “very
substantial racial, religious, and national
minorities,” Lusky observed, popular distrust
and prejudice “impaired” the “sense of political
obligation” among “large segments of the com-
munity,” increasing the likelihood that the gov-
ernment would “fall back on the method of brute
force.” And “to the extent that this occurs,” he
warned, “we shall have ceased to be ‘a free coun-
try.”” Accordingly, the Court’s new rights policy
fostered the “general confidence” that “every per-
son has an equal opportunity to take part in con-
trolling the government which in turn controls
him.” The laws of such a government “serve[d]
the needs of the entire community by making a
fair adjustment between the conflicting interests
of groups within the community and advancing
as far as possible the welfare of the community
as a whole.” Democratic self-government and
minority rights thus were “related aspects of a
single problem—the creation and preservation
of a general sense of political obligation.”*

The underlying rationale of Lusky’s assess-
ment was basically conservative. The Court’s
purpose was to channel conflicts resulting from
the majority’s suspicion of minorities into what
he called the “regular corrective process,” in or-
der “to avoid violence by creating and preserv-
ing the possibility of peaceful change.” He called
for rigorous prosecution of actual violence, but
balance was essential. “Whether [official author-
ity] errs on the side of repression or on the side
of toleration, it hurts the cause of regular and
peaceful adjustment of official policies to the
needs of the people,” he said. Especially in light
of the immediate totalitarian threat, the Court’s
“national policy” went to “quite extreme lengths
in preserving the right of peaceful criticism,
while simultaneously setting a stern face against
violent opposition to the government or attempts
to hamper it in the waging of foreign wars.”?
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The overriding “national interest” was not only
in preserving democratic self-government but
also in:

enabling the common man to see its
advantages and know its feasibility. It
is an interest in quelling doubts as to
the practical efficacy of our system to
accomplish essential justice. It is an
interest in preventing deviations from
our national ideal, even in local gov-
emment, because deviations create
doubts. In short, it is an interest in
making a belief in our system a part
of the American creed.®

Lusky gave special attention to explaining
why minority rights issues required judicial in-
tervention. For decades, Holmes, Brandeis,
and Stone often had dissented in favor of a
majoritarian constitutional theory that preferred
legislative supremacy over the judicial activism
identified with economic due process. Begin-
ning in 1937 economic due process finally fell
before the majoritarian theory. But just as the
dissenting tradition triumphed regarding eco-
nomiic liberty, the Court announced decisions that
raised anew the counter-majoritarian difficulty
in litigation involving civil rights and civil lib-
erties.’® Having rejected one theory that justi-
fied judges substituting their will for that of the
majority’s representatives in economic cases, how
could the Court justify doing the same thing in
cases involving minority rights? The first deci-
sion that provided an answer to this question was
Palko v. Connecticut (1937). Cardozo’s opin-
ion held that the Court favored incorporating into
the Fourteenth Amendment’s Due Process Clause
only those rights broadly identified with the First
Amendment that it deemed essential to preserv-
ing “ordered liberty.” Palko thus resolved the
counter-majoritarian difficulty by placing the
First Amendment’s text on a higher plane than
the democratic processes.*

Lusky, by contrast, provided a counter-
majoritarian theory derived from United States
v. Carolene Products Co. (1938).3* The princi-
pal holding of Stone’s majority opinion was that
in commercial cases the Court would enforce the
majoritarian theory. The three paragraphs of the
decision’s footnote four declared, however, that
cases involving, Lusky said, the “protection of
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the ‘political processes’ were different because
the scapegoating of “insular minorities™ and
other evils prevented democracy from correct-
ing itself. In such cases, Lusky continued, judi-
cial intervention served an important role in the
“maintenance of the basic conditions of just leg-
islation. By preserving the hope that bad laws
can and will be changed, the Court preserves the
basis for the technique of political obligation,
minimizing extra-legal opposition to the govern-
ment by making it unnecessary.” In addition,
footnote four “spells out the relationship between
the need for just conditions of lawmaking and
the need for a constitutional rule against official
action based on the dislike of minorities.” When
leaders used this dislike to exploit democracy, it
was the Court’s job to remove impediments to
democracy’s “regular corrective processes.”
Finally, footnote four recognized that the Court
was “acting with full consciousness of its role as
the maker rather than the mere interpreter of the

organic law.”*

As Stone’s law clerk when the Justice
authored Carolene Product’s, Lusky had an in-
timate association with footnote four.*® He knew
that Chief Justice Hughes had urged Stone to add
what became the footnote’s first paragraph.
Hughes’ insertion accepted Stone’s basic idea.
But the Chief Justice’s premise differed in that
he argued that the Court should give presump-
tion primarily to those rights specifically con-
tained in the text of the Bill of Rights and other
constitutional provisions. Hugo L. Black, who
apparently declined to endorse Stone’s original
draft of footnote four, essentially agreed with
Hughes’ textualist premise, undoubtedly be-
cause it confined the Court’s discretion within
more precise limits. In order to hold the four
to three majority he had in the Carolene Prod-
ucts decision (two other Justices did not par-
ticipate) Stone included the sentences Hughes
proposed.*

Angelo Herndon, a scholarly Cincinnatti Communist, was photographed in 1935 at the offices of the International

Labor Defence, an organization enlisted to fight his conviction under Georgia law for possession of purportedly radical
publications such as Life and Struggles of Negro Toilers and Communism and Christianism Analyzed and Contrasted
from Marxian and Darwinian Points of View. A 5-4 decision by the Supreme Court in 1937 overturned the ruling
because the pamphlets did not present “a clear and present danger.”
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Thus footnote four contained two justifica-
tions for resolving the counter-majoritarian dif-
ficulty. The Hughes principle compelled a
stricter standard of scrutiny for rights derived
directly from the Constitution’s text. Stone’s
justification for employing a different standard
in rights cases than those involving commercial
enterprise was, by contrast, more functional: he
supported judicial intervention on behalf of
“insular minorities” primarily to ensure
proper operation of the democratic processes.”’
According to Robert M. Cover, Stone argued for
“extending the scope of judicial review not in
terms of the special value of certain rights but in
terms of their vulnerability to perversions by the
majoritarian process.” Unlike the textualist pre-
sumption of Hughes and Black, then, Stone’s
original two paragraph version of footnote four
did “not require that one accept on any authority
the privileged character of any specific interest.
Rather [his] paragraphs two and three offer a
justification that is entirely responsive to the
political theory premises of the counter-
majoritarian difficulty itself.”*®

Lusky’s emphasis upon Stone’s rather than
Hughes’ justification for judicial defense of mi-
nority rights was noteworthy. By the time
Lusky’s article was published in 1942 it was clear,
as Willkie’s statements of the same year indi-
cated, that scapegoating of minorities threatened
the nation’s “sense of political obligation.”*
Still, the coming of war merely accentuated the
findings of social science research that legal aca-
demics had published during the late 1930s,
showing that contemporary dictatorial regimes
manipulated the masses by appeals to “hate-mon-
gering.” The implication of this rights discourse
was that dictators exploited a “pathological” ten-
dency common to popular governments in gen-
eral, throughout time.* Directly or indirectly
these commentators suggested that as long as mi-
norities existed, the authorities’ manipulation of
the majority’s antagonism threatened popular
government, not just in wartime, but always.
Hughes’ defense of judicial intervention during
both peace and war sought primarily to protect
minorities from democratic majorities. Stone
went one step further in that he hoped to use the
Court’s authority to save democracy from itself.*!

Another indication of how the tension within
rights discourse transcended the war was the
American Bar Association’s Committee on the

FIRST AMENDMENT

Bill of Rights. The ABA established the com-
mittee during the summer of 1938, not long af-
ter the Carolene Products decision. The man
who conceived the idea of the committee was
Greenville Clark, the cofounder of one of New
York’s most established firms. Like Stone,
Lusky, and Hughes, Clark justified defending
civil liberty in essentially conservative terms.*
After his loss to Roosevelt in 1940, Willkie also
continued to fight for his liberal faith as a mem-
ber of the Committee.*

The Committee’s member who was most
identified with civil liberties was Zechariah
Chafee, Jr. A professor at Harvard Law School,
Chafee was the nation’s foremost authority on
freedom of expression and the First Amend-
ment.** He pursued a middle course between
lawyers who rigidly adhered to the status quo
and others who were “anxious for change.” Yet
he was “reluctant to stop other men from trying
to make things better.”” Concerning free expres-
sion, “Unlimited discussion sometimes interferes
with fother governmental] purposes, which must
then be balanced against freedom of speech, but
freedom of speech ought to weigh very heavily
in the scale. The First Amendment gives bind-
ing force to this principle of political wisdom,”
he wrote. In either peacetime or war “no free
speech problems can be satisfactorily solved by
men who think only of the risks from open dis-
cussion. It is indispensable to balance against
those risks the deeply felt realization that one of
the most important purposes of society and gov-
ernment is the discovery and spread of true facts
and sound judgments on subjects of general con-
cern.”®

Professional legal discourse thus reflected the
tensions inherent in the new rights conscious-
ness. Lusky’s contention that the technique of
political obligation was dependent upon the pro-
civil liberties policy the Court had developed
since the early 1930s, and assumed the ongoing
influence of “hatemongering.” Similarly, legal
research published in law reviews during the late
1930s identified “pathological” tendencies
within popular governments, which authoritar-
ian leaders manipulated to destroy democracy.
In response to this internal threat the ABA
founded its Bill of Rights Committee. Among
legal elites the Committee institutionalized the
new rights consciousness that many liberals and
conservatives shared. Chafee and other civil
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libertarian liberals were primarily concerned
about protecting individual freedom from state
authority. Lusky, by contrast, incorporated into
the rights discourse of legal elites a more con-
servative defense of established institutions from
corrosive hatemongering that undermined de-
mocracy. Cardozo’s prioritization in Palko of
the First Amendment as the foundation of or-
dered liberty, as well as both the textualist and
functional premises of Carolene Products foot-
note four, indicated that the Court contributed
directly to this rights discourse. The exigencies
of war demanded more than ever that legal elites
and the Court strike a balance, not only between
individual liberty and governmental authority but
also within the contradictory passions of democ-
racy itself.

The Court’s wartime tests of the First Amend-
ment drew upon a growing body of doctrine. At
the end of World War I, a majority of the Court
used a narrow construction of the clear and
present danger doctrine to hold that federal con-
victions of humanitarian activists and labor radi-
cals under federal espionage laws did not vio-
late the free speech and press provisions of the
First Amendment.* During the 1920s, begin-
ning with Gitlow v. N.Y. (1925), the Court rec-
ognized that the Fourteenth Amendment’s Due
Process Clause included these First Amendment
provisions for purposes of establishing federal
jurisdiction; but the Court applied the substan-
tive rule of the federal espionage cases to uphold
state prosecutions of labor radicals. Gitlow and
subsequent cases also raised questions concern-
ing the theory of incorporation governing the
provisions of the Bill of Rights that applied to
the states under the Fourteenth Amendment.
Throughout this period Holmes, Brandeis, and
Stone often dissented, arguing for the more lib-
eral construction of the clear and present danger
doctrine advocated by Chafee and the ACLU.
Between 1930 and 1932 Hughes, Roberts, and
Cardozo joined the Court. As a result, in cases
involving substantive issues of freedom of speech
and press, the liberal policy the dissenters had
advocated became majority doctrine, yet the theo-
retical issues involving incorporation remained
unsettled.¥

The Hughes Court’s new course of First
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Amendment decisions evolved within the limits
of Chafee’s balancing theory.*® In the initial es-
pionage cases Holmes had applied the clear and
present danger doctrine to declare that adjusting
the respective interests of the government and
individual expression was “always a question of
proximity and degree.” Even so, the Court’s ra-
tionale looked to the possible future results of
individual action, employing what was essen-
tially a bad tendency test.* Chafee’s theory,
which Holmes and the other dissenters subse-
quently adopted, shifted the burden of proof from
the individual to the government; in so doing it
sanctioned a policy that inevitably required
weighing certain rights over others. Hughes’
appointment as Chief Justice initiated the new
pro-First Amendment majority and he subse-
quently urged Stone to incorporate this policy
into footnote four. By that time, numerous deci-
sions had affirmed the weighting of rights guar-
antees.>

Prior to 1940 the majority that decided First
Amendment cases shifted. From 1931 to 1937,
the Court established the foundation for the new
First Amendment doctrine in opinions that, with
rare exception, either Hughes or Roberts wrote.
The dissenting Justices were, moreover, usually
the very ones that New Dealers dubbed the Four
Horsemen: James C. McReynolds, George Suth-
erland, Willis Van Devanter, and Pierce Butler.
By the time the Court decided Palko in De-
cember 1937, the Four Horseman had begun
to resign. Ironically, the triumph of a New Deal
liberal consensus concerning the regulation of
economic liberty coincided with new disagree-
ments about the scope and limits of First Amend-
ment freedoms.>!

The Court’s initial decisions of the 1930s sig-
nificantly expanded free press and speech guar-
antees. In the first case, Hughes upheld the right
of Communist League member Yetta Stromberg
to display a red flag during a morning ceremony
advocating radical working-class theories at a
young peoples’ camp, contrary to a California
law punishing utterances that threatened the
overthrow of organized government by unlaw-
ful means.”* Shortly thereafter Hughes sus-
tained—over a Minneapolis ordinance that pun-
ished publication of inflammatory or radical
news stories—the right to publish of newspa-
per editor J. M. Near, even though his press
frequently appealed to the public’s anti-Semitic
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sentiments.* Five years later, Sutherland’s opin-
ion overturned the conviction of twelve Louisi-
ana newspapers upon which the state had im-
posed an advertising receipts tax; probably in-
fluenced by the legislature’s blatant use of the
taxing power to intimidate anti-Huey Long news-
papers, the Court affirmed the First
Amendment’s free press guarantee unani-
mously.**

In 1937 alone there were three significant
opinions. On the basis of the First Amendment’s
guarantee of peaceful assembly, Justice Roberts
overturned the conviction under an Oregon
criminal syndicalism law of labor activist Dirk
DelJonge, who had criticized police interference
during an orderly worker protest in Portland.>
A more controversial case was Herndon v. Lowry.
An African-American who admitted to being a
member of the Communist Party, Angelo
Herndon was charged with the possession of
purportedly radical publications that included
such titles as Life and Struggles of Negro Toil-
ers and Communism and Christianism Analyzed
and Contrasted from Marxian and Darwinian
Points of View. Georgia authorities convicted
Herndon under a state law not unlike that at is-
sue in the Stromberg case. Robert’s opinion for
a 5-4 majority nonetheless rejected employing a
bad tendency test and overturned the conviction
on the ground that Herndon’s mere possession
of controversial publications did not present the
state with a “clear and present danger.” The
Georgia law “as construed and applied, amounts
merely to a dragnet,” Roberts said. The “bound-
aries” the law “set to the freedom of speech and
assembly,” lacking as they did “any reasonably
ascertainable standard of guilt,” were thus so
“vague and indeterminate” that they violated the
“liberty embodied in the Fourteenth Amend-
ment.”%

Herndon represented a tenuous doctrinal
shift. Prior to Robert’s opinion, decided April
26, 1937, Hughes and the majority favoring the
defense of First Amendment freedoms had re-
lied broadly on a theory of fundamental liberty
derived from the Fourteenth Amendment’s Due
Process Clause, suggested first in Gitlow. The
theoretical standard was analogous to the domi-
nant “liberty of contract” jurisprudence prevail-
ing under economic due process. Essentially,
Lusky observed, the Court’s new civil liberties
majority had taken what amounted to a jurispru-
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dential “free ride on the coattails of the more
tradition-bound [pro-liberty of contract] Broth-
ers.”” He also argued, and the First Amend-
ment decisions decided between 1931 and 1937
support him, that Stone and “his like-minded col-
leagues had been content to dispense with any
presumption of constitutionality—justifying their
position easily, of course, on the ground that lib-
erties enshrined in the Bill of Rights deserved as
full protection as did ‘liberty of contract’ and
that sauce for the goose should be sauce for the
gander.”*®

On April 12, 1937, however, the Court be-
gan overturning economic due process, at least
insofar as it applied to New Deal legislation, in
the Jones and Laughlin case. Thus with the de-
mise of freedom of contract the reliance upon
fundamental liberty in Bill of Rights—Four-
teenth Amendment due process cases became in-
creasingly problematic.”® In Herndon, the facts
seemed close enough to those in Gitlow that
Roberts was able to avoid confronting the prob-
lem squarely by relying upon the libertarian ver-
sion of the clear and present danger doctrine.
But given the range of civil liberties issues the
Court had decided since 1931, a continued de-
pendence solely upon the clear and present dan-
ger doctrine after 1937 would have been diffi-
cult indeed.®

The third significant decision of 1937 did not
directly raise First Amendment issues. Never-
theless, following the collapse of economic due
process, the case presented one resolution of the
jurisprudential problem raised by the incorpora-
tion of Bill of Rights provisions in the Fourteenth
Amendment’s Due Process Clause. As noted
above, Cardozo’s opinion in Palko v. Connecti-
cut declared that the restrictions against state
action of the Fourteenth Amendment’s Due Pro-
cess Clause incorporated from the Bill of Rights
only those “specific pledges of particular amend-
ments, as are implicit in the concept of ordered
liberty.” Cardozo then specifically listed the First
Amendment’s guarantees of free speech, press,
assembly, and religion as the “matrix, the indis-
pensable condition, of nearly every other form
of freedom.” The precedents he cited to support
his point included the opinions Hughes and Rob-
erts had written since 1931.%' Thus to a consid-
erable extent Palko formally articulated a
textualist theory of First Amendment freedoms
like that Hughes pressed Stone to include in foot-
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note four of Carolene Products.”

The theoretical consistency between Palko
and Hughes’ contribution to footnote four was
suggested further by Lovell v. Griffin. Handed
down in late March 1938, the Lovell decision
coincided with the period Stone and Lusky
worked on drafting Carolene Products, which
the Court decided that April. Alma Lovell was
a Jehovah’s Witness, a Christian sect whose pros-
elytizing included door-to-door distribution of
official church publications. A Georgia court
convicted her for violating the City of Griffin’s
ordinance prohibiting the distribution of
circulars, handbooks, advertising, or literature
of any kind, without a permit. The issue before
the Court was whether Lovell’s distribution of
Jehovah’s Witness literature was protected from
state interference by the First Amendment’s free
press and speech guarantees.®

Hughes for a unanimous Court upheld Lovell.
He declared that, while a city could regulate the
time, place, and circumstance of distribution
activities, it could not make such action contin-

93

gent solely upon what was essentially a licens-
ing requirement. Equating this requirement with
the sort of prior restraints that authorities had
imposed upon printed works from John Milton
to Tom Paine, Hughes held the ordinance invalid
on its face as contrary to the intent of the Fram-
ers of the First Amendment’s free speech and
press guarantees, enforced through the Four-
teenth Amendment’s Due Process Clause. The
line of precedents Hughes cited as authority in-
cluded Palko.*

The broader implications of Hughes’ Lovell
decision became apparent in 1939. In Hague v.
Committee for Industrial Organization, Jersey
City’s Mayor Frank (“I am the law”) Hague at-
tempted through municipal regulations prohib-
iting public assembly to suppress the discussion
of workers’ rights, including the collective bar-
gaining provisions of the 1935 National Labor
Relations Act. The case arose when Hague re-
fused to grant CIO officials a permit for an out-
of-door meeting. The ABA’s Bill of Rights Com-
mittee filed a brief on the union’s behalf. Hague

Jersey City’s mayor, Frank Hague, essentially closed his city to union activities by passing municipal ordinances outlaw-
ing public assembly and public leafletting. In a 1939 decision, the Supreme Court ruled that his barring the CIO from
holding outdoor meetings constituted a violation of First Amendment rights of free speech and press. Mayor Hague is
pictured here at right with his wife and son aboard the SS Berengaria in 1924.
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had, Chafee observed, “fought the closed shop
by establishing the closed city.” The Court’s
majority, including Roberts, Black, Stone,
Stanley F. Reed, and Hughes upheld the First
Amendment and the CIO’s right to assemble.®
Near the end of the year the Court decided three
other cases involving municipal prohibitions
against literature distribution in public streets
by, respectively, a labor group, Friends of the Lin-
coln Brigade, and Jehovah’s Witnesses. Authori-
ties from Los Angeles, Milwaukee, and
Irvington, New Jersey, maintained that the ordi-
nances were necessary to preserve clean streets.
Relying on Lovell and the other First Amend-
ment precedents of the 1930s, Roberts for an
eight to one majority nonetheless held that the
ordinances violated the guarantees of free speech
and press.%

The Hague decision reinforced both Palko
and the Hughes and Stone theories of footnote
four. Mayor Hague’s dramatic action obscured
a technical jurisdictional issue involving the jus-
tification for issuing a remedial decree enjoin-
ing city authorities from interfering with the
CIO’s public assembly. While the Court up-
held the CIO’s First Amendment rights on the
merits, the majority was divided on the applica-
tion of the Fourteenth Amendment. Roberts and
Black wanted to decide the jurisdictional issue
on the ground that the Privileges and Immuni-
ties Clause guaranteed the rights of citizens.
Stone and Hughes, however, argued for relying
upon the Due Process Clause.% Since the Slaugh-
terhouse Cases of 1873, the Court had held that
the privileges and immunities clause protected
only the most minimal rights claims.® But the
Due Process Clause, as the freedom of contract
tradition and First Amendment decisions since
1931 indicated, had been and could be construed
to sustain a wide range of civil liberties claims.
The Fourteenth Amendment’s due process ju-
risprudence was so developed, moreover, that it
included more flexible boundaries regulating
state intervention. Thus in Hague Roberts and
Black favored restricting judicial discretion
within narrower limits than did Stone and
Hughes.®

Ultimately, a reliance upon the Due Process
Clause fostered the Court’s adoption of Chafee’s
balancing theory. As early as 1926, Charles
Warren’s assessment of Gitlow pointed out that
the “mere decision that the right of free speech
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or any other fundamental right is included within
the [Fourteenth Amendment’s] term ‘liberty,’
does not protect such right against state legisla-
tion, unless the Court goes further and decides
that the state legislation involved did not consti-
tute ‘due process.”” And if the question arose
whether the “statute depriving a man of his ‘lib-
erty’ of free speech constituted ‘due process,’ the
State might fairly contend that the statute was
not arbitrary and that its provisions had a clear
and reasonable relation to some other object con-
cerning the public welfare”™ Warren’s recog-
nition of the balancing policy implicit in the Due
Process Clause was consistent with the Court’s
affirmation in Lovell that the exercise of indi-
vidual expression could be regulated on the ba-
sis of time, place, and circumstances. Hague
and the literature distribution cases of 1939 sus-
tained this same principle. The basic holding of
these decisions was in turn compatible with the
prioritization of First Amendment liberties af-
firmed in Palko and the textualist principle
Hughes favored in Lovell and his contribution
to footnote four. Finally, as Lusky suggested,
Stone’s functional theory of footnote four was
also compatible with the sort of balancing the
Due Process Clause permitted.”

Once the war began, the Court faced con-
tinuing pressure to expand First Amendment
protections. Between 1940 and 1942 the Court
had a new member each Term, while the class of
litigants changed little. During the 1940 and
1941 Terms Roosevelt appointed, respectively,
Murphy and James F. Byrnes to replace Butler
and McReynolds; in 1941 Hughes also resigned,
whereupon Roosevelt made Stone Chief Justice
and appointed Robert H. Jackson as Associate
Justice. Shortly after Pearl Harbor, Byrnes left
the Court to lead the mobilization effort and
Roosevelt replaced him with Wiley B.
Rutledge. Meanwhile, from 1940 to 1945 the
principal litigants asserting First Amendment
rights claims were either established repre-
sentatives of organized labor or Jehovah’s
Witnesses.”

The leading labor case of 1940 challenged
picketing. In Thornhill v. Alabama the issue was
whether the First Amendment’s speech and press
guarantees protected a peaceful picket line pro-
testing working conditions in a Tuscaloosa busi-
ness.” The state courts held that the picketing
workers violated a state law prohibiting public
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demonstrations on or near a firm’s premises. On

appeal to the Supreme Court of the United States,

however, Justice Murphy cited Palko and the
values of Carolene Products and footnote four,
declaring that peaceful picketing was a form of
“free discussion,” which, consistent with the pur-
poses of the nation’s Founders, was “indispens-
able to the effective and intelligent use of the
processes of popular government to shape the
destiny of modern industrial society.” Employ-
ing the balancing principle weighted in favor of
free expression, Murphy applied the clear and
present danger doctrine to reverse the convic-
tions, holding that a community’s majority, as
well as the minority, had an interest in “test[ing]
the merits of ideas by competition for acceptance
in the market of public opinion.””

In Thornhill only McReynolds voted against
a majority that included Hughes.” But subse-
quent picketing cases found the Court divided
over where the community should locate the
boundary to permissible demonstrations. Where
picketing itself was peaceful but surrounding cir-
cumstances nonetheless engendered disorder,
Frankfurter declared that the interests of a dairy
business should prevail over the Milk Wagon
Drivers Union’s guarantee of free expression.
Black, Douglas, and Reed, however, dissented.™
Yet in a similar case in which peaceful picket-
ing was not a proximate cause of disorder,
Frankfurter’s opinion favored the union’s rights.
But Roberts and Hughes dissented.”

In the picketing cases Frankfurter wanted to
give more weight to community control. Unlike
Thornhill, which presented the question of an
overly broad statutory prohibition, the two sub-
sequent picketing cases raised a narrower issue
of whether differing fact situations justified a
state court granting injunctive relief. Yet in all
three cases, Frankfurter asserted, he merely bal-
anced the First Amendment’s guarantees against
the compelling claims of the community. The
Constitution’s federal principle imposed upon the
Court the authority to establish the balance. But
that duty recognized that state courts also pos-
sessed power to adjust the balance and Frank-
furter favored giving local authorities wider
room for experimenting with the limits of First
Amendment guarantees than did Black and
Douglas.™

Frankfurter’s views were in the minority in
other First Amendment cases involving labor.
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During the 1940 and 1941 Terms Frankfurter
lost a bitter fight with Black. California courts
found labor leader Harry Bridges and the Los
Angeles Times guilty of contempt for publicly
criticizing the courts’ handling of a labor dis-
pute. When the case reached the Supreme Court
of the United States during the 1940 Term,
Frankfurter initially had a 5-4 majority to sus-
tain the state’s contempt power. By the time the
Court handed down its final decision during the
1941 Term, however, the resignations of Hughes
and McReynolds resulted in Black writing for a
5-4 majority upholding the First Amendment on
the basis of the clear and present danger doc-
trine.” In the last year of the war, the drift of
First Amendment labor cases was still more
against Frankfurter. In Thomas v. Collins
Rutledge wrote for a one-vote majority striking
down a Texas law that imposed a license require-
ment upon labor representatives in order to ad-
dress a meeting. Frankfurter dissented from ex-
tending the clear and present danger doctrine in
such cases.®

The doctrinal basis for the Court’s First
Amendment decisions was increasingly problem-
atic. From 1931 to 1937 Hughes led a majority
that for the first time in the Court’s history con-
sistently expanded free speech and press guar-
antees. Relying upon a jurisprudential theory
analogous to freedom of contract and economic
due process, the Court during these years rested
its new course of First Amendment decisions
upon the Fourteenth Amendment’s general guar-
antee of liberty. As Warren suggested in 1926,
implicit in this use of liberty was a balancing
principle consistent with Chafee’s liberal con-
struction of the clear and present danger doc-
trine. Working within established economic due
process doctrines permitted the Court to remain
vague regarding the doctrinal justification for its
extension of First Amendment freedoms of
speech and press. After the dismantling of eco-
nomic due process began in 1937, however, such
strategic avoidance was no longer possible. By
the time America entered the war the divergence
among Roosevelt’s liberal appointees indicated
that never again could the Court escape the need
to formulate a counter-majoritarian theory legiti-
mating rights claims. Accordingly, the Palko
opinion combined with the language Hughes’
added to footnote four presented a textualist
theory requiring a prioritization of rights.
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Stone’s functionalist theory of footnote four fo-
cused, by contrast, upon the Court’s role in pre-
venting the disruption of democratic processes
from within.

v

During the war, the Court followed an un-
even course away from Frankfurter in the
Jehovah’s Witnesses cases. In Cantwell v. Con-
necticut (1940) the Court considered for the first
time the Witnesses’ argument that the Fourteenth
Amendment’s Due Process Clause incorporated
the First Amendment’s free exercise of religion
guarantee. A New Haven ordinance empowered
local officials to punish public proselytizing if
some proven disturbance of the peace resulted.
On a public street, where the residents were
ninety percent Roman Catholic, the Cantwells
offered Witness literature to anyone who freely
took it; they also asked to play a phonograph
record bearing the same message for anyone who
willingly listened. Two Catholics who volun-
tarily accepted the Cantwell’s religious solicita-
tions were offended by passages that attacked
their faith. Although no significant disturbance
occurred, state courts found Newton Cantwell
and his two sons Jesse and Russell guilty un-
der the local ordinance. Upon appeal to the
Supreme Court, however, Justice Roberts for
a unanimous Court reversed the convictions,
declaring that the Cantwells’ conduct did not
pose a clear and present danger and that,
therefore, the First Amendment protected the
free exercise of their religion. The Roberts
opinion in Herndon used the clear and present
danger doctrine to extend the guarantees of
free speech and press; in the same way Rob-
erts now enlarged that doctrine to protect re-
ligious expression.®!

The Witnesses’ faith confronted a greater
challenge from state requirements that public
school children salute the American flag. Dur-
ing the early twentieth century many states, en-
deavoring to strengthen citizenship training in
the public schools, mandated that students ac-
company the pledge of allegiance with an up-
raising of the right arm as a salute of patriotic
respect. Over the years public authorities in dif-
ferent communities prosecuted members of vari-
ous religious groups because they refused to sa-
lute. As a result of a few of these prosecutions
officials took children from their families and
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placed them in public institutions.?? During the
1930s the Witnesses joined the ranks of flag sa-
lute protestors. Their refusal was based on the
command of Exodus 20:3-5:

You shall have no other gods before
me. You shall not make yourself a
graven image, or any likeness of any-
thing . . . you shall not bow down to
them or serve them.

Witnesses interpreted these words to mean
that national flags “represent the government and
what the government stands for. The law of the
nation or government that compels the child of
God to salute the national flag compels that per-
son to salute the Devil as the invisible god of
the nation. The Christian, therefore, must choose
to yield to God’s enemy or to remain true to al-
mighty God.”® Faithful to their convictions, Wit-
nesses went to German concentration camps
rather than make Hitler’s arm salute.®

In Minersville, Pennsylvania, Walter Gobitas
and his family took the same stand for their be-
liefs. Following a confrontation with the local
school board over the state’s flag salute man-
date, Gobitas removed his children from the
public schools. In accordance with the state’s
compulsory school attendance laws, the family
enrolled the children in private school. But the
expense proved too great. As a result, repre-
sented by the Witnesses’ lawyer and the ACLU,
Gobitas challenged the flag salute law on the
ground that it violated the First and Fourteenth
Amendment’s guarantee of religious freedom.
The state based its defense on at least a century
of precedents that established the “secular regu-
lation” rule. It was, declared a leading prece-
dent of 1827, “a maxim of universal application”
that “where liberty of conscience would impinge
on the paramount right of the public, it ought to
be restrained.” Despite precedent, however, both
the federal trial and appeals courts upheld the
Gobitas children’s freedom of conscience as pro-
tected by the First Amendment.®

The school board appealed to the Supreme
Court. A number of times before the Court had
declined to consider the issue. But the flag sa-
lute suit coincided with the Court’s decision of
Cantwell and the Alabama picketing case. The
Court considered all three cases, moreover,
amidst the military collapse of France during the
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William Gobitas’s daughter,
Jana Gobitas, abstained from
saluting the flag in her third-
grade classroom of Bayside
School, Milwaukee, in 1965.
She did not face any
punishment, thanks to the
Court’s 1943 decision
reversing Gobitis.

winter and spring of 1940. By the time the Court
handed down the Gobitis opinion on June 3,
British troops had just completed their dramatic
evacuation from Dunkirk to England. Some
commentators at the time and afterwards ex-
plained the Court’s Gobitis opinion as a reflec-
tion of the Justices’ concern that the relentless
Axis advance compelled upholding the flag sa-
lute as a primary symbol of American national
unity. Such a view, however, is incomplete.®
The Court decided Gobitis against the Wit-
nesses.’” Frankfurter’s opinion for an eight to
one majority rested narrowly on the “secular
regulation” rule and the Court’s own unanimous

When school districts made
the pledge of allegiance
compulsory, Walter Gobitas’s
children, William and Lillian
(left), Jehovah’s Witnesses,
were expelled for refusing to
salute the flag. In Minersville
School District v. Gobitis
(1940)—the name was
misspelled in the Court
records—Harlan Fiske Stone
wrote a lone dissent arguing
that the pledge requirement
was a violation of the
children’s freedom of
religion.

1934 decision affirming the University of
California’s expulsion of a conscientious objec-
tor who refused to take a required military train-
ing course.® Citing the majoritarian theory of
Carolene Products, Frankfurter distinguished the
flag salute issue from that raised in Cantwell and
the other First Amendment precedents stretch-
ing back to 1931. In keeping with the view
Hughes took during the consideration of Gobitis
in conference, Frankfurter held that the “court-
room is not the arena for debating issues of edu-
cational policy. It is not our province to choose
among competing considerations in the subtle
process of securing effective loyalty to the tradi-



tional ideals of democracy.”® Frankfurter’s opin-
ion refuted the balancing theory Chafee advanced
in the ABA rights committee’s amicus brief that
favored protecting the individual’s conscience
from state coercion.®

Stone wrote a lone dissent that ultimately
shaped the Court’s wartime First Amendment
decisions. Conceding that “guarantees of per-
sonal liberty” were “not always absolute,” he
nonetheless asserted that the Court should give
preference to the right of religious conscience.
Stone affirmed not only that the individual ben-
efited from the Court protecting the guarantee
of religious conscience, but also that democracy
gained as well. Where “prejudice against dis-
crete and insular minorities may tend to curtail
the operation of those political processes ordi-
narily to be relied on to protect minorities,” a
more “searching judicial inquiry” was essential.
As authority Stone cited footnote four.”!

The opinions in Gobitis suggested the po-
tential consequences of the two premises inher-
ent in footnote four. Frankfurter’s contention
that all provisions of the Bill of Rights were equal
rejected the principle that First Amendment guar-
antees should be given preference. His reliance
upon the secular regulation rule and other pre-
cedents to limit the reach of religious expres-
sion protected by the Amendment was consis-
tent with the view Hughes apparently expressed
during the Court’s consideration of the issue in
conference. Even so, both Frankfurter and
Hughes looked no further than the precedents
prescribing the meaning of the First Amendment,
which as Cover observed, “required[d] a more
rigorous standard of scrutiny for rights specifi-
cally enumerated . . . in the Constitution,” to
determine that the Court should not exercise its
authority to prevent the state’s coercion of the
Gobitas children’s conscience. Frankfurter thus
accepted the premise, if not the full implications,
of the textualist theory of footnote four.”> Stone’s
dissent, by contrast, expressly rested upon the
footnote’s functional theory. The Witness
family’s plight presented an individual rights
claim that a democratic majority, especially
amidst the traumatic totalitarian advance of
1940, could readily repress in the name of patri-
otic unity. And for Stone that was precisely the
point. It was unlikely that a democratic com-
munity would on its own accord permit an ob-
scure minority’s liberty of conscience to prevail
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over the hopes and fears the flag salute symbol-
ized. Yet Stone perceived that the majority’s sup-
pression of the minority’s conscience threatened
democracy from within; accordingly, he rejected
the very idea that totalitarian techniques might
be used to preserve democratic processes. Even
s0, Stone’s dissent was an eloquent argument for
the basically conservative contention that enlarg-
ing the guarantee of religious expression pro-
tected by the First Amendment would strengthen
rather than undermine democracy.”

Lusky quotes an anecdote Grenville Clark
attributed to Elihu Root. Root urged Alexander
Kerensky to suppress the ideological campaign
of the Communist Party; Kerensky refused to do
so on the ground that it was contrary to free
speech and press rights. Apparently in support
of Root’s vigorous opposition to overt action,
Lusky observed that the “October Revolution
settled the argument.” But Lusky’s larger point
was that expression like that at issue in Gobitis
was not likely to result in overt acts and there-
fore its protection by the Court would improve
the functioning of the democratic process.

The two Gobitis opinions further suggested
contrasting approaches to First Amendment pre-
cedent. During much of the 1930s the Hughes
Court worked within the economic due process
conception of liberty prescribed in the Fourteenth
Amendment to extend First Amendment speech
and press guarantees. As the Court began dis-
mantling economic liberty in 1937, Cardozo’s
Palko opinion provided a jurisprudential bridge
from the earlier Hughes Court First Amendment
precedents to the cases decided from 1937 on.
Applying Palko, the Court generally relied on
the balancing theory inherent in the clear and
present danger doctrine. Both that doctrine and
Palko itself, linked as they were to the textualist
presumptions underlying Hughes’ and Roberts’
pre-1937 decisions, confined the extension of
First Amendment freedoms within relatively
narrow limits. Had the Court applied the 1930s
precedents within the framework of political ob-
ligation tied to Stone’s functional theory of foot-
note four, as Lusky suggested, it would have ex-
panded the scope of rights claims. The initial
implication of the Gobitis decision was, how-
ever, that during wartime the Court would pur-
sue the path it had pioneered with caution.®

During the next three years Jehovah’s
Witnesses instituted a coordinated litigation
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strategy aimed at securing greater constitutional
protection. Groups of Witnesses descended on
small towns, seeking converts door to door and
along the public streets. Throughout this period
the Justice Department’s Civil Rights Unit re-
corded hundreds of incidents nationwide in
which Witnesses were assaulted, sometimes as a
result of disloyalty charges associated with
Gobitis. Meanwhile, most newspaper editori-
als, religious periodicals (including Roman
Catholic publications), and law journals sup-
ported the Witnesses’ rights generally and criti-
cized Gobitis in particular. There were also nu-
merous state prosecutions under ordinances like
those at issue in earlier cases.” The Witnesses
won the right to parade for proselytizing pur-
poses.”® But where such practices prompted
“fighting words” (including the designation of
Catholicism and other religions as “rackets”),
which in turn led to an altercation between a
local law enforcement officer and a Witness, the
Court upheld municipal authority.”’

A more important line of cases challenged
local ordinances that made public distribution
of literature contingent upon the payment of com-
mercial license taxes. In each case Frankfurter
joined a majority upholding the local authori-
ties. The leading case was Jones v. Opelika,
decided in June 1942.% 1In addition to concur-
ring in Stone’s dissenting opinion, Black, Dou-
glas, and Murphy took the unusual step of stat-
ing jointly that they repudiated their vote in
Gobitis. *“[A] democratic form of government
functioning under the historic Bill of Rights has
a high responsibility to accommodate itself to
the religious views of minorities,” they said,
“however unpopular and unorthodox those views
may be.” Eventually, numerous state courts also
handed down decisions favoring the Witnesses,
often expressly rejecting the reasoning of
Frankfurter’s Gobitis opinion.”

By the October Term of 1942, Rutledge re-
placed Byrnes and the four dissenters in Opelika
gained new strength. As part of what they called
an “infestation,” a hundred Witnesses descended
upon the small Pennsylvania city of Jeannette.
Their vigorous proselytizing resulted in numer-
ous convictions under municipal ordinances,
which in turn were appealed to the Supreme
Court. Vacating the Opelika judgment, the Court
upheld the guarantees of free expression and re-
versed the convictions.!® But no clear standard

emerged from the cases. Jackson joined in the
result but dissented in part. He warned the new
majority that the “real question” the cases raised
was where the rights of religious proselytizers
ended and the right of individual householders
to be let alone began.'”! Even so, Jackson dis-
sented when the Court upheld the right of Wit-
nesses to proselytize despite an Ohio
community’s ordinance that prohibited ringing
doorbells in neighborhoods where many residents
worked the night shift.'” Thus Jackson’s dis-
sents and the dramatic reversal of Black, Dou-
glas, and Murphy raised uncertainty as to the
Court’s controlling theory of the First Amend-
ment where religious expression was at issue.

The Court resolved the uncertainty in West
Virginia Board of Education v. Barnette. The
case reached the Court during the spring of 1943,
at the same time Black, Douglas, and Murphy
joined Stone and Rutledge to form the new ma-
jority in the commercial license tax decisions.!®
Walter Barnette and other Witnesses challenged
the flag salute law of West Virginia that had been
enacted following Gobitis. Assisted by the ACLU
and the ABA’s rights committee, the Witnesses
applied the clear and present danger doctrine,
arguing that the state’s coercion of a child’s reli-
gious conscience violated the freedoms guaran-
teed by the First Amendment. Relying extensively
on Frankfurter’s reasoning in Gobitis, the state,
supported by the American Legion’s brief, de-
fended the salute as valid under the secular regu-
lation rule. Indicating the influence of the wide-
spread criticism of Gobitis in the press, the state
precedents rejecting the decision, and, most of
all, the three Justices’ switch in Opelika, the two
lower federal court decisions in Barnette upheld
the Witnesses’ rights.’® When the case reached
the Supreme Court, Jackson authored the Court’s
majority opinion, which Stone joined silently;
Black and Douglas concurred with their own
opinion explaining their reversal of position since
Gobitis, as did Murphy in a separate opinion.
Roberts and Reed dissented, stating briefly
that they adhered to the Gobitis majority
opinion. Frankfurter wrote a long, impas-
sioned dissent.'%

Jackson’s majority opinion applied the clear
and present danger doctrine against the state.
Distinguishing the salute from the license tax
and doorbell-ringing ordinances, Jackson said
that the issue did not require balancing the rights
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of one individual or group against those of an-
other. Instead, a right of personal religious con-
science clashed with state authority. West Vir-
ginia justified the salute as a means of instilling
loyalty and thereby preserving security. The
question was, then, whether the Witnesses’ as-
sertion of religious conviction was of sufficient
“proximity and degree” to threaten the state.
Linking the First Amendment presumptions in-
herent in footnote four and Palko to the numer-
ous precedents applying the clear and present
danger doctrine, Jackson declared that protect-
ing freedom of religious conscience was less of a
risk to the state than was its coercion of free
thought. The state’s willingness to impose such
coercion suggested, moreover, majoritarian sen-
timents that a minority would not—at least in
times of crisis—Ilikely be able to overcome
through the electoral processes. At such times it
was appropriate for the courts to intervene to
uphold the First Amendment. By sustaining tol-
erance rather than suppression of minority rights,
national unity would be strengthened rather than
weakened.'® Black and Douglas explained that
following Gobitis they gradually realized that a
defense of religious conscience fostered order by
sustaining the Constitution’s prohibition against
test oaths. The Court’s application of the clear
and present danger doctrine thus balanced lib-
erty and order within narrow textualist bounds.
Murphy said that he changed his mind because
he had come to see that religious conscience
should always be given preference.!?’
Frankfurter’s dissent took an opposing view
of the state’s flag salute regulation. Stating a
comprehensive theory of judicial abnegation con-
trary to Stone’s counter-majoritarian theory of
footnote four, Frankfurter argued that courts
should invalidate legislative policies involving
minorities or other issues only in the most ex-
ceptional instance. The flag salute was not such
a case because it represented a popular majority’s
desire to preserve through strengthened loyalty
the highest value—community self preservation.
Under certain circumstances, the Court should
enforce Bill of Rights guarantees over the
people’s will, Frankfurter conceded, but refusal
to salute the flag was not a form of religious con-
science protected by the precedents defining the
scope of the First Amendment’s speech, press,
or religious clauses. Furthermore, rejecting the
rights prioritization established in Palko and the
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weighting presumption inherent in Hughes’ con-
tribution to footnote four, Frankfurter contended
that each provision of the Bill of Rights was
equal. No rights provision deserved greater ju-
dicial scrutiny than another, whether it was the
guarantee of free religious expression or some-
thing else. By sanctioning such a preference the
Court encouraged groups to subvert the popular
will through repeated rights claims. Judicial
defense of minority rights thus struck at
democracy’s vitals. Finally, Frankfurter con-
cluded, Jackson’s opinion applied the clear and
present danger doctrine out of context, offend-
ing Holmes’ original formulation.'%

Vv

The Barnette decision indicated that even in
wartime the Court continued to expand First
Amendment rights claims. The choice nonethe-
less sanctioned a course of both continuity and
change. During the 1930s the Hughes Court
replaced a counter-majoritarian theory favoring
economic liberty with one protecting minority
rights. Beginning in 1937, the Court rested its
theory on Cardozo’s First Amendment
prioritization principle of Palko and the weighted
balance technique Hughes incorporated into foot-
note four of Carolene Products. Stone’s counter-
majoritarian theory of footnote four affirmed that
opening the democratic process to “insular mi-
norities” was a further justification for height-
ened judicial intervention. In either case one
goal achieved during World War II was essen-
tially conservative: to diffuse threats to ordered
liberty by strengthening the rights upon which
democracy depended.

Just as the war began, Roosevelt’s liberal New
Deal appointees achieved a majority on the Court.
In labor cases the liberals employed the clear and
present danger doctrine to enlarge First Amend-
ment guarantees, thereby maintaining continu-
ity with the precedents of the late 1930s. The
nonpartisan rights discourse of Roosevelt and
Willkie, like the professional legal discourse of
Lusky, Chafee, and others, suggested that mi-
nority scapegoating threatened American
democracy’s war effort. The switch of Black,
Douglas, and Murphy, and to a lesser degree
Jackson, in the commercial license cases pre-
ceded the more dramatic switch on the flag
salute. Undoubtedly, the change in both cat-



JOURNAL 1996, vol. |

egories of Witness litigation reflected pressures
from the wider public and professional legal dis-
course. Nevertheless, the Jackson opinion and
the Black and Douglas concurrence in Barnette
merely extended the clear and present danger
doctrine, much as had the Hughes Court’s later
First Amendment precedents. Unlike his three
liberal colleagues, in his concurrence Murphy
followed a theory closer to Stone’s in footnote
four. Thus Barnette rested upon the same un-
derlying counter-majoritarian theory as the First
Amendment labor cases and as such was not in-
consistent with past precedent. Ironically,
Frankfurter’s opinion embraced such a narrow
theory of judicial abnegation that it rejected the
Hughes Court’s peacetime precedents, and, as a
result, failed to establish a rule suitable for a
nation at war.

Thus a conservative principle influenced the
Court’s wartime First Amendment decisions.
Following World War I the dissents of Holmes
and Brandeis justified expanding First Amend-
ment guarantees in terms of the conflict between
individual freedom and state authority. The dis-
senters’ theoretical rationale rested primarily
upon Chafee’s liberal construction of the clear
and present danger doctrine. Stone usually joined
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the liberals throughout the 1920s; he did so, how-
ever, not only because he accepted their defense
of individual autonomy. Stone also supported
opinions against state authority because he shared
more conservative values with such Progressive
Republicans as Theodore Roosevelt and Hughes,
values that favored defending rights as a means
of defusing radical threats to majority rule in the
name of preserving the “technique of political
obligation.” During much of the 1930s the
Hughes Court’s use of freedom of contract juris-
prudence to legitimate its embrace of the dis-
senters’ doctrines obscured the coexistence of the
conservative and liberal values inherent in the
new policy affirming Bill of Rights guarantees.
After 1937, Palko and the two premises incor-
porated into footnote four of Carolene Products
engendered a tension within this policy that the
Court’s reliance upon Chafee’s balancing theory
mitigated but did not resolve. The wartime
struggle of the Jehovah’s Witnesses revealed,
moreover, that rights claims grounded on such a
theory were precarious. The conflicted expan-
sion of Bill of Rights claims since the Second
World War suggested that these problems would
remain as long as the influence of the conserva-
tive principle persisted.
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Justice Jackson
and the Nuremberg Trials

Dennis J. Hutchinson

Imagine, as we consecrate the fiftieth anni-
versary of the end of World War 11, the follow-
ing news story:

BERLIN, OCCUPIED GERMANY
(AMERICAN ZONE), July 4, 1945—
Officials of the Allied Control Council
today confirmed reports that more
than 100 ex-Nazi leaders, including
Field Marshal Herman Goering and
several generals, were summarily ex-
ecuted at sunrise today by a platoon
of troops representing the four oc-
cupying forces here. No further de-
tails were released. The only com-
ment, from an official who insisted
on anonymity, was “The Third Reich
is finished.”

Many criticisms can by levied at the International
Military Tribunal for the Prosecution of Major
War Criminals of the European Axis, as it was
formally known. However, my imaginary news
story would have caused shock and outrage that
would have all but eclipsed debate over the for-
mat of the Nuremberg Trials. The moral high
ground established by the Allies throughout the
war would have been gone in a stroke, and cyni-
cal questions would have been legion: How were

the victims chosen? Why not more? (Or less?)
Does legitimacy come only from the end of a
gun barrel?

Despite these obvious objections, we must not
forget that the initial impulse of the allied lead-
ers was summary executions. At Teheran in
December 1943, Stalin suggested executing
50,000 Nazis without trial. Roosevelt, who did
not yet know his quarry well, thought he was
joking. Fourteen months later at Yalta, in Feb-
ruary 1945, Churchill proposed that the Big Three
draw a list of German leaders to be “shot as soon
as they were caught and their identity estab-
lished.”! (There was even a tentative short list,
which Roosevelt and Churchill had developed at
Quebec the previous year: Hitler, Goering,
Goebbels, Himmler, Ribbentrop, and Keitel.
Their “guilt was so black,” said Churchill, that it
was “beyond the scope of judicial process.”? The
admirals, Doenitz and Rader, were possible add-
ons from a long list, and Clement Atlee thought
Schacht, von Papen, and major industrialists
should also be added.) Stalin, without a hint of
irony, insisted at Yalta on show trials. Churchill
still opposed trials, but Roosevelt, tired and frail,
capitulated, although he had no doubt of the re-
sult and suggested that no journalists or photo-
graphs be allowed access until after the defen-
dants were dead. At the close of the Yalta Con-
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ference, the trials could have been anything from
a drumhead court-martial, which Cordell Hull,
the Secretary of State wanted, to a documentary
trial, favored by Secretary of War Henry Stimson.
(Henry Morgenthau, the Secretary of the Trea-
sury, was the least relenting member of the cabi-
net: he wanted no delays, summary judgment,
the Ruhr de-industrialized, and Germany reduced
to a bare agrarian economy.) The documentary
trials now synonymous with Nuremberg owe less
for their format and emphasis to Stimson, who
took the most legalistic approach in the Cabinet,
than to Justice Robert H. Jackson, who negoti-
ated the four-power agreement that established
the tribunal and its charter, and who, more fa-
mously, served as chief prosecutor during the
year-long trials.

To mention Justice Jackson is to acknowl-
edge his centrality at Nuremberg, to emphasize
the propriety of our venue, and to imply that trou-
bling issues—of judges as prosecutors, of sources
of law, and so on—Ilurk in the foreground. Jack-

JACKSON AT NUREMBERG

son viewed Nuremberg as the epitome of his ca-
reer, but his participation was opposed by his
colleagues, his performance enjoyed mixed re-
views at best, and his reputation suffered a per-
manent blemish when he threw a very public tan-
trum near the end of his work there. After he
returned to the Court, his impact on the law was
both praised and qualified for Nuremberg’s in-
fluence, and his sadly abbreviated judicial ca-
reer came to be remembered over time more for
eloquence than for substance.

Approximately fifty years ago, Jackson was
recruited, under slightly false pretenses, into what
became the Nuremberg trials. Judge Samuel
Rosenman, speechwriter and troubleshooter for
Roosevelt and by then for President Truman,
called on Jackson at the Court and offered him
the job. Jackson was told, erroneously, that a great
deal of evidence had already been collected and
that his job would be to present the world’s case
against Nazism before an international tribunal.
The offer was trebly misleading. In fact, 1) little

At the Yalta Peace Conference in 1945 the Big Three finally came to an agreement on how to punish German leaders for
their war crimes. Winston Churchill (left) initially favored shooting members of the High Command whose guilt was so
black as to obviate a judicial process. Joseph Stalin (right) demanded show trials. Franklin D. Roosevelt (center) capitu-
lated to Stalin, but suggested that the press be barred from the proceedings.
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evidence had been gathered, much less organized;
2) there was no formal agreement among the four
powers (France also being included) on the scope
or protocols for the trials; and 3) Rosenman’s in-
timation that Jackson could be back by the be-
ginning of October Term 1945 was baselessly op-
timistic.

Jackson’s guard should have been up, but the
offer must have seemed too good to resist. Only
two weeks earlier, he had addressed the annual
meeting of the American Society of International
Law, at the invitation of Frederic Coudert, and
discussed the question of trials for war crimi-
nals. He condemned “farcical judicial proceed-
ings” and insisted that any trial must proceed on
evidence, not suspicion or rumor, and that “[t]he
ultimate principle is that you must put no man
on trial under the form of judicial proceed-
ings if you are not willing to see him freed if
not proven guilty.” In the course of outlining
good-faith trials, he struck a note that would
later haunt him:

I am not so troubled as some seem to
be over the problems of jurisdiction
over war criminals or of finding ex-
jsting and recognized law by which
standards of guilt might be deter-
mined. But all experience teaches
that there are certain things you can-
not do under the guise of judicial trial.
Courts try cases, but cases also try
courts.®

President Truman’s invitation could not have
come at a better time for Jackson psychologi-
cally. As he later admitted for the Columbia
University oral history project,

there was a relief from the sense of
frustration at being in a back eddy with
important things going on in the world
... .It was a very depressing time to
be on the Court. I've never forgotten
that the Monday after Pearl Harbor we
heard two argued cases involving the
question whether country club mem-
bers were taxable on their greens fees
at golf courses. | sputtered much
about hearing such a damned petty
question all day when the world was
in flames.*
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There was another reason that Jackson jumped
at Truman’s offer. The atmosphere within the
Court had become extremely rancorous during
the previous two Terms, and, as Jackson later
said mildly, “The Court wasn’t a very pleasant
place to be then.” Relations between Jackson
and Justice Hugo Black in particular were highly
flammable. Chief Justice Harlan Fiske Stone
managed the Court in a manner that was sooth-
ing to no one and that may have exacerbated per-
sonality conflicts. Jackson always said in later
years that Truman’s offer was an “advocate’s
dream,”® but advocacy was not the only attrac-
tion provided by the international trial of the
century.

The retail price of the dream began to be-
come apparent during the summer of 1945 when
Jackson went to London to negotiate the four-
power charter establishing the jurisdiction and
functions of the tribunal. What was expected to
last a week or two turned into months, and the
final agreement, eventually endorsed by nearly
twenty other United Nations countries as well,
was not concluded until August 8. The negotia-
tions provided one heart-stopping revelation af-
ter another for Jackson. He discovered how little
evidence had been gathered. Staff organizational
problems, now on his plate, were enormous.
There was little agreement among the four pow-
ers over what crimes to charge or how they were
to be proved. The concept of “conspiracy” was
foreign to the French and Russian traditions.
And the Russians demanded that all documents
must be translated into Russian, but there were
not enough translators or interpreters. The
phrase “cross examination” could not be used,
because there was no Russian equivalent. More
seriously, the Katyn Forest massacre, where
4,000 Polish officers died, had to be imputed
against the Nazis, notwithstanding widespread
suspicion of the Russians themselves. And the
Soviet attack on Finland could not be mentioned
in any official proceeding.

Jackson succeeded in overcoming the incli-
nations of the Russians and the other two na-
tions on many points by a deft combination of
argument and intimidation. He threatened from
time to time “to go it alone”—to have the United
States conduct military courts if the four-power
negotiations unraveled. Most of the key Na-
zis were in American custody, and the Ameri-
can staff, despite organizational glitches, was
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superior in size if not in experience. But Jack-
son could not bully the calendar, which was now
running hard against him. By Labor Day, it was
clear that the indictment was still months away,
let alone the trial itself. That meant that he would
not be on the Bench the first Monday in Octo-
ber. The Court would be doubly embarrassed:
any eight-man court, and especially this eight-
man Court, could dissolve constantly into 4-4 di-
visions and the highly unsatisfactory consequence
of affirmance by an equally divided Court. On a
deeper level, judicial independence, which al-
lowed Jackson to go overseas, was doubly com-
promised by the journey, as Jackson’s oral his-
tory later acknowledged:

The difficulty with a judge of the Su-
preme Court getting into any of these
things is that with the backwash of a
war there are pretty certain to be war
problems coming before it. A judge’s
activities are apt to impair his reputa-
tion for impartiality, and perhaps his
mental attitude of impartiality.”

Both risks materialized in spades. In fact,
both those facing and sitting on the Bench were
affected at Nuremberg. Jackson, the judge with
life tenure, became a prosecutor committed to a
cause. Even worse, he worked with President
Truman on selecting the American representa-
tives to the tribunal before whom he would ar-
gue. They tried to secure recently retired Justice
Owen J. Roberts, who had handled the Pearl
Harbor inquiry extrajudicially in 1942, but he
begged off for domestic reasons. The default
choice was Francis Biddle, whom Truman had
sacked as Attorney General. So the prosecutor
became judge, and vice versa, and the question
of role was authoritatively muddled by interna-
tional charter. Jackson went even so far as to veto
Justice James F. Byrnes, Jr., as the American al-
ternate, on the ground that a federal district judge
was of insufficient stature for the tribunal.

Indeed, stature locked Jackson into the trials.
His status as a member of the Court upped the
ante for the other three nations, who staffed their
delegations with high-ranking officials, and, si-
multaneously, made Jackson’s seasonal departure
for his day job unthinkable. Facing these reali-
ties, Jackson offered at least twice to resign from
the Court, but both times President Truman re-
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fused to accept the offer. The second time, in
September of 1945, Truman told Jackson,
“You’re needed there”—presumably referring to
the Court.?

Chief Justice Stone felt the same way, but in
a more immediate sense. Jackson had not told
Stone of Truman’s offer before accepting it, be-
cause, he admitted later, “I knew he would dis-
approve.” Once it was clear that Jackson would
be away at the beginning of the Term, Stone’s
disapproval hardened, and he turned indiscreet—
which hurt Jackson, the trials, and ultimately the
Court as an institution.

Justice Jackson’s work at Nuremberg raises
a host of issues, but three warrant sustained at-
tention. First, starting at home, what effect did
his absence have on the work of the Court dur-
ing October Term 1945? Second, what did he
try to achieve at Nuremberg and what in fact did
he accomplish? Third, after Jackson returned to
the Court, what effect did his year of prosecu-
tion have on his thinking and on the Court’s
work? Without cutting too fine a point, in all
three cases, I think Jackson has been either mis-
estimated or misunderstood.

The second and third issues have partisans
of various stripes, but the first issue has yielded
one judgment over time—Jackson’s absence left
the Court crippled and incapable of deciding
many important cases, which had to be carried
over until the next Term; moreover, the remain-
ing Justices were left to shoulder an unfairly
heavy burden. This charge, begun by Stone and
frequently repeated, is a canard. It is true that
nine cases argued during October Term 1945
were ordered reargued in the following Term, as
the orders list always snidely noted, “before a
full Bench.” This statistic, which, by the way,
contrasts dramatically with claims by some that
“dozens™ of cases had to be put over because of
Jackson’s absence, first must be put in context.
Reargument was common during Stone’s tenure,
in part because of the enormous turnover on the
Court during his Chief Justiceship and in part
due to his management. The Term before Jack-
son was absent, four major cases were set for
reargument. Of those cases carried over for
reargument in the 1946 Term, when Jackson was
back, his vote was decisive in only two cases—
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Joseph v. Carter & Weekes and Order of Com-
mercial Travelers v. Wolfe—and few remember
the holding of these justly forgotten decisions.
It is true that the remaining members of the Court
were forced to pick up the opinion-writing slack
while Jackson was abroad. Black, to take the
most abused member of the Court, wrote thirty
majority opinions, as opposed to twenty for the
previous Term. On the other hand, Black’s added
burden had its own reward: he dissented only
fifteen times during the Term, compared to
twenty-eight the year before. In one sense, the
price of greater influence, not illogically, was
more opinion work for the Court. Overall, the
Court disposed of fifteen percent fewer plenary
cases during the 1945 Term. Not all of the de-
cline can be laid at Jackson’s feet, however. The
retirement of Justice Roberts during the summer
of 1945 retarded the Court’s initial pace, with or
without Jackson. The Chief Justice’s death on
April 22 did more to hamstring the Court’s nor-
mal operations at the end of Term than the ab-
sence of one Associate Justice.

Stone’s authorized biographer explained the
Chief Justice’s objections to Jackson’s absence
in three headings: “disapproval in principle of
nonjudicial work, strong objection to the/ trials
on legal and political grounds, [and] the incon-
venience and increased burden of work en-
tailed.”’® But I have just sketched why the third
reason is bogus, and I suggest that the first rea-
son—disapproval of nonjudicial work—was, to
put it lightly, flexibly honored by Stone. He was,
after all, a charter member of the “medicine ball
cabinet” of President Herbert Hoover, for whom
he gave advice, edited speeches, and suggested
both executive and judicial appointments even
after joining the Court. Hoover offered Stone
the chairmanship of the Law Enforcement Com-
mission in 1929, and Stone went so far as to put
the question to the conference, which vetoed the
proposition. (George Wickersham then took the
chair of the Commission, which came to be
known by his name.) Spurned once, Stone de-
clined subsequent offers of short or extended
extrajudicial involvements, but he did not rule
them out for others. As late as 1942, he
complimented Justice Roberts for his “thorough*
and “abl[e]”"" report of the Pearl Harbor disaster,
although the project kept Roberts away from
Court work for two months.

But Nuremberg was a different matter. Stone
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refused, rather conspicuously, to swear in Francis
Biddle as the lead American judge on the tribu-
nal. “I [do] not wish,” he confided in a letter,
“to give my blessing or that of the Court on the

.proposed Nuremberg trials.”'? In another even

more unbuttoned letter to a different lawyer,
Stone remarked acidly:

Jackson is away conducting his high-
grade lynching party in Nuremberg. |
don’t mind what he does to the Nazis,
but | hate to see the pretense that he
is running a court and proceeding ac-
cording to common law. This is a little
too sanctimonious a fraud to meet my
old-fashioned ideas."

Of course Jackson made no pretense of follow-
ing common law—he was making up four-power
due process on the spot—but that is a quibble.
All of Stone’s objections to Jackson’s absence
boil down, in my view, to his antipathy to war
crimes trials, at least where there was what Jack-
son called “backwash” on the Court. It is not
coincidental, I think, that Stone’s most indiscreet
and acerbic letters coincided with the pendency—
and fierce internal debates—over the availabil-
ity of habeas corpus for General Yamashita, who
had been convicted of failing to prevent war
crimes by an international tribunal in Tokyo.
Stone was sour and ailing at the beginning of
his final Term on the Court, and Nuremberg ob-
viously struck a nerve. He objected to Roosevelt’s
aspiration for a third term, let alone a fourth; he
had expended considerable energy and personal
capital to keep the Court out of ad hoc war-re-
lated trials from Ex Parte Quirin in 1942 to
Yamashita in the winter of 1945-46. It is hardly
surprising that Jackson’s errand into the wilder-
ness irked him so much.

Stone’s objections to Nuremberg were nei-
ther baseless nor simply spiteful. Stone paid
Jackson the compliment of taking seriously, as a
lawyer, the gravamen of the trials. Recall that
despite their identification with crimes against
humanity, the Nuremberg trials were founded on
a four-count indictment: 1) conspiracy to com-
mit crimes against peace, war crimes, and crimes
against humanity; 2) planning and waging ag-
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gressive war in violation of treaties; 3) war crimes;
and 4) crimes against humanity (but ohiy in con-
junction with the second count).'* Then and now,
the most controversial counts were the first and
second, and the standard criticism was that they
constituted ex post facto. law. Stone also raised
what is customarily called the tu quoque objec-
tion, which he put most sharply in a letter to his
former clerk, Louis Lusky, shortly after the trials
finally began: “Just how is this new rule of law
to be applied between the Russians and the Finns,
or the Russians and the Japanese, the Russians
having entered the Japanese war in violation of
the treaty of non-aggression? Fortunately I do
not have to settle these questions.”"

As accounts of the charter negotiations would
later reveal, Jackson was not complacent about
the contradictions posed by the indictment. The
presence of the Russians and their insistence on
accusing others and cordoning off their own be-
havior from scrutiny was an open wound on the
proceedings. The embarrassment of double stan-
dards was not limited to the Russians. Take one
small but telling example. One of the war-crime
charges against the German admirals—
unwarned submarine warfare against merchant
ships—would appear to have applied equally
against Admiral Nimitz in the Pacific. Jackson
felt he had to argue, with some energy, that
Nimitz’s orders were irrelevant to Nuremberg.
The argument may have been legally sound but
nonetheless it antagonized the tribunal, as
Biddle’s memoirs richly detail, and it supplied
more ammunition for the ru quoque critique of
the trials.'®

I raise the issue not because it shows Jackson
at his best or worst, but because it demonstrates
that the Nuremberg trials oscillated from mo-
ment to moment between law and politics.
The point was not lost on anyone who par-
ticipated. Indeed, as Biddle recounted the
submarine issue:

[Tlo say that judges in our position
should never act like politicians over-
simplifies an issue that cannot be re-
solved in such simple terms. We were
an international body, viewing our le-
gal and political obligations from dif-
ferent angles. The sense of negotia-
tion was intermingled with judging. In
some decisions that sense necessar-
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ily played a part in reaching the com-
mon judgment.'”

In other words, Jackson often made strong legal
arguments where political adroitness was needed
more.

The submarine issue is symptomatic of much,
that happened in the trials—closely argued le-
gal skirmishes situated on the fault lines of the
proceedings and determined in a pressurized at-
mosphere of law and politics. The phenomenon
should not have been utterly foreign to Justice
Jackson but it may have seemed more nakedly
exposed in Nuremberg than in Washington, D.C.
In any event, Jackson is remembered not for the
routine skirmish but for two moments of high
drama, his eloquent opening statement and his
flat-footed handling of Herman Goering’s cross-
examination. To honor the aspirations of
Nuremberg, one could do no better than to re-
visit Jackson’s opening statement. I will respect
its power by not cannibalizing it here. Everyone
in the courtoom, from members of the British
delegation, who were jealous of American domi-
nation of the proceedings, to counsel for defen-
dants acknowledged that Jackson spoke with elo-
quence and passionate intensity that were un-
nerving. In thirty-eight emotionally charged
pages (with the word “slowly” underlined four
times at the top of the first) Jackson galvanized
the trials, elevated their ambition, and trans-
formed the defendants from pale old men into
architects of evil.

The speech won Jackson wide acclaim, but
the momentum of the trials immediately
stalled, as the chapter title of his oral history
reflects—“Flood Tide to a Walk.” After the
opening statement, the proof began. It was
entirely documentary. The court ruled that
every document introduced into evidence be
read aloud, simultaneously translated into the
relevant languages of the tribunal, and so en-
tered into the record. The press, which num-
bered two hundred at many points, was
floored. The trial of the century immediately
became dull, tedious, and utterly devoid of
personal drama.

For better or worse, the pace was a conse-
quence of the most important strategic decision
that Jackson made in preparation for the trials.
As he later recalled:
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... one of the two most important de-
cisions . . . was . . . to rely on docu-
ments instead of witnesses, as far as
possible, and to make a documented
case, even though it didn't appeal to
the press and to the current public.
The other was the refusal to deal with
any of the defendants to get testimony
against any other defendant. There
is nothing of that kind that will discredit
the trial.'®

Jackson feared that testimonial evidence would
devolve quickly into finger-pointing and recrimi-
nations, if not raw propaganda—either of which
would corrode the integrity of the proceedings.
The final record occupies forty volumes and
forms a staggeringly detailed record of the Nazi
regime.

After Jackson’s opening statement, the only
comparable dramatic incident did not come un-
til March, when Goering took the stand. (It
should be added, however, that there was one
wrenching moment in November when films of
concentration camps were shown. The films,
taken by Allied forces, had a devastating effect:
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everyone in the courtroom was revulsed, and even
the defendants squirmed uncomfortably in their
chairs—a result enhanced because a spotlight in
the darkened courtroom focused on the defen-
dants for security reasons while the film was
screened.)

When Justice Jackson rose to begin his
cross-examination of Goering on March 18, the
courtroom for once turned dead still with an-
ticipation. After months of tedium and growing
frustration in all quarters over the pace of the trial,
the confrontation between the chief prosectutor
and the highest ranking Nazi irresistibly cast it-
self as the climax of a morality play. Within ten
minutes, however, the game was over. Jackson
had made a hash of it by asking Goering open-
ended questions, complaining when he received
open-ended answers, and then chastising the tri-
bunal for allowing the answers and losing “con-
trol” of the trial. Later, Jackson would claim that
he eventually cornered Goering into damaging
admissions, but in fact little new was established.”
The press, from the New York dailies to The New
Yorker, mercilessly ridiculed Jackson for fum-
bling his big moment. The tribunal was antago-
nized more than ever. Others on the prosecution
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team, especially the British, thought Jackson not
only failed his task but lost his composure and
thus damaged his authority for the balance of the
proceedings.

Jackson’s reputation suffered a self-inflicted
wound a few months later. Stone died barely a
month after the Jackson-Goering duel and the
behind-the-scenes jockeying for his seat was fu-
rious. Jackson was convinced that one or more
sitting members of the Court were blocking his
path to the center chair he had been promised by
Roosevelt. When Fred Vinson was nominated
to be Chief Justice, Jackson fired off an intem-
perate cable from Germany to President Truman
that implied that the President had bowed to
Black’s veto of his promotion and that explicitly
attacked Black’s ethics. Newspapers called for
both Black and Jackson to resign. The contro-
versy was a summer storm that blew over almost
as fast as it erupted when Jackson returned from
Nuremberg for October Term 1946, although
Jackson’s résumé carried a permanent blemish.

Justice Jackson said shortly before his death
that he regarded his work overseas as “infinitely
more important than my work on the Supreme
Court.”® Criticism of the trials persisted during
the remainder of Jackson’s life, and the Justice
became somewhat of an Ancient Mariner on the
topic. By my count, he made more than fifty
speeches, lectures, talks, or informal remarks
about war crimes, trials, and international law
between 1946 and his death in 1955. He tended
to emphasize his belief that the trials advanced,
in a common-law fashion, the development of
international law. At Nuremberg and afterward,
he pitched his fire on the crime of waging ag-
gressive war. To meet the ex post facto argu-
ment, he pointed to the Kellogg-Briand Pact and
other treaties criminalizing war by international
law.?! The argument did not prove enough—
especially because none of his precedents con-
templated capital punishment for individuals vio-
lating the customary law.

To some extent, Jackson held himself to the
wrong standard. He may not have established
precisely the precedent he had hoped to, but his
accomplishments went far beyond the nineteen
convictions he secured. (I should mention par-
enthetically that twelve were sentenced to death,
seven to prison, and, notwithstanding the cyni-
cism of Stone and others, there were three ac-
quittals. Nonetheless, Senator Robert Taft caused
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a brief sensation, and posthumously earned a
“Profile in Courage”? from Senator John F.
Kennedy, for condemning the Nuremberg ver-
dicts and especially their death penalties.) Jack-
son had hoped to deter aggressive war in the fu-
ture by punishing the crimes of the recent past.
He was destined not to succeed, due to political
forces beyond his control and by the limits of
legalism. However, there were several enor-
mously positive effects of the trials that must not
be underestimated. In the first place, the trials
documented, in relentless detail, the enormity of
the policies and practices of the Nazi regime.
No denial or qualification was plausible after the
record generated at Nuremberg. Second, “crimes
against humanity” was established as a coherent
and resonant category in customary international
law, and, more importantly, the foundation was
laid for formal conventions between nations on
the topic. Moreover, as Judith Sklar, the Harvard
political theorist, argued thirty years ago, the
revelations helped Germany to a more decent
political future.?® The past was repudiated and
the rule of law was revived as a moral goal and
not simply a political tool. The arguments of
the German defense counsel, the rulings of the
tribunal, and the entire proceedings laid an im-
perative foundation for constitutional govern-
ment in the future. The Basic Law of 1949 (the
Grundgesetz) owes a great deal in its structure
and values to what Sklar called the legalistic
mentality of the trials. Finally, as Justice Jack-
son hoped, the trials helped to shift the axis of
international law from the law of nations to a
law contemplating personal culpability as well.
The defendants were convicted and sentenced by
different gradations depending on the extent of
their personal responsibility under the indict-
ment. The trials thus served to distinguish the
Nazi leadership from the German people. The
net effect immediately was to cabin vengeance—
a classic legal objective. There may have been a
further effect as well. By focusing on the Nazi
leaders instead of the German people, the trials
may have enhanced political support for, or tem-
pered opposition to, the Marshall Plan to rede-
velop Europe economically—opposition, it
should be said, that could have been more in-
tense in France than it was had the trials not
occurred. At bottom, in some respects, Justice
Jackson’s achievement at Nuremberg outstripped
both his ambition and his own strategy.
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Although Justice Jackson returned to the
Court for October Term 1946, Nuremberg con-
tinued to cast a shadow over him and his work.
Most scholarly attention has focused on how
Nuremberg affected Jackson’s jurisprudential
views, principally in free-speech cases at the end
of the decade, but the fall out from Nuremberg
landed on his desk much sooner. As soon as the
Nuremberg trials moved into their second phase,
under the authority of the occupying military
authorities instead of the four powers acting
jointly, the Supreme Court began to receive mo-
tions for leave to file petitions for writs of ha-
beas corpus. Former Field Marshal Erhard
Milch was the first prominent ex-Nazi to do so.
The Court denied his motion October 20, 1947,
but the order noted that Justices Black, Douglas,
Murphy, and Rutledge “are of the opinion that
the petition should be set for hearing on the ques-
tion of the jurisdiction of this Court.”** Jackson
did not participate. The Court was split 4-4, but
the precise alignment was revealed at the insis-
tence of the dissenters. The pattern continued
in twenty-two cases. Jackson felt that he was
too strongly identified with Nuremberg to par-
ticipate in the applications, but he also privately
felt that the four dissenters were exploiting his
recusals “just to discredit the trials as much as
possible.”® Jackson finally broke the log-jam
when he decided to participate in Hirota v.
MacArthur, which arose in 1948 from the To-
kyo war crimes trials. The preliminary vote was,
again, 44, but Jackson filed an opinion announc-
ing that he would sit in order that the nation not
be discredited overseas by Hirota’s execution in
the face of four published dissents. After oral
argument on the motion for leave to file a peti-
tion for the writ, the Court announced that leave
was denied. Having voted to hear oral argument,
Jackson did not participate on the question of
whether the motion should be granted. Murphy
dissented without opinion. Rutledge announced
that he would explain his vote later. Douglas
concurred and announced he would file an opin-
ion later, which he did, six months after Hirota
went to the gallows. Rutledge died before pro-
viding an explanation of his position. The bi-
zarre episode earned little credit for the Court,
although most newspapers applauded Jackson for
ending the stalemate. Murphy and Rutledge died
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in the summer of 1949, and with them the close
division within the Court on questions of the
availability of habeas relief for non-resident en-
emy aliens tried overseas by special courts. The
issues were finally laid to rest in 1950 in JohAnson
v. Eisentrager, in which Jackson wrote for a six-
man majority foreclosing jurisdiction. Black
wrote the dissent, which Douglas and Harold
Burton joined.

The indirect effect of Nuremberg on Jackson’s
thinking has tantalized legal scholars and po-
litical scientists for decades. The conventional
wisdom is that he was alarmed by the power of
organized propaganda and mob action marshaled
by the Nazi regime, and that he responded with
opinions restrictive of free speech—a sea change
from his eloquent defense of freedom of con-
science in the second flag salute case, West Vir-
ginia Board of Education v. Barnette in 1943,
It is true that there is suggestive language in
Terminiello v. Chicago (1949), Kunz v. New York
(1951), and Beauharnais v. Illinois (1952)—lan-
guage that refers to the recent turmoil of Europe,
recoils and upholds local restrictions on speech.

There is a danger, however, in overreading
Jackson’s eloquence, before or after Nuremberg.
Remember that first and foremost, Jackson was
an advocate. His judicial opinions tend to be
neither measured assessments of competing po-
sitions nor authoritative pronouncements. They
are rhetorical exercises, relying on detailed nar-
ratives, or vivid imagery or paired contradictions,
all designed to arrest or move the reader. They
are designed to convince readers, not to create
rules. Barnette is a good example. His early
drafts were heated in tone, referred to popular
publications such as The Saturday Evening Post,
and prompted Stone to ask for more dignity in
the final draft. The case was a flash point for
Jackson from the beginning. He had been “bit-
ter”?® over the first flag salute decision
(Minersville v. Gobitis), decided while he was
Attorney General in 1940. Jackson feared that
Gobitis was prompting mob action and anti-
alien hysteria and he gave two speeches within
a month of the decision condemning mob law-
lessness. If you add to Barnette his views in
other Jehovah’s Witnesses cases such as Murdock
v. Pennsylvania (1943) and state criminal cases
such as Ashcraft v. Tennessee (1944), you have a
fairly clear picture of a jurist committed to both
freedom of conscience and reasonable control
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by local officials of disturbances of the public
order.

If anything, Nuremberg provided powerful
cumulative evidence supporting views Jackson
was developing before he went overseas. The
lesson he carried away from Nuremberg, he told
his law clerks, was that the first step to tyranny
was to centralize control of the police and the
courts. He refined the point for his oral history.
The Tenth Amendment, retaining state police
power, was central to the Bill of Rights in the
field of civil liberties, he said, because the na-
tional government could do too much damage
in one fell swoop. On the other hand, the au-
thor of Wickard v. Filburn (1942), which estab-
lished the outer limit of federal power over in-
terstate commerce, continued to assert the need
for strong central control over finance and trade.

The paradox of Jackson’s position was that
he was arguing for federal abstention on civil lib-
erties at the very moment he and the Supreme
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Court were moving inexorably toward the great-
est displacement of state authority in the Four-
teenth Amendment’s history, Brown v. Board of
Education (1954). Jackson’s thinking often
embraced contradictory elements working them-
selves pure. The paradox I have outlined sug-
gests, however, that his lessons from Nuremberg
were under siege almost as soon as they were in
place.

Jackson summarized his principal lesson for
the oral history in ominous terms: “I think the
potentialities of a federal, centralized police sys-
tem for ultimate subversion of our system of free
government are very great.”* That warning
raises the final serious question about
Nuremberg’s influence on Jackson, and the an-
swer may reveal that Nuremberg’s impact on him
went much deeper that his often-problematic oral
history allows. The most massive federal police
action during the Cold War was aimed at the Com-
munist Party. The constitutional crucible was

Justice Robert H. Jackson (left), the American prosecutor, and Uri Pokrovski, the assistant prosecutor of Russia, lis-

tened intently at the Palace of Justice in Nuremberg to the sum-up speeches of the trial of twenty-two Nazi leaders.
Twelve of the defendants were sentenced to death, three were acquitted, and the rest received sentences ranging from

life imprisonment to ten years in prison.
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Dennis v. United States (1951), which sustained,
notwithstanding the First Amendment, prosecu-
tions under the Smith Act for advocating the over-
throw or destruction of the government by force
or violence, organizing, or conspiring with any
group to do so. Chief Justice Fred M. Vinson wrote
the Court’s plurality opinion. Justices Black and
Douglas dissented. Jackson filed an idiosyncratic
concurring opinion. Like his dissent in Korematsu
v. United States (1944), the Japanese exclusion
case, Jackson’s concurrence appears, to some ex-
tent, to be complaining that the Court must de-
cide the case before it—or at least that doctrinal
perils of the decision vastly exceed the signifi-
cance of disposing of the appeal. He began
by pointing out that the “clear and present dan-
ger test” was suited, if at all, for the “hot-
headed speech on a street corner” but not for
the post-World War II “sublety and efficacy of
modernized revolutionary techniques used by
totalitarian parties.” The risks to the state were
too pervasive, he said, to be measured appropri-
ately by the judges applying the verbal relic of
another era. Then, in a remarkable twist, Jack-
son argued that the case was best understood as a
“conspiracy, brought under a statute outlawing
conspiracy.”® Only two years before in
Krulewitch v. United States (1949), he had de-
nounced conspiracy doctrine as “so vague that it
almost defies definition.”” His Dennis opinion
frankly conceded that “conspiracy [was] a drag-
net device capable of perversion into an instru-
ment of injustice in the hands of a partisan or
complacent judiciary,”* but he insisted that its
place in the legal system was well established,
undisturbed by the First Amendment and
dispositive.

Should we explain Jackson’s opinion in Den-
nis as an instance where Homer nodded? Not
necessarily. From his days as Solicitor General
to his opinions in Korematsu and the Steel Sei-
zure Case to his private anxieties over Brown v.
Board of Education, Jackson was acutely self-
conscious of the political limits of the Supreme
Court’s power. He may have been shaken in
Nuremberg by a deeper appreciation of the fra-
gility of a lawyer’s analytical tools and of the
power of law—themes that recur in opinion af-
ter opinion after his return. If the authority of
the law rests on such vulnerable foundations as
the plasticity of language, then the implications
for both the rule of law and for judicial power
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are disquieting. Perhaps Jackson’s most memo-
rable remark comes from Terminiello, where he
warned that “if the Court does not temper its
doctrinaire logic with a little practical wisdom,
it will convert the constitutional Bill of Rights
into a suicide pact.”*' In Brown v. Allen, he re-
minded his colleagues that “we are not final be-
cause we are infallible, but we are infallible only
because we are final.”* And in Dennis, Jackson
warned sharply against “judge-made verbal
trap(s].”®® The policy question in Dennis was
whether the threat of global communism was
fanciful or ominous, and Jackson simply did not
believe that the Court enjoyed comparative ad-
vantage over Congress or the Executive in mak-
ing that judgment call. To wrap up its conclu-
sion in legal algebra would only compound the
error. Or, to examine the larger question from
the other direction, anyone who thought that the
Court could throttle the Red Scare with verbal
dexterity had failed to learn any lessons in
constitutional politics during the previous two
decades. Political theorist Judith Sklar pro-
vides a measured if chilly judgment of
Jackson’s opinion in Dennis:

His real service [was] . . . in being the
only one of the justices who made per-
fectly clear what political trials in the
contemporary world mean. They
mean committing the judiciary to the
politics of the remote future and of per-
secution. All the judges who realize
this want to avoid it. Some can see
no way out of it, except to hold all per-
secutive statutes unconstitutional.
Others choose passivity. Justice Jack-
son looked for a substitute.®

We might add that the substitute was a frank
confession of the limits of both judicial capacity
and judicial power, a confession that perhaps
serves as a coda for Robert H. Jackson’s career.
He came to Washington expecting to stay six
months and spent twenty years. His ambitions
grew with his succeeding achievements, and at
one point the Presidency seemed more than re-
motely possible. When that bubble burst, he set
his eyes on the Chief Justiceship, and when that
hope began to fade, duty and vanity took him to
Nuremberg. There he stared into the abyss. The
confident New Deal warrior, who transformed
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himself into a judicial enthusiast for freedom of
conscience and for local mediation of civil liber-
ties, returned from the judicial post-mortem of
Nazism chastened about the very legal process
in which he staked his faith. In his near-decade
on the Court after returning, he formed no alli-

JACKSON AT NUREMBERG

ances and worshipped no formulas. At his best,
he worked harder and more honestly than any
of his peers to question the role of the Supreme
Court in American government. With or with-
out Nuremberg, no judge could ask for a better
epitaph.
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